REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA
Tuesday, May 21, 2019 | 7:00pm
Council Chambers | Civic Centre
CHAIRPERSON – Mayor Sue Paterson
1.

NATIONAL ANTHEM

2.

CALL TO ORDER

3.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST

4.

AGENDA ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS

5.

PUBLIC MEETING UNDER THE PLANNING ACT
5.1

6.

DELEGATIONS
6.1

7.

8.

9.

Report PB-12-19 – Public Meeting for Zoning By-Law Amendment (File No. Z2-19) Stewart,
Scott c/o Seifried, Cynthia) (Resolution 46-19)

Barry Heaney, Kevin Tremble, BDO Canada LLP – Presentation of the Town of Hanover Audited
Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 (Resolution 47-19)

COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MINUTES
7.1

Regular Council Meeting Minutes – April 15, 2019 (Resolution 48-19)

7.2

Committee of the Whole Minutes – May 6, 2019 (Resolution 49-19)

STAFF REPORTS
8.1

Report PB-14-19 – Repeal Noise Control By-law No. 1606-04-21-87 (Resolution 50-19)

8.2

Report PB-15-19 - Amend By-law No. 1702-04-03-89 to Regulate and/or Control the Parking,
Stopping and Standing of Vehicles in the Town of Hanover (Resolution 51-19)

8.3

Report PB-16-19 – Site Plan Control Agreement By-Law (Heritage Senior’s Communities Inc.)
(Resolution 52-19)

8.4

Report PB-17-19 – Natural Heritage Features (Resolution 53-19)

8.5

Report PW-09-19 – Reconstruction of 5th Street Close Tender (Resolution 54-19)

COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL MINUTES
9.1

Age Friendly Advisory Committee Minutes – April 16, 2019

9.2

Economic Development Committee Minutes – April 17, 2019

9.3

Hanover Heritage Committee Minutes – April 18, 2019

Regular Council Agenda | May 21, 2019
9.4

Hanover-Walkerton Waste Management Minutes – April 24, 2019 & May 9, 2019

9.5

Parks, Recreation & Culture Advisory Minutes – May 8, 2019

9.6

Hanover Cemetery Board Minutes – May 13, 2019

9.7

Planning Advisory Committee Minutes – May 14, 2019
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(9.1 – 9.7 Resolution 55-19)
10. BY-LAWS
10.1 3065-19 – Confirm Proceedings of April 15, 2019 Regular Council Meeting
10.2 3066-19 –Zoning By-Law Amendment (File No. Z2-19) Stewart, Scott c/o Seifried, Cynthia)

(pursuant to Report PB-12-19)

10.3 3067-19 – Regulation and Prohibition of Noise and Sound (pursuant to Report PB-14-19)
10.4 3068-19 – Regulate and/or Control the Parking, Stopping and Standing of Vehicles (pursuant to

Report PB-15-19)

10.5 3069-19 – Site Plan Control Agreement (Heritage Senior’s Communities Inc.) (pursuant to Report

PB-16-19)

10.6 3070-19 – 2019 Tax Levy By-law

(10.1 – 10.6 Resolution 56-19)
11. CORRESPONDENCE REQUIRING ACTION
12. REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION
12.1 Report PW-10-19 – Annual Environmental Monitoring and Reporting for the Hanover/Walkerton

Landfill Site

12.2 Hanover Downtown Improvement Association – March 20, 2019 Meeting Minutes
12.3 Saugeen Mobility and Regional Transit Board – March 22, 2019 Meeting Minutes & 2019 First

Quarter Operational Report

12.4 Community Improvement Partnership Committee – April 11, 2019 Meeting Minutes
12.5 Hanover Library Board – April 25, 2019 Meeting Minutes and 2018 Annual Report
12.6 Decoration Day at Hanover Cemetery – Sunday, June 2, 2019 | 2:00pm
12.7 Correspondence received re: Funding Cuts to Ontario Library Services

13. COUNCILLOR AND STAFF UPDATES
14. PLANNING AND ZONING MATTERS
14.1 Next Planning Advisory Committee Meeting – Tuesday, June 11, 2019 | 5:00pm

Regular Council Agenda | May 21, 2019

15. DATES TO REMEMBER
15.1 Next Committee of the Whole Meeting – Monday, June 3, 2019 | 7:00pm
15.2 Next Regular Council Meeting – Monday, June 17, 2019 | 7:00pm

16. INTRODUCTION OF NEW BUSINESS
17. CLOSED MEETING
18. ADJOURNMENT (Resolution 57-19)
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5.1
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Don Tedford, Director of Development/CBO

DATE

May 21, 2019

REPORT

PB-12-19

SUBJECT

Public Meeting for Zoning By-Law Amendment (File No. Z2-19) Stewart, Scott c/o
Seifried, Cynthia)

RECOMMENDATION
1.

That Report PB-12-19 – Public Meeting for Zoning By-Law Amendment (File No. Z2-19)
be received; and

2.

That council pass By-Law No. 3066-19 to rezone the land described as Lot 38, Registered
Plan 770 and known as 552-554 7th Avenue in the Town of Hanover in the County of Grey
from Local Commercial (C5) Zone to Residential Type 5 (R5) Zone to allow the existing
duplex to be renovated to a five-unit apartment dwelling with the construction of an
addition on the lands known as 552 7th Avenue.

BACKGROUND
On March 28, 2019, Cynthia Seifried, representing Scott & Katrina Stewart attended the municipal
office and submitted an application to amend the zoning for lands located at 552-554 7th Avenue.
DISCUSSION
Zoning By-Law Amendment Application No. Z2-19 was circulated to applicable agencies and
advertised in The Post on April 25, 2019 as required by Section 34 of the Planning Act, RSO
1990.
The proposed zoning by-law amendment applies to lands described as Lot 38, Registered Plan
770, and known as 552-554 7th Avenue in the Town of Hanover in the County of Grey. The
property is currently zoned Local Commercial (C5) Zone for which housed a previous office and
commercial use and requires a Zoning By-Law Amendment to Residential Type 5 (R5) to allow
the existing duplex to be renovated to a five-unit apartment dwelling with the construction of a 30’
X 25’ addition on the subject lands (see site plan attached).
Planning Advisory Committee reviewed the Zoning By-Law Amendment application at their April
9, 2019 meeting, and recommended that Zoning By-Law Amendment No. Z2-19 proceed to
tonight’s public meeting.
To date, comments have been received from Grey County Planning & Development Department
and Keith & Cheryl Hopkins of 549 7th Avenue. There may be further comments or concerns
during tonight’s meeting.
Upon the Zoning Bylaw Amendment Notice of Passing being finalized and with no appeals filed, a
Site Plan Agreement will be presented to council for their approval.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no direct financial implications to the Town associated with this report.
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN
This report supports the indicated Strategic Directions and Goals of the Town of Hanover.
☐Strategic Direction #1: Regional Centre
Goal: To enhance and strengthen Hanover’s position as a regional centre while creating
stronger working relationships with neighbouring municipalities and service providers for our
mutual benefit.
☒Strategic Direction #2: Economic Development
Goal: To create an environment that supports economic diversification and a broader range of
attractive employment opportunities to retain existing residents and businesses and attract
investment and new families to the community.
☐Strategic Direction #3: Community
Goal: To support initiatives that contribute to healthier residents, more active and rewarding
lifestyles and a safer community.
☐Strategic Direction #4: Sustainable Municipal Operations
Goal: To improve financial and operational aspects of the Town for the continued maintenance,
rehabilitation and reconstruction of its infrastructure and to sustain and enhance current
municipal programs and services.
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Don Tedford
Director of Development/CBO

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk
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552-554 7th Avenue

Lot 38, Plan 770
Town of Hanover, County of Grey

SUBJECT
PROPERTY

Planning and Development
May 14th, 2019

595 9th Avenue East, Owen Sound Ontario N4K 3E3
519-372-0219 / 1-800-567-GREY / Fax: 519-376-7970

Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk
Town of Hanover
341 10th Street
Hanover, Ontario
N4N 1P5
*Sent via E-mail
RE:

Zoning By-law Amendment Z2-19
Lot 38, Registered Plan 770 (552-554 7th Avenue)
Town of Hanover
Applicant/Owner: Scott and Katrina Stewart

Dear Mr. Tocheri,
This correspondence is in response to the above noted application. We have had an
opportunity to review the application in relation to the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)
and the County of Grey Official Plan (OP). We offer the following comments.
The purpose of the subject application is to rezone the lands from Local Commercial
(C5) Zone previously an office use, to Residential Type 5 (R5) Zone to allow the existing
duplex to be renovated to five-unit apartment dwelling with the construction of an
addition on the lands known as 552 7th Avenue.
Schedule A of the OP designates the subject property as ‘Primary Settlement Area’.
Section 2.6.3 (3) of the OP states;
This Official Plan shall promote the development of the Primary Settlement
Areas designation for a full range of residential, commercial, industrial,
recreational, and institutional land uses.
The County Plan generally defers to detailed municipal planning documents for
development standards within Primary Settlement Areas. County planning staff have no
concerns.

Grey County: Colour It Your Way

Page 2
May 14th, 2019

Section 5.3 of the OP, along with section 1.6.6 of the PPS speak to ensuring new
development can be adequately serviced with water and sewer, or on-site private
services.
County Transportation Services has reviewed the subject application and has no
objections or concerns.
Of general planning nature, the proposed rezoning and residential development would
be located adjacent to a Corridor Commercial zoning. County staff would encourage the
proposed residential development to have adequate buffering from the adjacent
commercial use to ensure compatibility with the surrounding area. Further, it is the
priority of the County and the Town of Hanover to ensure the availability of Commercial
lands to meet market demand. Provided that the Town of Hanover has determined that
the removal of these lands from a Commercial zone will not affect the overall need for
Commercial lands, County planning staff have no further concern.
Provided that servicing requirements are met, County planning have no further
concerns.
The County requests notice of any decision rendered with respect to this application.
If you wish to discuss this matter further, please do not hesitate to contact me.
Yours truly,

Hiba Hussain
Planner
(519) 372-0219 ext. 1241
hiba.hussain@grey.ca
www.grey.ca

Grey County: Colour It Your Way

TOWN OF HANOVER
MUNICIPAL OFFICE
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Copy to

Brian Tocheri

Mayor
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Hanover, Ontario N4N 1P5

RE: Zoning By-law Amendment
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552··554 7th Ave, Hanover, Ontario

Dear Mr. Tocheri
My wife and I have lived at 549

7th

Avenue, Hanover, Ontario for over 30 years now and have developed

it to where we are very comfortable with it. We have every intention to make this our retirement home.
Therefore, please accept this letter as my written opposition to the proposed by-law amendment and
subsequent use of the property mentioned above.
I have several concerns about the by-law amendment and I will try to articulate my thoughts in regards
to those concerns,
1)

ABSENTEE LANDLORD - it is my understanding that owners of the property may be absentee
landlords. It is my observation of similar rental properties in our Municipality, that over time,
the overall condition of property owned by absentee landlords tend to deteriorate. Sometimes
it seems that "out of sight, out of mind" is the consequences of this type of landlord. It is not
my intention to paint all absentee landlords with the same brush but unfortunately I have no

2)

way of knowing.
PROPERTY CONDITION - this concern, of course, is tied to my first concern. Again, it is my
observation that property maintenance and property appearance is not very high on a tenant's
priority (or in this case 5 tenants). I have no doubt that the intended renovations will be done
professional and may improve the general appearance of the property initially. However, it is
not the present I am concerned with, it is in the future. There can no guarantee that the
property condition will continue to be the same as when the renovations have been completed.
That future change could have an influence on property values in the neighbourhood.

3) TENANT ACTIVITY - my concern and assumption here is that these are not going to be family
units (5 units in approximately 3500 square feet) and because of the stairs, the building may not
be senior friendly. Therefore, I do have strong concerns about the activities that may go on in
the neighbourhood as a result of the tenant demograhics in the building. Our neighbourhood
had been a relatively quiet area with very little worry about illegal activity and property damage
but that has changed over the last couple of years. Therefore, with the tenant demographics
that this proposed apartment building leans towards, I hope you can understand the increased
fear for our properties. In fact, as a side note, at the time of this writing, my wife had her car

pilfered. Nothing was taken and no vehicle damage was done but someone went through her
car.
4) TRAFFIC - it is not like 7th Avenue is a nice quiet street with typical residential traffic. It is, as you
know, the main road getting into and out of Hanover going north. I have seen long weekend
traffic lined up, going south, past 13th Street - so it can be busy. With a 5-unit apartment
building, I have concerns with traffic flow.
I realize that in our neighborhood, there already exists multiple unit rental units but those buildings
have been there as long as I have lived on 7th Avenue. I do not think that adding a 5 unit apartment
building of this type, to our neighborhood, is good for it or those of us that live here.
Once again, please accept this letter as my objection to the proposed zoning by-law amendment in
order to accommodate the intended use of the property.

Cheryl Hopkins
549

11

Ave, Hanover Ontario N4N 2J8

Cc: Sue Patterson
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Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

The Corporation of the
Town of Hanover

Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2018
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover Trust Funds
Independent Auditor's Report
Balance Sheet and Statement of Continuity
Notes to Financial Information
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Statement of Responsibility
Independent Auditor's Report
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Statement of Administrative Responsibility
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

ge

The management of The Corporation of the Town of Hanover have prepared the
accompanying financial statements and are responsible for their accuracy and
integrity. The financial statements have been prepared by management in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted for the public
sector as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board [PSAB] of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants.

Ch

an

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems,
administration has developed and maintained a system of internal control
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Corporation's assets are
safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for
the preparation of the financial statements.

ec
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The Chief Administrative Officer and Director of Corporate Services review the
financial statements before such statements are submitted to Council and
published for the residents of Hanover. The external auditors have access to,
and meet with Administration and Council to discuss their audit and the results
of their examination.

Su
bj

The Audit Committee of the Board meets with the external auditors to review
the consolidated financial statements and discuss any significant financial
reporting or internal control matters prior to the board's approval of the
financial statements.

Dr
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The financial statements have been audited by BDO Canada LLP, independent
external auditors appointed by council. The accompanying Independent Auditor's
Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their
opinion on the Board’s consolidated financial statements.

Brian Tocheri
Chief Administrative Officer

Christine Walker
Director of Corporate Services

May 21, 2019
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Independent Auditor's Report
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To the Members of Council of
The Corporation of the Town of Hanover

Opinion

o

Ch

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the Town of
Hanover (the Municipality), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of operations, consolidated changes in
net financial assets, and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Su
bj

Basis for Opinion

ec
tt

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Municipality as at December 31, 2018, and its
consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial assets, and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

t-

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Municipality in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Dr
af

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Municipality’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Municipality or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Municipality’s financial
reporting process.

4

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

ge

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Municipality’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Municipality’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Municipality to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Municipality to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
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Hanover, Ontario
May 21, 2019
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31
Financial assets
Cash (Note 1, page 15)
Portfolio investments (Note 2, page 15)
Taxes receivable
Water and wastewater charges receivable
Government transfers receivable
Other receivables
Inventory for resale
Loans receivable (Note 3, page 15)
Long-term investments (Note 4, page 16)

Su
bj

Net financial assets

t-

Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses
Inventory of supplies
Land held for sale
Tangible capital assets (Note 10, page 21)

Accumulated surplus (Note 11, page 23)

$

5,799,090
2,017,000
195,073
468,237
976,617
931,194
13,175
1,135,083
2,756,742

o

Ch
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$ 4,505,309
2,750,000
183,411
480,028
947,687
1,664,196
12,271
1,135,083
2,756,742

ec
tt

Liabilities
Temporary borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue (Note 5, page 16)
Long-term debt (Note 6, page 17)
Landfill site closure and
post-closure care liability (Note 7, page 18)
Retirement benefit liability (Note 9, page 19)

Dr
af

2017

2018

14,434,727

14,292,211

29,119
1,830,816
1,022,890
1,134,344

26,821
1,995,844
769,319
1,538,395

368,867
1,265,630

349,537
1,288,963

5,651,666

5,968,879

8,783,061

8,323,332

52,210
119,729
2,300,250
69,442,764

51,532
122,351
1,893,368
67,624,381

71,914,953

69,691,632

$80,698,014

$ 78,014,964

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Consolidated Statement of Operations

Annual surplus

Opening accumulated surplus assumed
on consolidation of Government Organizations

t-

$ 6,575,491
5,995,756
3,660,378
2,210,846
279,735
241,221
553,403

Accumulated surplus, end of the year

$

6,213,157
5,027,498
3,309,073
2,209,459
245,619
243,333
541,121

an

19,502,518

19,516,830

17,789,260

1,286,900
3,932,865
2,465,012
345,690
3,210,900
902,384
3,419,100
543,354

1,350,486
3,429,197
2,552,555
1,091,447
3,255,967
829,674
3,739,697
565,862

1,455,033
3,707,592
1,587,103
968,354
3,232,270
852,926
3,629,233
755,790

16,106,205

16,814,885

16,188,301

3,396,313

2,701,945

1,600,959

78,014,964

78,014,964

76,376,497

o

Accumulated surplus, beginning of the year

Dr
af

6,597,578
6,028,000
3,739,800
2,142,205
162,350
313,585
519,000

ec
tt
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Expenses
General government
Protection services
Transportation services
Transit
Environmental services
Health and social services
Recreation and cultural services
Planning and development

$

Ch

Revenue
Taxation
Government transfers (Note 14, page 26)
Water and wastewater charges
User fees and service charges
Investment income
Donations
Other income (Note 15, page 28)

2017
Actual

2018
Actual

ge

2018
Budget
(Note 19)

For the year ended December 31

$ 81,411,277

(18,895)
$80,698,014

37,508
$ 78,014,964

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
2018
Budget
(Note 19)
$

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets
Amortization expense
Writedown (gain) on disposal of
tangible capital assets

3,396,313

$ 2,701,945

(6,050,538)
22,000
2,000,194

Su
bj

Change in net financial assets

ec
tt

Increase in prepaid expenses
Increase in inventory of supplies
Decrease (increase) in assets held for sale

o

(4,028,344)
-

(678)
2,622
(406,882)

(1,003)
(16,346)
108,046

-

(404,938)

90,697

478,624

958,571

8,323,332

7,451,061

$

7,691,301

(86,300)

(18,895)
$ 8,783,061

$

8,323,332

Dr
af
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Net financial assets, end of year

(733,085)

8,323,332

Net assets (debt) assumed on consolidation of
Government Organizations

230,149

(4,433)

(1,818,383)

(632,031)

Net financial assets, beginning of year

1,600,959
(3,022,796)
6,371
2,053,191

(4,010,571)
88,510
2,108,111

Ch

-

$

an

Annual surplus

2017
Actual

2018
Actual

ge

For the year ended December 31

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31

2017

2018

Cash provided by (used in)
1,600,959

an

ge

Operating activities
Annual surplus
$ 2,701,945 $
Items not involving cash
Amortization and write down of tangible capital assets
2,103,678
(23,335)
Retirement benefit liability
Landfill site closure and post-closure care
19,330
(18,895)
Assets assumed on consolidation of Government Organizations

4,030,042

ec
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Ch

4,782,723

Change in balances
Decrease in taxes receivable
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease in inventory for resale
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Decrease (increase) in non-financial assets

2,283,340
186,283
45,760
(86,300)

161,350
162,899
410
529,772
(376,922)
90,697

11,662
(715,863)
905
(165,028)
253,571
(404,938)

3,763,032

4,598,248

(4,010,571)
88,510

(3,022,796)
6,371

(3,922,061)

(3,016,425)

Investing activities
Purchase of investments

(733,000)

(17,000)

Financing activities
Increase (decrease) in temporary borrowings
Repayment of long-term liabilities

2,298
(404,050)

(15,149)
(401,160)

(401,752)

(416,309)

Dr
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Capital activities
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets

Net change in cash

Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

(1,293,781)

1,148,514

5,799,090

4,650,576

$ 4,505,309

$

5,799,090

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
December 31, 2018
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of CPA
Canada.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses of the current fund, capital
fund, reserves and reserve funds of all municipal
organizations, committees, and boards which are owned or
controlled by council.
All interfund assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Ch

an

ge

Basis of Accounting

ec
tt

o

The following boards owned or controlled by council have
been consolidated:

Dr
af

t-

Su
bj

Hanover Police Services Board
Hanover Cemetery Board
Hanover Public Library Board
Hanover Downtown Improvement Area
Community Improvement Partnership of Hanover
Launch Pad Youth Activity & Technology Centre

A government partnership exists where the municipality has
shared control over the board or entity. The municipality's
pro-rata share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses are reflected in the financial statements using the
proportionate consolidation method.
The municipality's
proportionate interest of the following government
partnerships are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements:
Saugeen Mobility
and Regional Transit
Hanover / Walkerton Landfill Site
Saugeen Municipal Airport

20.7% (2017- 22.7%)
50%
31.0% (2017- 31.0%)
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
December 31, 2018
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards requires
management to make estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Management has made
estimates of historical cost, useful lives and amortization of
tangible capital assets (Note 10). In addition, estimates have
been made of closure and post-closure costs related to
landfill sites (Note 7) and employee future benefits costs
(Note 9). By their nature, these estimates are subject to
measurement uncertainty and actual results could differ from
management's best estimates as additional information
becomes available in the future.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized as follows:

o

Ch

an

ge

Use of Estimates

Su
bj

ec
tt

a) Taxation revenues are recorded at estimated amounts
when they meet the definition of an asset, have been
authorized, and the taxable event occurs. For property
taxes, the taxable event is the period for which the tax is
levied.
As taxes recorded are initially based on
management’s best estimate of the taxes that will be
received, it is possible that changes in future conditions,
such as reassessments due to audits, appeals and court
decisions, could result in a change in the amount of tax
revenue recognized. Taxes receivable are recognized net
of an allowance for anticipated uncollectable amounts.

Dr
af

t-

b) Fines and donations are recognized when collected.
c) Fees, user charges and other revenues are recorded upon
sale of goods or provision of service when collection is
reasonably assured.
d) Investment income earned on surplus funds (other than
obligatory reserve funds) are reported as revenue in the
period earned. Investment income earned on obligatory
reserve funds is recorded directly to each fund balance
and forms part of the respective deferred revenue
balances.
e) Government transfers are recognized as revenue in the
financial statements when the transfer is authorized and
any eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that
transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets
the definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as
deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a
liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement
of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
December 31, 2018
Portfolio and
Long-term Investments

Portfolio and long-term investments are recorded at the
lower of cost and market value.
Inventory of goods held for resale are recorded at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on the
average cost basis.

an

ge

Inventory

Ch

Assets held for sale, where it is not anticipated that the sale
will be completed within one year, are reported as a nonfinancial asset.

Purchased tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which
includes all amounts that are directly attributable to
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the
asset. Tangible capital assets received as contributions are
recorded at their fair value at the date of contribution.
Where fair market value cannot be reasonably determined,
contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at a nominal
amount. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset. The useful lives
of the assets are based on estimates made by management as
follows:

Dr
af

t-

Su
bj

Tangible Capital Assets

ec
tt

o

Inventory of goods held for consumption are recorded as a
non-financial asset at the lower of cost and replacement cost.
Cost is determined on the first-in first-out basis.

Intangible Assets

Land improvements
Buildings
Building components
Equipment
Vehicles
Infrastructure:
Road surfaces
Utility systems

25 to 40
50 to 100
10 to 80
5 to 25
5 to 30

years
years
years
years
years

20 to 80 years
70 to 100 years

Intangible assets, art and historic treasures, and items
inherited by right of the Crown, such as Crown lands, forests,
water, and mineral resources, are not recognized in these
financial statements.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
December 31, 2018

ge

A contaminated site is a site at which substances occur in
concentrations that exceed the maximum acceptable
amounts under an environmental standard. Sites that are
currently in productive use are only considered a
contaminated site if an unexpected event results in
contamination. A liability for remediation of contaminated
sites is recognized when the organization is directly
responsible or accepts responsibility; it is expected that
future economic benefits will be given up; and a reasonable
estimate of the amount can be made. The liability includes
all costs directly attributable to remediation activities
including post remediation operations, maintenance and
monitoring. The liability is recorded net of any expected
recoveries. Management is not aware of any contaminated
sites.

Su
bj

ec
tt

o

Ch

Liability for Contaminated Sites

Landfill site closure and post-closure care costs are
recognized over the operating life of the landfill, based on
capacity used. The liability is recorded at its discounted
value, based on the average long-term borrowing rate of the
municipality.

an

Landfill Site Closure
and Post-Closure Care

Dr
af

t-

Employee Future Benefits

The municipality pays post-employment benefits to eligible
employees on retirement.
The benefits earned are
recognized over the service life of the employees using the
projected benefit method and management’s best estimate
of salary escalation, benefit costs, and retirement ages of
employees.
Defined contribution plan accounting is applied to the
municipality’s multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and cash
accounts held at financial institutions.

County and School Board

The municipality collects taxation revenue on behalf of the
school boards and the County of Grey. The taxation, other
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the
operations of the school boards and the County of Grey are
not reflected in these financial statements.

Trust Funds

Funds held in trust by the municipality, and their related
operations, are not included in these financial statements.
The financial position and activity of the trust funds are
reported separately on the trust fund balance sheet and
statement of continuity.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
1.

Cash

ge

Cash consists of deposits at a financial institution. The deposits earn interest at prime less
1.55%, on all business accounts, payable monthly.

an

The municipality has a line of credit that bears interest at the lender's prime rate less 0.5%.
At December 31, 2018, the municipality had undrawn credit capacity under this facility of
$500,000.

Portfolio Investments
Mutual funds and GIC

3.

Su
bj

Market value

ec
tt

2.

o

Ch

Included in cash is $339,210 (2017 - $318,234), the use of which is externally restricted by
legislation or agreement.

2017

2018
$ 2,750,000

$

2,017,000

$ 2,802,784

$

2,358,900

Loans Receivable

t-

Note receivable, Westario Power Inc., 4.12%
interest only payable quarterly

2017

2018
$ 1,135,083

$

1,135,083

Dr
af

The note receivable from Westario Power Inc. is due on demand in accordance with the
terms set out in the shareholders’ agreement. The Town of Hanover is a shareholder of the
corporation.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
4.

Long-Term Investments
2017

2018
Westario Power Inc.
1,509 common shares

$

2,756,742

ge

$ 2,756,742

Deferred Revenue

ec
tt

Obligatory Reserve Funds
Provincial Gasoline Tax Funding
Federal Gasoline Tax Funding

Su
bj

Deferred revenue

2017

2018

o

5.

Ch

an

The municipality owns 15.09% of the outstanding shares of Westario Power Inc., a private
company incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The fair value of these
shares is not practicable to determine in the absence of published market quotations.

$

395,149
337,673

$

526,513
180,793

732,822

707,306

290,068

62,013

$ 1,022,890

$

769,319

t-

The net change during the year in the obligatory reserve fund balances is made up of the
following:

Dr
af

Balance
beginning
of year

Provincial Gasoline
Tax Funding
$

526,513

Federal Gasoline
Tax Funding

180,793

Total

$

707,306

Restricted
funds
received

$

716,572

Interest
earned

$

238,564
$

955,136

7,922
3,475

$

11,397

Revenue
recognized

Balance
end of year

$ (855,858) $ 395,149
(85,159)

337,673

$ (941,017) $ 732,822
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
6.

Long-Term Debt

ge

A portion of the balance of long-term debt reported on the consolidated statement of
financial position is owed to a financial institution and is party to an interest rate swap
derivative, which swaps the variable rate inherent in the debt for a fixed rate. The
derivative matures simultaneously with the related portion of long-term debt.

$ 1,041,433

o

Note payable, 9.74%, payable $166 principal and
interest monthly, due November 2021

Ch

Term loan payable, 2.52%, payable $14,155
principal and interest monthly, due August 2025

an

2018

ec
tt

Bankers' Acceptance payable, acceptance fees
equivalent to 3.20% repayable in monthly installments of
$20,000 to $22,000 excluding interest, due April 2019

Su
bj

Note payable, 2.35%, payable $654 principal
and interest monthly, due February 2018

$

2017

1,183,107

4,911

6,347

88,000

347,000

-

1,941

$ 1,134,344

$

1,538,395

Principal payments required on the long-term debt are as follows:

Dr
af

t-

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

234,867
150,670
154,373
156,681
160,675
277,078
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
7.

Landfill Site Closure and Post-Closure Care Liability

an

ge

The Hanover/Walkerton Landfill Site closure and post-closure care requirements are
defined in accordance with industry standards and include final covering and landscaping of
the landfill, removal of ground water and leachates, and ongoing environmental monitoring,
site inspection and maintenance. These costs will be incurred when the Hanover/Walkerton
Landfill Site stops accepting waste, with the post-closure care expected to continue for an
additional 24 years. The total future closure and post-closure care costs are estimated to
be $3,223,557, with the Town of Hanover’s share being $1,611,779.

ec
tt

o

Ch

At December 31, 2018, the Town of Hanover has recognized a liability of $368,867. This
represents the town's 50% share of the present value of the total estimated costs related to
the phase of the landfill that was closed in 2014, plus 12.0% of the total estimated costs
related to the expansion phase. The liability is based on a total capacity of 917,000 cubic
metres, an inflation rate of 1.50% (2017 - 1.90%) and a discount rate of 3.54% (2017 3.35%).
The balance of the town's share of the liability of $1,242,912 will be accrued as the
remaining capacity of 361,510 cubic metres is utilized over the 23 years of estimated
remaining life of the landfill.

Dr
af

t-

Su
bj

Management’s estimate for the site closure and post-closure care liability is subject to
measurement uncertainty. The estimate is based on assumptions, contained in the
engineer’s closure report dated April 1994 and updated by an engineer’s letter of January
2019 for the passage of time, actual use of the landfill site, and costs. Actual results could
differ significantly from those estimates because of the uncertainty related to future cost
estimates, and future use of the landfill site.
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
8.

Pension Plan

an

ge

The municipality makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund
(OMERS), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of 68 (2017 - 73) members of its staff.
The plan is a defined benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefits to
be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay. Employees
and employers contribute jointly to the plan. The amount contributed to OMERS by the
municipality for 2018 was $408,627 (2017 - $429,079). The contribution rate for 2018 was
9.0% to 15.8% depending on age and income level (2017 - 9.0% to 15.8%).

Retirement Benefit Liability

Su
bj

9.

ec
tt

o

Ch

OMERS is a multi-employer plan, therefore, any pension plan surplus or deficit is the joint
responsibility of the Ontario municipal organizations and their employees. As a result, the
municipality does not recognize any share of the OMERS pension surplus or deficit. The last
available report for the OMERS plan was as at December 31, 2018. At that time, the plan
reported an actuarial deficit of $4.19 billion (2017 - deficit of $5.4 billion), based on
actuarial liabilities of $99.06 billion (2017 - $93.61 billion) and actuarial assets of $94.87
billion (2017 - $88.21 billion). Ongoing adequacy of the current contribution rates will need
to be monitored as fluctuations in financial markets may lead to increased future funding
requirements.

The municipality provides retirement benefits other than pensions to substantially all of its
full-time employees. The plan provides extended health and life insurance benefits to age
65. Certain employees may take a retirement lump sum payout in lieu of the benefit
continuation. The plan is unfunded and requires no contribution from employees.

Dr
af

t-

The retirement benefit liability at December 31 is determined as follows:

Retirement benefit
accrued benefit obligation
Unamortized actuarial gain (loss)

Recoverable amount
Retirement benefit liability

2017

2018
$ 1,287,867

$

1,321,473

(14,349)

(23,817)

(7,888)

(8,693)

$ 1,265,630

$

1,288,963
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The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
9.

Retirement Benefit Liability (continued)

Ch

an

ge

The above amounts were determined by actuarial valuation using the projected benefit
method, pro-rated on services. The most recent actuarial report was prepared at
December 31, 2015 with an amendment at December 31, 2017. The accrued benefit
obligation shown for 2018 is based on an extrapolation of that 2015 valuation. There is a
net unamortized actuarial gain to be amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected
average remaining service life of the related employee groups (11 years) and a net
unamortized loss from the December 31, 2017 amendment to be amortized on a straightline basis over 7 years.

ec
tt

o

The actuarial valuation was based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as
inflation rates, medical premium inflation rates, wage increases, employee turnover, and
mortality rates. The assumptions used reflect management’s best estimates, but are
subject to measurement uncertainty. Actual results could differ significantly from those
estimated because of the uncertainty related to future events and conditions. The liability
was determined using a discount rate of 4.50%, along with an inflation rate of 2% and a
compensation increase rate of 2% to 3%. For extended health care costs, a 5% annual rate
of increase was assumed for 2017, decreasing to an ultimate annual rate of increase of 4.0%
in 2020. For dental costs, a 4.0% annual rate of increase was assumed.

Su
bj

The total expense related to post-employment benefits other than pensions, includes the
following components:

$

t-

Current service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of actuarial gain/(loss)

Dr
af

Total expense for the year
Actuarial reduction of accrued benefit obligation
Change in liability for the year

2017

2018
86,878
55,222
9,468

$

151,568
(174,901)
$

(23,333) $

193,869
52,106
9,493
255,468
(69,185)
186,283
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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g

December 31, 2018
10. Tangible Capital Assets

Land and Land
Improvements

7,332,010
91,205

Disposals

(38,120)

Adjustments

$

251,991

$

(7,000)

50,000

Cost, end of year

37,583,110

Equipment

7,333,439

o

$

Additions

Buildings

(862,672)

7,435,095

36,965,429

Vehicles

$

2,504,529

314,254

337,704

(239,437)

(66,417)

ec
tt

Cost, beginning of year

Ch

For the year ended December 31, 2018

$

Infrastructure

2018
Total

42,147,733

$ 96,900,821

3,015,417

4,010,571

-

(350,974)

-

-

812,672

-

7,408,256

2,775,816

45,975,822

100,560,418

916,745

10,620,837

3,989,319

1,502,089

12,247,450

29,276,440

Amortization

130,120

748,237

386,507

141,718

701,529

2,108,111

(208,342)

(58,129)

Disposals

ub
j

Accumulated amortization,
beginning of year

$

Dr
a

Net carrying
amount, end of year

1,046,865

ft

Accumulated amortization,
end of year

-S

-

6,388,230

$

(426)

11,368,648

25,596,781

4,167,484

$

3,240,772

-

1,585,678

$

1,190,138

$

(266,897)

12,948,979

31,117,654

33,026,843

$ 69,442,764
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December 31, 2018
10. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)

Land and Land
Improvements

$

7,372,954

Buildings

$

Additions

36,207,488

(40,944)

Adjustments
Cost, end of year

7,332,010

$

6,921,048

$

Vehicles

2,509,135

2017
Total

Infrastructure

$

41,197,179

$

1,102,244

94,207,804

487,358

38,312

(190,330)

(127,793)

(42,918)

171,070

52,826

-

-

223,896

37,583,110

7,333,439

2,504,529

42,147,733

96,900,821

ec
tt

1,394,882

Disposals

Equipment

o

Cost, beginning of year

Ch

For the year ended December 31, 2017

3,022,796

(151,690)

(553,675)

797,458

9,914,291

3,704,957

1,395,157

11,628,453

27,440,316

Amortization

130,181

733,861

362,238

144,039

682,872

2,053,191

Disposals

(10,894)

(78,964)

(126,316)

(37,107)

(63,875)

51,649

48,440

-

-

100,089

10,620,837

3,989,319

1,502,089

12,247,450

29,276,440

Dr
a

Net carrying
amount, end of year

916,745

(317,156)

ft

Accumulated amortization,
end of year

-S

Adjustments

ub
j

Accumulated amortization,
beginning of year

$

6,415,265

$

26,962,273

$

3,344,120

$

1,002,440

$

29,900,283

$

67,624,381
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018
10. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)

ge

The carrying value of tangible capital assets not being amortized because they are under
construction, development, or have been removed from service is $1,584,478 (2017 $865,956).

an

Certain land assets have been recorded at nominal values. The land is available to be used
to provide future services.

Ch

11. Accumulated Surplus

ec
tt

o

The accumulated surplus reported on the consolidated statement of financial position is
comprised of the following:
2018
2017
$

Accumulated surplus

$80,701,014

Su
bj

General surplus (deficit)
Reserves and reserve funds
set aside for specific purpose by council (Note 12)
Amounts to be recovered (Note 13)
Amount invested in land for resale
Amount invested in tangible capital assets

(49,085) $

(13,047)
12,227,727
(3,176,895)
1,352,798
67,624,381

12,329,577
(2,768,840)
1,746,598
69,442,764

$ 78,014,964

The general surplus (deficit) is comprised of the following:
$

37,753 $
(52,883)
582
(34,537)

29,773
7
2
5,802
56,831
7,681
(49,350)
638
(64,431)

$

(49,085) $

(13,047)

Dr
af

t-

General area taxation
Waterworks system
Wastewater system
Public Library Board
Bluewater Community Radio Inc.
Downtown Improvement Area
Saugeen Municipal Airport
Saugeen Mobility and Regional Transit
Launch Pad Youth Activity & Technology Centre
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December 31, 2018
12. Reserves and Reserve Funds
2017

2018
457,434
123,765

Reserves and reserve funds
set aside for specific purpose by council

457,434
125,606

137,178
5,960
54,931
380,000
10,580

113,135
6,220
55,459
380,000
14,233

608,642
530,352
1,078,409
412,785
18,259
147,975
29,489
108,696
859,254

146,263
322,158
981,195
307,626
27,029
121,791
107,839
94,240
507,368

4,963,709

3,767,596

178,975
117,857
2,549,916
1,758,555
3,823
2,756,742

116,581
67,201
2,745,381
2,770,454
3,772
2,756,742

7,365,868

8,460,131

$12,329,577

$ 12,227,727

an

o

ec
tt

Su
bj

Dr
af

t-

Reserve funds set aside for specific purpose by council:
Infrastructure
Investing in Hanover
Water
Wastewater
Planning and development
Westario Power proceeds, set aside in shares for future use

$

ge

$

Ch

Reserves set aside for specific purpose by council:
Working funds
WSIB
Current
General government
Health services
Planning and development
Westario Power proceeds, set aside in note for future use
Other
Capital
Protection services
Wastewater
Water
Waste collection and disposal
Health services
Hanover Public Library Board
Recreation and culture
Planning and development
Other capital purposes
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December 31, 2018
13. Amounts to be recovered
The balance of the amounts to be recovered is comprised of the following:

ge

2018

$ 1,134,343
1,265,630
368,867

$

1,538,395
1,288,963
349,537

$ 2,768,840

$

3,176,895

Ch

an

Long-term debt
Retirement benefit liability
Landfill site closure and post-closure care liability

2017

ec
tt

o

The net change during the year in the amounts to be recovered is made up of the following:
2018

2017

$

(404,052) $
(23,333)
19,330

(401,160)
186,283
45,760

Decrease in amounts to be recovered during the year

$

(408,055) $

(169,117)

Dr
af

t-

Su
bj

Principal payments on long-term debt
Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit liability
Change in landfill site closure and post-closure care liability
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14. Government Transfers
Government transfer revenue is comprised of the following:

1,881,400
1,110,000

Su
bj

Government of Canada conditional grants
Hanover Public Library Board
Other

Dr
af

t-

Other Municipalities conditional grants
Protection services
Roadways

Total operating grants

ge
$ 1,881,400
1,252,086

Ch

$

$

2017
Actual

1,866,100
1,218,320

42,260
855,858
30,000
65,322

47,130
759,500
65,069

17,400
23,500

17,399
3,658
48,814

16,855
2,979
72,437

3,277,000

4,196,797

4,048,390

7,100

11,509
42,644

18,691
92,472

7,100

54,153

111,163

123,000
23,500

123,000
19,795

121,700
17,379

146,500

142,795

139,079

3,430,600

4,393,745

4,298,632

o

43,200
103,500
33,000
65,000

ec
tt

Operating
Province of Ontario Municipal Partnership
Fund (OMPF)
Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation
Province of Ontario conditional grants
Protection services
Transit
Water and wastewater
Waste collection
Hanover Public Library Board
operating grant
Social and Family Services
Other

2018
Actual

an

2018
Budget
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14. Government Transfers (continued)
Tangible Capital Asset Grants
2017
Actual

171,072
133,895

74,789
-

304,967

74,789

340,600
267,800

85,159
267,790

654,077
-

608,400

352,949

654,077

1,071,000

944,095

-

2,597,400

1,602,011

728,866

6,028,000

$ 5,995,756

784,100
133,900

o

ec
tt

Government of Canada conditional grants
Roadways
Water and wastewater

Ch

918,000

an

Province of Ontario conditional grants
Roadways
Water and wastewater

2018
Actual

ge

2018
Budget

Other Municipalities conditional grants
Roadways

Su
bj

Total tangible capital asset grants

Total government transfer revenue

$

$

5,027,498

t-

Included in expenses are government transfers for the following:

Dr
af

Conservation authority
Transit
Other

2018
Budget

2017
Actual

2018
Actual

$

113,100
134,500

$

113,132
679,206
121,742

$

112,914
587,595
124,904

$

247,600

$

914,080

$

825,413
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15. Other Income
2018
Budget

$

519,000

$

50,672
411,658
91,073

$

$

59,683
408,080
73,358

$

541,121

ge

65,700
406,200
47,100

an

$

553,403

Ch

Penalties and interest on taxation
Rents
Other

2017
Actual

2018
Actual

16. Segmented Information

Su
bj

General Government

ec
tt

o

The Corporation of the Town of Hanover is a diversified municipal government organization
that provides a wide range of services to its citizens such as police, fire, roadways, water,
and recreation and cultural services. Distinguishable functional segments have been
separately disclosed in the segmented information. The nature of the segments and the
activities that they encompass are as follows:

This segment relates to the revenues and expenses that relate to the operations of the
municipality itself and unallocated items that cannot be directly attributed to any specific
segment. General administration, council activities and maintenance of municipal buildings
are included in the functions of general government.

t-

Protection Services

Dr
af

Protection is comprised of police services, fire protection, emergency plan, building
inspections, and animal control.
Transportation Services
Transportation is comprised of the municipality's roadways, storm sewers, sidewalks, street
lighting, and winter control. It also includes the municipality's proportionate share of the
operations of specialty transportation services and an airport, both services that are shared
with surrounding municipalities.
Water and Wastewater Services
This segment treats and distributes the municipality's drinking water and ensures that it
meets all provincial standards. It also includes the collection and treatment of wastewater.
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16. Segmented Information (continued)
Environmental Services

ge

Environmental services consist of providing waste and recycling collection and the town's
share of the operation of the Hanover / Walkerton joint landfill site.

an

Health Services

Recreation and Cultural Services

Ch

Health services are comprised of support to the medical clinic operations, cemetery and the
Launch Pad Youth Activity and Technology Centre.

Planning and Development

ec
tt

o

This segment maintains parks and facilities and provides programs meant to improve the
health and development of the municipality's citizens. Recreation programs such as skating
and swimming lessons are provided at the arena and aquatic centre. The municipality also
provides library services to assist with its citizens' informational needs, and a theatre to
provide cultural programs.

Su
bj

This segment provides services including residential and commercial planning, review of
property development plans, and economic development services for the municipality.

t-

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies.
In measuring and reporting segment revenue from
transactions with other segments, inter-segment transfers are measured on the basis of
exchange amount. Amounts that are directly attributable to a number of segments have
been allocated on a reasonable basis as follows:

Dr
af

Taxation

Unconditional grants
from OMPF & OLG

- allocated to those segments that are funded through taxation
based on their net expenditure for the year
- allocated to those segments that are funded through unallocated
revenues based on their net expenditure for the year
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

Annual
surplus (deficit)

$

1,116,333

823,942
165,260

789,866
2,075,980

38,865

431,394

185,510

$

-

$

Health and
Social
Services

154,874

$

195,431

Recreation
and Cultural
Services

Hanover
Public Library
Board

$

544,500

$

1,240,909

Planning and
Development
$

2018
Total

262,558

$ 6,575,491

431,685

48,588
68,519

61,312
41,442

28,908

538,158
24,077

71,704
17,500

3,133,485
2,862,271

119,840

3,660,378

433,182

176,511

33,156

773,781

204,117

5,871,224

-

-

79,616

8,249

-

3,777

-

2,583

279,735

275,978
2,073,825

46,911
3,763,736

4,102,019

4,171,679

713,412

361,643
836,339

15,047
625,388

95,045
2,671,970

558,462

794,624
19,516,830

835,609
-

2,568,241
-

669,259
-

701,306
-

58,127
-

328,836
6,605

395,776
-

1,612,660
28,183

156,715
-

7,326,529
34,788

269,812

486,239

1,582,797

1,375,453

270,620

403,988

165,192

946,418

405,149

5,905,668

-

140,826

73,787

45,498

245,583

-

-

24,448

-

530,142

113,132

678,948

-

-

-

-

-

-

914,080

639,211
3,644,002

465,994
2,588,251

93,385
667,715

90,245
829,674

41,954
602,922

525,066
3,136,775

3,999
565,863

2,103,678
16,814,885

458,017

$ 1,583,428

ub
j

799,915
8,900

122,000
123,064
1,350,485
$

2,296,229

Environmental
Services

o

$

Water and
Wastewater

-S

Expenses
Salaries and
benefits
Interest on debt
Materials and
supplies
Contracted
services
Government
transfers
Amortization and
Loss on Disposal
Total expenses

764,657

ft

$

Transportation
Services

Dr
a

Revenue
Taxation
Government
transfers
- OMPF & OLG
- other
Fees and user
charges
Investment
income
Donations and
other revenue

Protection
Services

ec
tt

General
Government

Ch

16. Segmented Information (continued)

723,340

120,760
3,429,198

$

334,538

$

$

45,697

$

6,665

$

22,466

$

(464,805) $

(7,401) $ 2,701,945
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For the year ended December 31, 2017

Annual
surplus (deficit)

$

668,541

381,094
168,830

700,179
1,505,745

56,708

399,657

172,243

$

-

$

Health and
Social
Services

117,599

$

143,372

Recreation
and Cultural
Services

Hanover
Public Library
Board

$

524,400

$

944,369

Planning and
Development
$

235,479

2017
Total
$

6,213,157

-

76,534
68,876

221,643
21,805

35,546

915,114
91,748

139,811
-

3,084,420
1,943,078

172,430

3,309,073

400,448

169,394

24,653

750,197

235,972

5,518,532

-

-

66,310

3,271

-

1,838

512

1,445

245,619

270,290
1,681,578

3,450
4,050,664

3,046,895

3,375,383

666,728

399,868
956,082

16,541
602,978

94,305
2,796,245

612,707

784,454
17,789,260

870,158
-

2,842,596
-

651,251
-

710,521
-

51,101
-

316,101
14,778

392,779
-

1,530,707
31,704

129,483
-

7,494,697
46,482

340,339

504,504

572,544

1,360,979

247,921

382,534

161,860

858,345

622,520

5,051,546

-

121,711

60,595

28,164

245,404

2,890

-

28,060

-

486,824

112,914

587,299

-

-

-

-

-

-

825,413

683,768
2,555,457

494,961
2,594,625

93,219
637,645

136,623
852,926

40,813
595,452

584,965
3,033,781

3,786
755,789

2,283,339
16,188,301

ub
j

650,045
50,528

125,200
119,337
1,455,034
$

3,097,633

Environmental
Services

o

$

Water and
Wastewater

-S

Expenses
Salaries and
benefits
Interest on debt
Materials and
supplies
Contracted
services
Government
transfers
Amortization and
Loss on Disposal
Total expenses

481,764

ft

$

Transportation
Services

Dr
a

Revenue
Taxation
Government
transfers
- OMPF & OLG
- other
Fees and user
charges
Investment
income
Donations and
other revenue

Protection
Services

ec
tt

General
Government

Ch

16. Segmented Information (continued)

226,544

125,867
3,707,592

$

343,072

$

491,438

$

780,758

$

29,083

$

103,156

$

7,526

$

(237,536) $

(143,082) $
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17. Government Partnerships

ge

The following summarizes the financial position and operations of the municipal joint
boards. The Town of Hanover's pro-rata share of these amounts have been reported in the
financial statements using the proportionate consolidation method:

$

Ch

Financial Assets
Cash and temporary investments
Accounts receivable
Other financial assets

an

Saugeen Saugeen Mobility
Hanover /
Municipal
and Regional
Walkerton
Airport
Transit
Landfill Site
46,369
19,018
14,559

$

Su
bj

Net financial assets (net debt)
Non-financial assets

Accumulated Surplus

Dr
af

t-

Accumulated Surplus
General surplus
Reserves and reserve funds
Amounts to be recovered in future years
Invested in tangible capital assets

Revenues
Contributions from Town of Hanover
Other government contributions
Other
Expenses
Annual surplus (deficit)

367,376
86,523
500,000
953,899

30,895
184,682

140,670
159,953
-

99,850
777,530

215,577

300,623

877,380

ec
tt

Liabilities
Temporary borrowings
Accounts payable
Other liabilities

$

253,623

o

79,946

12,736
240,887
-

(135,631)

(47,000)

830,758

540,385

76,519
4,222,810

$

695,127

$

493,385

$

4,299,329

$

15,130
33,921
646,076

$

2,812
490,573

$

825,569
(749,050)
4,222,810

$

695,127

$

493,385

$

4,299,329

$

$

42,055 $
130,921 $
93,606
1,354,838
64,036
443,851
(256,682)
(1,942,578)
(56,985) $

(12,968) $

366,393
552,381
(875,612)
43,162
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17. Government Partnerships (cont'd)

ge

Saugeen Mobility and Regional Transit (S.M.A.R.T.) operates a specialty transit service,
Saugeen Municipal Airport operates a municipal airport and the Hanover / Walkerton
Landfill Site operates a landfill site.

an

18. Consolidation

Dr
af

t-

Su
bj

ec
tt

o

Ch

On August 30, 2018 the municipality's appointed members on the board of directors of the
Bluewater Community Radio Inc. resigned. The previously consolidated assets of the
Bluewater Community Radio are no longer included in the municipality's consolidation
financial statements at December 31, 2018. The operations of the Bluewater Community
Radio have been consolidated in these financial statements up to the date that the
municipality appointed members resigned.
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19. Budget Amounts

an

ge

Under Canadian public sector accounting standards, budget amounts are to be reported on
the consolidated statements of operations and change in net financial assets for
comparative purposes. The budget amounts for The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
are as approved by council and have been restated to conform to the basis of presentation
of the revenues and expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and changes in
net financial assets.

Ch

The following is a reconciliation of the budget approved by council:

$

2018
Actual

3,396,313

$ 2,701,945

ec
tt

o

Annual surplus

2018
Budget

Su
bj

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal
of tangible capital assets
Amortization and write downs
Acquisition of assets held for sale and other
Debt principal repayments
Transfers from (to) reserves
Change in unfunded liabilities
Net assets assumed on consolidation

t-

Dr
af

General surplus (deficit), end of year

$

$

1,600,959

(6,050,538)

(4,010,571)

(3,022,796)

22,000
2,000,194
(404,700)

88,510
2,103,678
(393,800)
(404,050)

6,371
2,283,340
(9,613)
(401,160)

(1,036,731)

85,712

457,101

1,104,365
-

(19,276)
(4,005)
(18,895)

(467,201)
232,043
(86,300)

43,536
(82,574)
(13,047)

135,643
(72,101)
(76,589)

(52,085) $

(13,047)

67,634
(13,047)

Reserve funds annual surplus
General surplus (deficit), beginning of year

2017
Actual

54,587

$
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20. Operations of School Boards and the County of Grey
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During the year, the following taxation revenue was raised and remitted to the school
boards and the County of Grey:
2018

$ 2,507,951
2,798,506

$

2,552,178
2,772,861

$ 5,306,457

$

5,325,039

Ch

an

School boards
County of Grey

ec
tt

o

21. Trust Funds

2017

Su
bj

The trust funds administered by the municipality amounting to $626,919 (2017 - $611,531)
have not been included in the consolidated statement of financial position nor have their
operations been included in the consolidated statement of financial activities. At
December 31, 2018, the trust fund balances are as follows:

$

179,728
447,191

$

175,328
436,203

$

626,919

$

611,531

t-

Cemetery Pre-need Assurance Fund
Cemetery Care and Maintenance Funds

2017

2018

Dr
af

22. Contractual Obligations
The municipality has commitments with respect to capital projects at December 31, 2018 in
the amount of $1,020,000 (2017 - $1,437,000).
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Independent Auditor's Report

an

To the Members of Council of The Corporation of the Town of Hanover
Opinion

o

Ch

We have audited the accompanying financial information of The Corporation of the Town of
Hanover Trust Funds (the Trust Funds), which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31,
2018 and the statement of continuity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
information including a summary of significant accounting policies.

ec
tt

In our opinion, the accompanying financial information present fairly, in all material respects,
the balance sheet of the Trust Funds as at December 31, 2018, and the statement of continuity
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
Basis for Opinion

Su
bj

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Information section of our report. We are independent of the Trust
Funds in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
information in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

t-

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Information

Dr
af

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this financial information
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial information that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial information, management is responsible for assessing the Trust Funds
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Trust Funds or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Trust Funds financial
reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Information
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial information as a
36

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
this financial information.

ge

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial information,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust Funds internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust Funds
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust Funds to cease to
continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial information,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial information represents the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Dr
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Su
bj

ec
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o

Ch

an

•

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Hanover, Ontario
May 21, 2019
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Balance Sheet

Cash
$
Portfolio investments (Note 2)
Accounts receivable
Due from general account

28,359
150,000
1,642
-

$

$

180,001

$

$

273

$

56

ec
tt

Accounts payable

447,247

o

Liabilities and Fund Balances

96,740
350,000
507

Fund balance

179,728

180,001

Su
bj

$

$

t-

Dr
af

Fund balance,
beginning of the year

$

Receipts
Interest earned
Perpetual care
Prepaid needs

Expenses
Transfers to municipality
Fund balance, end of the year

$

175,328

447,247

$

103,333
510,000
1,216
-

$

614,549

$

329

$

3,018
611,531

626,919
$

627,248

$

614,549

Statement of Continuity

Cemetery
Care and
Maintenance
Fund

$

125,099
500,000
1,642
507

627,248

For the year ended December 31

Cemetery
Pre-Need
Assurance
Fund

Total

$

447,191

$

Total

an

Assets

Cemetery
Care and
Maintenance
Fund

2017

Ch

Cemetery
Pre-Need
Assurance
Fund

2018

ge

December 31

436,203

$

2018

2017

Total

Total

611,531

$

600,252

3,957
13,375

1,820
10,988
-

5,777
10,988
13,375

3,855
9,843
11,755

17,332

12,808

30,140

25,453

12,932

1,820

14,752

14,174

179,728

$

447,191

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$

626,919

$

611,531
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Accounting Policies
The financial information of The Corporation of the Town
of Hanover Trust Funds are the representation of
management prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.

an

Basis of Accounting

ge

1.

ec
tt

o

Ch

The preparation of financial information in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards requires
management to make estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial information, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from management's best
estimates as additional information becomes available in
the future.

Basis of Consolidation

These trust funds have not been consolidated with the
financial statements of the Town of Hanover.

t-

Su
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Revenues and expenses are reported on the accrual basis
of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting recognizes
revenues as they become available and measurable;
expenses are recognized as they are incurred and
measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and
the creation of a legal obligation to pay.

Portfolio investments are recorded at the lower of cost
and market value.

Dr
af

Portfolio Investments

2.

Portfolio Investments
Portfolio investments are made up of the following:
2017

2018
Investment certificates,
effective interest rate of 3.05%, matures in August 2020
Mutual funds

Market value

$

150,000
350,000

$

160,000
350,000

$

500,000

$

510,000

$

566,561

$

589,069
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7.1
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
Monday, April 15, 2019 | 7:00pm
Council Chambers | Civic Centre
MEMBERS PRESENT Mayor Sue Paterson
Deputy Mayor Selwyn Hicks
Councillor Warren Dickert
Councillor Steve Fitzsimmons
Councillor Harold Fleet
Councillor Dave Hocking
Councillor Brandon Koebel
MEMBERS ABSENT
STAFF PRESENT

Christine Walker, Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer
Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works
Jeff Dentinger, Fire Chief
April Marshall, Economic Development Manager
Don Tedford, Director of Development/CBO
Sherri Walden, Director of Parks, Recreation and Culture
Marilyn Zettler, Administrative Assistant/Deputy Clerk
Vicki McDonald, Accounts Payable/Receivable/Payroll Clerk

OTHERS PRESENT
CHAIRPERSON

Mayor Sue Paterson

1.

NATIONAL ANTHEM

2.

CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Paterson called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.

3.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST – None declared.

4.

AGENDA ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS - Nil

5.

DELEGATIONS

6.

COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MINUTES
6.1

38-19

6.2

39-19

7.

Regular Council Meeting Minutes – March 18, 2019
Moved by COUNCILLOR DICKERT | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FITZSIMMONS
THAT the minutes of the Monday, March 18, 2019 Regular Council Meeting be
adopted as printed and circulated.
CARRIED
Committee of the Whole Minutes – April 1, 2019
Moved by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL | Seconded by COUNCILLOR HOCKING
THAT the minutes and recommendations as contained in the Committee of the Whole
Minutes of April 1, 2019 be approved.
CARRIED

STAFF REPORTS
7.1

40-19

Report FI-07-19 – Town of Hanover Emergency Management Program and
Emergency Response Plan By-law – Update
Moved by COUNCILLOR DICKERT | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FITZSIMMONS
THAT Report FI-07-19 - Town of Hanover Emergency Management Program and
Emergency Response Plan By-Law - Update be received;
AND THAT Council pass By-law 3062-19 to adopt an Emergency Management
Program and Emergency Response Plan.
CARRIED

Regular Council Minutes | April 15, 2019
7.2

41-19

8.

Report PB-11-19 – Site Plan Agreement (Zeh, David & Lillian)
Moved by COUNCILLOR DICKERT | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
THAT Report PB-11-19 – Site Plan Agreement (Zeh, David & Lillian) be received;
AND THAT Council pass By-law No. 3064-19 to authorize the mayor and clerk to enter
into a Site Plan Control Agreement to expand the existing suspension repair business
at 61 14th Avenue.
CARRIED

COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL MINUTES
8.1

Age Friendly Advisory Committee Minutes – March 19, 2019

8.2

Economic Development Committee Minutes – March 20, 2019

8.3

Parks, Recreation & Culture Advisory Minutes – March 27, 2019

8.4

Planning Advisory Committee Minutes – April 9, 2019

42-19

9.

Page | 2

Moved by COUNCILLOR FITZSIMMONS | Seconded by COUNCILLOR HOCKING
THAT the minutes of the following Boards and Committees be received for information
and the recommendations contained therein be hereby approved:
 Age Friendly Advisory Committee Minutes – March 19, 2019;
 Economic Development Committee Minutes – March 20, 2019;
 Parks, Recreation & Culture Advisory Minutes – March 27, 2019;
 Planning Advisory Committee Minutes – April 9, 2019.
CARRIED

BY-LAWS
9.1

3062-19 – Emergency Management Program and Emergency Response Plan (pursuant
to Report FI-07-19)

9.2

3063-19 – Confirm Proceedings of March 18, 2019 Regular Council Meeting

9.3

3064-19 – Site Plan Control Agreement (Zeh, David & Lillian) (pursuant to Report PB11-19)

43-19

Moved by DEPUTY MAYOR HICKS | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
THAT By-laws 3062-19, 3063-19 and 3064-19 be introduced;
AND THAT they be taken as read a first, second and third time, finally passed, signed
by the Mayor and the Clerk, sealed with the seal of the Corporation and inserted in the
By-law book.
CARRIED

10. CORRESPONDENCE REQUIRING ACTION
10.1 Wayne Burrow – request to fly the Beadonor flag for the week of April 21 – 27, 2019

44-19

Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING | Seconded by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL
THAT the “Beadonor Flag” be flown at the Civic Centre for the week of April 21 to 27,
2019, in recognition of National Organ and Tissue Donor Awareness Week.
CARRIED

10.2 Saugeen Mobility and Regional Transit – request for funding

Councillor Dickert reviewed the request for funding with members of Council. He
indicated that SMART is seeking additional capital funding for fleet replacement. There
may also be funds available from the Public Transit Stream of ICIP, which was just
recently announced. The SMART Board of Directors will be holding a strategic
planning session and reviewing their business plan to see where more efficiencies can
be found. They will be sending a revised request, to spread the funding out over two
years, and at that time Council would like to see a staff report prepared. This item was
deferred to a future meeting.
11. REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION
11.1 Report DCS-10-19 – Quarterly Financial Statement – January – March 2019
11.2 Report PRC-03-19 – Canadian Armed Forces Training Exercise in Hanover – April 26 – 28
11.3 Report FI-08-19 – March Activity Report
11.4 Report ED-04-19 – Façade Incentive Program Sixth Intake: Public Art
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11.5 Notice – Reconstruction of 7th Avenue (County Road No. 10) from 12th to 16th Street
11.6 Notice – Open House – Proposed Reconstruction of 4th Avenue South of 9th Street
11.7 Joint Health & Safety Committee – March 27, 2019 Meeting Minutes
11.8 Hanover Library Board – February 28, 2019 & March 28, 2019 Meeting Minutes
11.9 Saugeen Municipal Airport – March 20, 2019 & March 21, 2019 Joint Economic

Development Meeting Minutes

11.10 Source Protection Committee – November 23, 2018 Meeting Minutes
11.11 Launch Pad Wood Shop Open House – Friday, April 26, 2019 | 11:00 am – 6:00 pm
11.12 Stewardship Ontario – 2018 4th Quarter Funding for Blue Box Recycling
11.13 Correspondence – Thank you for Mission Zimbabwe Project

12. COUNCILLOR AND STAFF UPDATES
13. PLANNING AND ZONING MATTERS
13.1 Next Planning Advisory Committee Meeting – Tuesday, May 14, 2019 | 5:00pm

14. DATES TO REMEMBER
14.1 Municipal Office Closed – Good Friday, April 19th & Easter Monday, April 22nd
14.2 Integrity Commissioner Training – Wednesday May 1, 2019




Council Session – 5:00 pm | Saugeen Room
Board & Committee Session – 7:30 pm | Community Hall

14.3 Next Committee of the Whole Meeting – Monday, May 6, 2019 | 7:00pm
14.4 Next Regular Council Meeting – Tuesday, May 21, 2019 | 7:00pm

15. INTRODUCTION OF NEW BUSINESS
Mayor Paterson indicated that the agenda item ‘Introduction of New Business’ and the
process that is being used to discuss items is limiting inclusiveness and transparency with
the public.
To share an example – at County Council they do not have an agenda line for ‘New
Business’. In place of that they have ‘Notice of Motion’. So a member of Council may give
notice to the Clerk that a specific motion be placed on a future, Committee of the Whole
agenda, usually at the next meeting. This provides notice to the public of potential decisions
being made at upcoming meetings. Mayor Paterson indicated that we should not be making
decisions without giving notice to the public.
Mayor Paterson has requested staff to prepare a report to review that section of the Council
Procedure By-law.
16. CLOSED MEETING
17. ADJOURNMENT
45-19

Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
THAT this meeting of Hanover Council now be adjourned at 9:06 pm.
CARRIED

___________________________________
Susan Paterson, Mayor

___________________________________
Marilyn Zettler, Deputy Clerk

7.2
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES
Monday, May 6, 2019 | 7:00 pm
Council Chambers | Civic Centre
MEMBERS PRESENT Mayor Sue Paterson
Deputy Mayor Selwyn Hicks
Councillor Harold Fleet
Councillor Dave Hocking
Councillor Brandon Koebel
MEMBERS ABSENT

Councillor Steve Fitzsimmons
Councillor Warren Dickert

STAFF PRESENT

Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk
Christine Walker, Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer
Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works
Jeff Dentinger, Fire Chief
Sherri Walden, Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture

OTHERS PRESENT
CHAIRPERSON
1.

Mayor Sue Paterson

CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Paterson called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.

2.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST – None declared.

3.

AGENDA ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS – Nil

4.

HEALTH & SAFETY MESSAGE – Mental Health Week – May 6 - 12 (Councillor Fleet)
The Canadian Mental Health Association’s annual Mental Health Week is May 6-12,
2019. Mental health is a state of well-being, and we all have it. We might have a
mental illness, and we might not. Either way, we can all feel well.
 One in five Canadians lives with mental health problems, mental illnesses or addiction.
But the reality is, five in five of us have mental health, just like we all have physical
health.
 We can all benefit from celebrating, promoting and acknowledging the role that good
mental health plays in living a full and meaningful life.
Let’s #GetLoud about what mental health really is
 It is about having a sense of purpose, strong relationships, feeling connected to our
communities, knowing who we are, coping with stress and enjoying life.
 It’s never too early or too late to start promoting mental health.
 Mental health promotion helps us get out in front of mental illness.
 But it’s not just about what you do for yourself, by yourself—everyone needs healthy
and supportive places to work, live and learn.

5.

DELEGATIONS
5.1 Kathi Maskell, Hanover Public Library Board Chair, Agnes Rivers-Moore, CEO – Re:
Cuts to Ontario Library Services
The main points of the discussion report were outlined for Hanover Council. The
delegation responded to questions from Hanover Council. The following resolution was
subsequently approved.
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Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
WHEREAS the provincially funded Ontario Library Service agencies (Southern
Ontario Library Service and Ontario Library Service – North) provide vital shared and
collaborative public library services, including the Overdrive ebook collection, interlibrary loan system and deliveries, technical support, skills training, and other services
that are not sustainable by small and rural libraries alone;
WHEREAS the Ontario Library Service agencies ensure consistent quality and range
of services are available to citizens through all public libraries no matter where they
are located;
WHEREAS the Ontario Library Service agencies exist to provide value for money,
efficiency and respect for taxpayer dollars by acting as a source of expertise and
coordination, and leverage combined purchasing power to reduce operating costs for
all Ontario public libraries; and
WHEREAS the role of these agencies is crucial to the day-to-day provision of
services to the public at libraries of all sizes in every part of Ontario;
THEREFORE, we the undersigned petition the Legislative Assembly of Ontario as
follows:
1. To reverse the 50% funding cuts to Southern Ontario Library Service and
Ontario Library Service – North agencies and reinstate provincial funding for
these services to at least the 2017-2018 funding level, and
2. To maintain the operating grant funding for all Ontario libraries.
AND THAT this resolution be sent to the MPP, Minister of Tourism, Culture and Sport
and all municipalities in Ontario.
CARRIED
5.2 Peter McEwen – Re: 4th Avenue Reconstruction
Mr. McEwen was present at Hanover Council to express concerns from residents
regarding the upcoming re-construction of 4th Avenue. He responded to questions
from Hanover Council.
6.

STAFF REPORTS
6.1 Report CAO-15-19 – 2015 Strategic Plan Update Recommendation
Moved by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL | Seconded by COUNCILLOR HOCKING
THAT Report CAO-15-19 2019 - Town of Hanover Strategic Plan Review be
received; and that Bill Winegard be contracted to facilitate updating the Town of
Hanover’s 2015 strategic plan.
CARRIED
6.2 Report PW-07-19 – Drinking Water Quality Management System – Annual Update
Moved by DEPUTY MAYOR HICKS | Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
THAT Report PW-07-19 – Drinking Water Quality Management System - Annual
Update be received; and that Council accept the Internal Audit, Management Review
Emergency Training Exercise completed since September 2018 and revisions to
Drinking Water Quality Management Standard version 2 (DWQMS v2) as presented to
re-endorse the Operational Plan.
CARRIED
6.3 Report PW-08-19 – Reconstruction of 4th Avenue South of 9th Street
Moved by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL| Seconded by COUNCILLOR HOCKING
THAT Report PW-08-19 – Reconstruction of 4th Avenue South of 9th Street be
received; and that the reconstruction proceed based upon municipal design standards,
including barrier curb and a 1.5m wide concrete sidewalk.
DEFEATED
Moved by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL| Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
THAT Report PW-08-19 – Reconstruction of 4th Avenue South of 9th Street be
received; and that the reconstruction proceed based upon municipal design standards,
including barrier curb, but no sidewalk.
CARRIED
6.4 Report DCS-11-19 – IT Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Policy
Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING| Seconded by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL
THAT Report DCS-11-19 – IT Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Policy be
received; and that council approve Policy ADM-018 – Information Systems Disaster
Recovery & Business Continuity Plan.
CARRIED
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6.5 Report DCS-12-19 – 2019 Final Blended Tax Rates
Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING| Seconded by COUNCILLOR FLEET
THAT Report DCS 12-19 – 2019 Final Blended Tax Rates be received for council’s
information; and that a bylaw regarding the 2019 municipal budget and the applicable
tax rates be presented for Hanover Council’s consideration at the May 21, 2019 Council
meeting.
CARRIED
7.

CORRESPONDENCE REQUIRING ACTION
7.1 Town of Minto – endorsement of resolution regarding OMPF funding
Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING | Seconded by COUNCILLOR KOEBEL
THAT Hanover Council support the resolution from the Town of Minto regarding the
Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF), and the concerns with the potential
reduction and/or loss of the OMPF allotment in future years.
CARRIED

8.

REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION
8.1 Report FI-09-19 – Monthly Activity Report – April 2019
8.2 Community Improvement Partnership – March 14, 2019 Meeting Minutes
8.3 Hanover Police Services Board – April 15, 2019 Meeting Minutes
8.4 South Bruce Grey Hospice Committee – Hospice Site Tour May 8, 2019 l 11am (cancelled)
8.5 Women’s House Serving Bruce & Grey – Donation Thank You

9.

PLANNING AND ZONING MATTERS
9.1 Next Planning Advisory Committee Meeting – Tuesday, May 14, 2019 | 5:00pm
9.2 Notice of Public Meeting – Tuesday May 21, 2019 l 7:00pm
Zoning By-Law Amendment (Z2-19) – 552-554 7th Avenue.

10. DATES TO REMEMBER
10.1 Next Regular Council Meeting – Tuesday, May 21, 2019 | 7:00pm
10.2 Next Committee of the Whole Meeting – Monday, June 3, 2019 | 7:00pm
11. INTRODUCTION OF NEW BUSINESS
12. CLOSED MEETING
13. ADJOURNMENT
Moved by COUNCILLOR HOCKING | Seconded by DEPUTY MAYOR HICKS
THAT this meeting of Hanover Council now be adjourned at 8:54 pm.
CARRIED

___________________________________
Sue Paterson, Mayor

___________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

8.1
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Don Tedford, Director of Development/CBO
Ken Campbell, Municipal Law Enforcement Officer

DATE

May 21, 2019

REPORT

PB-14-19

SUBJECT Repeal Noise Control By-law No. 1606-04-21-87
RECOMMENDATION
1. That Report PB-14-19 – Repeal Noise Control By-law No. 1606-04-21-87 be received; and
2. That council pass Noise and Sound Control By-law No. 3067-19 as proposed, repealing ByLaw No. 1606-04-21-87.
BACKGROUND
The Town of Hanover’s current Noise Control By-law No. 1606-04-21-87 (attached) was adopted
by Hanover Council in 1987. It is in need of modernizing, particularly with respect to definitions
and fines.
DISCUSSION
In considering updating the by-law, staff have researched and reviewed similar by-laws in other
municipalities and considered their applicability to Hanover. The proposed revised noise by-law is
attached for council’s consideration. The areas requiring most updating include definitions and
fines.
The current fines have been extremely low for many years and have, in fact, been a deterrent to
gaining compliance. It is proposed that the fines be increased from $53.75 to $150.00 which is
comparable to other municipalities.
Once the by-law is passed by council, it will be submitted to the Attorney General to have the set
fines approved.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no direct financial implications to the Town associated with this report. It is anticipated
that greater clarity in definitions and increased set fines will increase compliance.
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN
This report supports the indicated Strategic Directions and Goals of the Town of Hanover.
☐Strategic Direction #1: Regional Centre
Goal: To enhance and strengthen Hanover’s position as a regional centre while creating
stronger working relationships with neighbouring municipalities and service providers for our
mutual benefit.

☐Strategic Direction #2: Economic Development
Goal: To create an environment that supports economic diversification and a broader range of
attractive employment opportunities to retain existing residents and businesses and attract
investment and new families to the community.
☐Strategic Direction #3: Community
Goal: To support initiatives that contribute to healthier residents, more active and rewarding
lifestyles and a safer community.
☒Strategic Direction #4: Sustainable Municipal Operations
Goal: To improve financial and operational aspects of the Town for the continued maintenance,
rehabilitation and reconstruction of its infrastructure and to sustain and enhance current
municipal programs and services.
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Don Tedford
Director of Development/CBO

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk

Ken Campbell
Municipal Law Enforcement Officer
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
BY-LAW NO.
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A BY-LAW to prohibit or regulate noise in the
disturb the inhabitants of the Town of Hanover.
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Town
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Hanover

as follows:
No person shall, within the Corporate limits of the Town of Hanover
ring any bell, blow or sound any horn, shout or make any unusual
noise likely to disturb the inhabitants of the Town of Hanover or
cause or permit the same to be made.
No person shall cause or permit persistent noise
disturb the inhabitants of the Town of Hanover.
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Persons contravening
this
By-Law
shall upon conviction
thereof
forfeit and pay a penalty not exceeding (exclusive of costs) the sum
of two thousand ($2,000.00) dollars for each such offence and every
such penalty shall be recoverable under the Provincial Offences Act,
R.S. O. 1980, Chapter 400, as amended.
This By-Law shall come into force and effect on
thereof, and here by repeals by-law 1452-04-16-84.
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Read a first time this 21st day of April,
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1987

Read a second time this 21st day of April,

1987.
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Finally read a third time this 21st day of April, 1987, signed by the Mayor
and Clerk, sealed with the seal of the Corporation and engrossed in the
By-Law Book.
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TOWN OF HANOVER
ITEM

BY-LAW //1606
COLUMN 1

TITLE:

BY-LAW CONTROL NOISE
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COLUMN 3
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CAUSE UNUSUAL NOISE LIKELY TO DISTURB THE INHABITANTS OF
HANOVER (SPECIFY)

SECTION 1

$53.75
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PERMIT UNUSUAL NOISE LIKELY TO PISTURB THE INHABITANTS OF
HANOVER (SPECIFY)
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CAUSE PERSISTENT NOISE BY A PET LIKELY TO DISTURB THE
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8.2
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Don Tedford, Director of Development/CBO

DATE

May 21, 2019

REPORT

PB-15-19

SUBJECT Amend By-law No. 1702-04-03-89 to Regulate and/or Control the Parking, Stopping
and Standing of Vehicles in the Town of Hanover.
RECOMMENDATION
1.

That Report PB-15-19 – Amend By-law No. 1702-04-03-89 to Regulate and/or Control
the Parking, Stopping and Standing of Vehicles in the Town of Hanover be received; and

2.

That Council pass Parking By-law No. 3068-19 to Regulate and/or Control the Parking,
Stopping and Standing of Vehicles in the Town of Hanover as proposed, repealing By-Law
Nos. 1702-04-03-89 and 2227-98.

BACKGROUND
The current By-law to Regulate and/or Control the Parking, Stopping and Standing of Vehicles in
the Town of Hanover (“the Parking By-law”) No. 1702-04-03-89 was adopted by Hanover Council
on April 3, 1989. It has served the municipality well but needs updating.
DISCUSSION
In considering updates to the by-law, staff have researched and reviewed similar by-laws in other
municipalities and considered their applicability to Hanover. The areas requiring most updating
include definitions and fines. The fines are being increased to remain consistent with County of
Grey Traffic & Parking By-Law No. 4788-13 as amended by By-law No. 4830-14.
The following summarizes other changes from By-Law Nos. 1702-04-03-89 and 2227-98 being
proposed:






Update by-law and regulations, in accordance with the Municipal Act
Removal of all provisions relating to metered parking
Removal of any or all notations to ‘driving’, including turns e.g., left/right or U-Turns
Removal of parking of bicycles (unable to enforce)
Removal of loading/unloading zones

The proposed revised parking by-law is attached for council’s consideration.
Once this bylaw is passed by council, it will be submitted to the Attorney General to have the set
fines approved. Immediately following approval, new parking tickets will be printed.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no direct financial implications to the Town associated with this report.

LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN
This report supports the indicated Strategic Directions and Goals of the Town of Hanover.
☐Strategic Direction #1: Regional Centre
Goal: To enhance and strengthen Hanover’s position as a regional centre while creating
stronger working relationships with neighbouring municipalities and service providers for our
mutual benefit.
☐Strategic Direction #2: Economic Development
Goal: To create an environment that supports economic diversification and a broader range of
attractive employment opportunities to retain existing residents and businesses and attract
investment and new families to the community.
☒Strategic Direction #3: Community
Goal: To support initiatives that contribute to healthier residents, more active and rewarding
lifestyles and a safer community.
☒Strategic Direction #4: Sustainable Municipal Operations
Goal: To improve financial and operational aspects of the Town for the continued maintenance,
rehabilitation and reconstruction of its infrastructure and to sustain and enhance current
municipal programs and services.
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Don Tedford
Director of Development/CBO

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk

Ken Campbell
Municipal Law Enforcement Officer
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8.3
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Don Tedford, Director of Development/CBO

DATE

May 21, 2019

REPORT

PB-16-19

SUBJECT

Site Plan Control Agreement By-Law (Heritage Senior’s Communities Inc.)

RECOMMENDATION
1.

That Report PB-16-19 – Site Plan Control Agreement By-Law (Heritage Senior’s
Communities Inc.) be received; and

2.

That Council pass the necessary by-law to authorize the mayor and clerk to enter into a
Site Plan Control Agreement to allow Heritage Senior’s Communities Inc. to construct 3unit townhouse-type building located at 414 18th Avenue and 640 8th Street.

BACKGROUND
Greg Williams, representing Heritage Seniors Communities, attended our office on April 19, 2019
and requested a foundation permit prior to the Site Plan Agreement being finalized.
DISCUSSION
On February 19, 2019, council passed Zoning By-Law Amendment No. 3050-19 rezoning the
subject lands from Corridor Commercial Site Specific (C2-11) to Residential Type 4 (R4) Zone to
allow 3 additional units to the existing 18 unit townhouse type dwellings. Notice of Passing for the
Zoning By-law was circulated on February 28, 2019 with no appeals being filed. The zoning is
now final.
Being that there were no appeals on the Zoning Bylaw Amendment circulation, and further that
the next regular council meeting was not until May 21, 2019, it was agreed to allow Greg Williams
to proceed with the trades that were available at this time. A building permit was issued
conditional on this Site Plan Agreement being finalized on May 21, 2019.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no financial implications to the Town associated with this report.
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN
This report supports the indicated Strategic Directions and Goals of the Town of Hanover.
☐Strategic Direction #1: Regional Centre
Goal: To enhance and strengthen Hanover’s position as a regional centre while creating
stronger working relationships with neighbouring municipalities and service providers for our
mutual benefit.

☒Strategic Direction #2: Economic Development
Goal: To create an environment that supports economic diversification and a broader range of
attractive employment opportunities to retain existing residents and businesses and attract
investment and new families to the community.
☐Strategic Direction #3: Community
Goal: To support initiatives that contribute to healthier residents, more active and rewarding
lifestyles and a safer community.
☐Strategic Direction #4: Sustainable Municipal Operations
Goal: To improve financial and operational aspects of the Town for the continued maintenance,
rehabilitation and reconstruction of its infrastructure and to sustain and enhance current
municipal programs and services.
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Don Tedford
Director of Development/CBO

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk
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8.4
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Don Tedford, Director of Development/CBO

DATE

May 21, 2019

REPORT

PB-17-19

SUBJECT

Natural Heritage Features

RECOMMENDATION
1.
2.

That Report PB-17-19 – Natural Heritage Features be received; and
That council agree to request Saugeen Conservation not to provide natural heritage
commenting in the provision of its planning services to the Town of Hanover.

BACKGROUND
As the attached March 21, 2019 letter from Wayne Brohman, Saugeen Conservation, indicates,
the board has reversed its previous decision that Saugeen Conservation would no longer provide
natural heritage comments in order to concentrate on its core mandate. Authority Members have
now agreed to once again have Saugeen Conversation provide planning comments regarding
natural heritage if councils specifically request it.
DISCUSSION
The above letter was discussed at the April 19, 2019 Planning Advisory Committee meeting.
Subsequent to a good discussion on how difficult it is to deal with Saugeen Conservation
comments on natural heritage features, i.e., endangered species, as well as the fact that having to
hire a consultant to provide comments on simple applications such as minor variances, consents,
official plan and zoning bylaw amendments, can be costly and very time consuming, it was then:
MOVED BY MARK EBERT / SECONDED BY KEITH HOPKINS
THAT the Planning Advisory Committee recommends to Council that the Conservation Authority
be requested to comment on certain planning applications, such as Plans of Subdivision, major
Official Plans and Zoning Bylaw Amendments that propose significant development.
CARRIED
The County of Grey Planning & Development Department supports Saugeen Conservation
commenting on natural heritage features for all planning applications and the county has passed a
motion to this effect. Conversely, the Town has had numerous conversations on how badly these
natural heritage comments appear to an applicant and the Town, particularly when minor planning
applications cannot be completed in an efficient manner.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no financial implications anticipated as a result of this report.

LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN
This report supports the following Strategic Directions and Goals of the Town of Hanover.

☐Strategic Direction #1: Regional Centre

Goal: To enhance and strengthen Hanover’s position as a regional centre while creating
stronger working relationships with neighbouring municipalities and service providers for our
mutual benefit.
☐Strategic Direction #2: Economic Development
Goal: To create an environment that supports economic diversification and a broader range
of attractive employment opportunities to retain existing residents and businesses and
attract investment and new families to the community.
☐Strategic Direction #3: Community
Goal: To support initiatives that contribute to healthier residents, more active and rewarding
lifestyles and a safer community.
☒Strategic Direction #4: Sustainable Municipal Operations
Goal: To improve financial and operational aspects of the Town for the continued
maintenance, rehabilitation and reconstruction of its infrastructure and to sustain and
enhance current municipal programs and services.
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Don Tedford
Director of Development/CBO

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk
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1078 Bruce Road 12, P.O. Box 150, Formosa ON Canada NOG lWO
Tel 519-367-3040, Fax 519-367-3041, publicinfo@svca.on.ca, www.svca.on.ca

Brian Tocheri
CAO
Town of Hanover

March 21, 2019

Mr. Tocheri,
I am writing to provide an update on the Planning Services agreements between SVCA and upper and lower
tier watershed municipalities and more specifically as those services relate to Natural Heritage commenting by
SVCA.
Last year, under direction of the Authority Members, upper and lower tier municipalities were notified that
SVCA would no longer provide Natural Heritage commenting in order to concentrate on its core mandate. At
its February 19 Authority meeting the Members voted to reconsider the matter of Natural Heritage
commenting at its March meeting. The decision to reconsider resulted from requests by many municipalities
for SVCA to take another look at this issue. At the March 19 Authority meeting the following motion was
passed:
"Moved by: Barbara Dobreen
Seconded by: Paul Allen
Whereas motions G16-80 and G18-69 are interpreted to indicate that SVCA cease providing Natural Heritage
comments under its Planning Services Agreements with upper and lower tier municipalities;
Be it resolved that Natural Heritage comments in the Planning process should continue to be provided to those
counties and municipalities whose councils specifically request the continuation of the provision of Natural
Heritage commenting."
The Town of Hanover will need to provide a council motion requesting that SVCA continue to provide Natural
Heritage commenting in the provision of its planning services if that is what is desired. Please note that the
County of Grey has passed such a motion.
We will await Hanover's decision regarding the Natural Heritage issue before SVCA staff commence preparing
a draft Planning Services Memorandum of Understanding for your review.
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions on this issue or require further clarification .
Regards,

Wayne Brahman
General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer
Saugeen Conservation

Watershed Member Municipalities

Conservation

ONTARIO
Nffur~ Ch..npifJll\

Municipality of Arran-Elderslie, Municipality of Brockton, Township of Chatsworth, Municipality of Grey Highlands,
Town of Hanover, Township of Howick, Munic:ipality of Morrls-Turnberry, Municipality of South Bruce,
Township of Huron-Kinloss, Municipality of Kincardine, Town of Minto, Township of Wellington North,
Town of Saugeen Shores, Township of Southgate, Municipality of West Grey

8.5
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works

DATE

May 21, 2019

REPORT

PW-09-19

SUBJECT

Reconstruction of 5th Street Close Tender

RECOMMENDATION
1. That Report PW-09-19 Reconstruction of 5th Street Close Tender be received;
2. That the project be awarded to JT Excavating Inc. for a tendered cost of $94,315.00 plus
contingency of $10,000 and HST; and
3. That the mayor and clerk be authorized to enter into a contract with JT Excavating Inc.
BACKGROUND
The reconstruction of 5th Street Close (the project) has been identified as a priority in the
municipality’s asset management plan and was approved in the 2019 capital budget. The project
is a residential cul-de-sac west of 15th Avenue constructed as a surface treated roadway in the
mid 1970s.
The cul-de-sac has been resurfaced numerous times and has poor drainage. A buildup of
emulsion from previous resurfacing projects is bleeding through the surface resulting in tar being
tracked into the homes. Further resurfacing will result in a reoccurrence of surface bleeding within
1-2 years.
Cobide Engineering has designed a drainage plan whereby regrading the cul-de-sac will provide
effective drainage to the existing catchbasins. The scope of work involves removal of existing
road base and surface and installation of subdrain, new granular material and repaving with
asphalt.
DISCUSSION
The project tender was advertised in The Post and Biddingo. Four tenders were received by
closing time of 2:00pm on Tuesday, May 7th, 2019 as follows:
Contractors
JT Excavating Inc.
Multiple Enterprises Inc.
Kurtis Smith Excavating Inc.
The Murray Group Limited

Tender Price
(excl. HST and Contingency)
$94,315.00
$124,817.17
$126,000.00
$134,667.50

The tenders were reviewed by Cobide Engineering Inc. for completeness and accuracy. Cobide
Engineering has worked with JT Excavating on development and road extension projects in the
past and are confident in their ability to complete the project on time and on budget. Cobide
Engineering is recommending awarding the project to JT Excavating Inc.

The contractor has indicated that construction would not commence until mid July. A public
meeting with property owners will be scheduled in June. Council and the residents in the area will
be notified of the meeting in advance. Notice of the project will be sent to residents immediately
following council’s approval to proceed.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The budgeted construction amount was $123,000, including contingency allowance and
engineering, plus HST. The low tender by JT Excavating of $94,315, plus contingency and
engineering, results in a total cost of $123,815, plus HST. This is $815 over the estimated
budget.
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN
This report supports the indicated Strategic Directions and Goals of the Town of Hanover.
☐Strategic Direction #1: Regional Centre
Goal: To enhance and strengthen Hanover’s position as a regional centre while creating
stronger working relationships with neighbouring municipalities and service providers for our
mutual benefit.
☐Strategic Direction #2: Economic Development
Goal: To create an environment that supports economic diversification and a broader range of
attractive employment opportunities to retain existing residents and businesses and attract
investment and new families to the community.
☐Strategic Direction #3: Community
Goal: To support initiatives that contribute to healthier residents, more active and rewarding
lifestyles and a safer community.
☒Strategic Direction #4: Sustainable Municipal Operations
Goal: To improve financial and operational aspects of the Town for the continued maintenance,
rehabilitation and reconstruction of its infrastructure and to sustain and enhance current
municipal programs and services.
RECOMMENDATION
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Ron Cooper
Director of Public Works

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk
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May 13, 2019
BY EMAIL ONLY
Tel:519-364-2780
Fax:519-364-6456
Email: rcooper@hanover.ca

Mr. Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works
Corporation of the Town of Hanover
341 10th Street
Hanover, ON N4N 1P5
Subject:

Tender Analysis
5th Street Close Reconstruction
Town of Hanover
O/Ref.: 10016

Dear Mr. Cooper:
On May 7, 2019, the Town of Hanover received four (4) tenders for the 5th Street Close Reconstruction
project. We have reviewed all four (4) bids for completeness and arithmetic correctness. Based on this
review, we found that these four tenders submitted were calculated correctly.
A summary of the four (4) tenders that were received is provided in Table 1, below.
A detailed summary of the tenders received is attached.
Table 1
Tenders Received
Rank

Contractor

Total Tender Amount

1

JT Excavating Inc.

$94,315.00
(excluding HST and Contingency)

2

Multiple Enterprises Inc.

$124,817.17
(excluding HST and Contingency)

3

Kurtis Smith Excavating Inc.

$126,000.00
(excluding HST and Contingency)

4

The Murray Group

$134,667.50
(excluding HST and Contingency)

Engineer’s Estimate

$85,875.00
(excluding HST and Contingency)

Based on the above results, the lowest Tender received for the project was submitted by JT Excavating
Inc. This Tender is approximately $8,500.00 above our Engineer’s Estimate. It should be noted that unit
prices have generally increased from last year’s prices.

COBIDE Engineering Inc.
517 10th Street
Hanover ON N4N 1R4
www.cobideeng.com

The difference in the Engineer’s Estimate and the lowest Tender can be attributed to asphalt prices
having seen a significant increase in the past few months. The AC Index which is used for pricing asphalt
is up almost 40% from this time last year.
That being said, we have worked with JT Excavating Inc. in the past on similar type construction projects
as have neighbouring municipalities and are confident that they will be able to complete this project within
the stipulated timeframe.
If you have any questions regarding the above, please contact the undersigned at 519-506-5959,
extension 101.
Yours truly,

Travis Burnside, P.Eng.
Project Engineer
Encl.
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COBIDE Engineering Inc.
517 10th Street
Hanover ON N4N 1R4
www.cobideeng.com

Project No. 10016

Item
1.0
2.0
3.0
4.0
5.0

Preliminary Cost Estimate Summary
General Construction Items
Removals
Road Works
Contingency
Subtotal (Excluding HST)
13% HST

$
$
$
$
$
$

Total
15,000.00
12,400.00
58,475.00
50,000.00
135,875.00
17,663.75

Total Project Cost Estimate (Including HST)

$

153,538.75

$
$
$

Total
5,000.00
7,500.00
2,500.00

$
$
$
$

$15,000.00
Total
10,125.00
500.00
775.00
1,000.00

1.0
1.01
1.02
1.03

General Construction Items
Mobilization and Demobilization
Materials Testing
Traffic Control

2.0
2.01
2.02
2.03
2.04

Removals
Full Depth Asphalt Removal
Partial Asphalt Removal
Remove Concrete Driveway
Traffic Sign Removal & Replacement

3.0
3.01
3.02
3.03
3.04
3.05
3.06
3.07
3.08
3.09
3.10
3.11
3.12

Road Works
Earth Excavation
Granular 'B' (300mm)
Granular 'A' (150mm)
Imported Fill
Hot Mix- HL4 (50mm)
Hot Mix Miscellaneous
Concrete Driveway Restoration
150mm Dia. Perforated Subdrain
Remove and Replace Frame and Grate
Place Topsoil and Sod
Dust Control
Subgrade and Boulevard Preperation

May 13, 2019

Tender Results
Town of Hanover
5th Street Close

Quantity
100%
100%
100%

Unit
LS
LS
LS

Quantity
1,350
20
31
100%

Unit
m2
m2
m2
LS

Quantity
650
1,100
600
250
180
25
31
130
2
140
100%
100%

Unit
m3
tonne
tonne
tonne
tonne

$
$
$

Unit Price
5,000.00
7,500.00
2,500.00

$
$
$
$

Unit Price
7.50
25.00
25.00
1,000.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Unit Price
7.50
13.00
16.00
10.00
100.00
25.00
100.00
25.00
1,000.00
15.00
1,000.00
2,000.00

Total Section 1.0

Total Section 2.0

Total Section 3 .0
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m2
m2
m
Each
m2
LS
LS

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

12,400.00
Total
4,875.00
14,300.00
9,600.00
2,500.00
18,000.00
625.00
3,100.00
3,250.00
2,000.00
2,100.00
1,000.00
2,000.00

$

58,475.00

J.T. Excavating
$
9,600.00
$
12,685.00
$
72,030.00
$
50,000.00
$
144,315.00
$
18,760.95

$
$
$

Unit Price
4,000.00
5,000.00
600.00

$
$
$
$

Unit Price
8.00
15.00
35.00
500.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Unit Price
12.00
13.00
14.50
10.00
125.00
100.00
70.00
25.00
315.00
12.00
1,000.00
5,000.00

$

163,075.95

$
$
$

Total
4,000.00
5,000.00
600.00

$
$
$
$
$
$

9,600.00
Total
10,800.00
300.00
1,085.00
500.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

12,685.00
Total
7,800.00
14,300.00
8,700.00
2,500.00
22,500.00
2,500.00
2,170.00
3,250.00
630.00
1,680.00
1,000.00
5,000.00

$

72,030.00

Multiple Enterprises Inc.
$
12,560.00
$
8,406.67
$ 103,850.50
$
50,000.00
$ 174,817.17
$
22,726.23

$
$
$

Unit Price
3,525.00
7,280.00
1,755.00

$
$
$
$

Unit Price
3.90
33.00
34.00
1,427.67

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Unit Price
16.00
17.10
27.40
17.10
165.00
43.00
137.00
45.55
920.00
40.00
1,042.00
4,500.00

Kurtis Smith Excavating
$ 26,000.00
$ 12,000.00
$ 88,000.00
$ 50,000.00
$ 176,000.00
$ 22,880.00

The Murray Group
$ 17,430.00
$
9,110.50
$ 108,127.00
$ 50,000.00
$ 184,667.50
$ 24,006.78

$ 198,880.00

$ 208,674.28

$

197,543.40

$
$
$

Total
3,525.00
7,280.00
1,755.00

Unit Price
$ 14,800.00
$ 8,400.00
$ 2,800.00

12,560.00
Total
5,265.00
660.00
1,054.00
1,427.67

Unit Price
8.00
$
$
25.00
$
20.00
$
80.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

8,406.67
Total
10,400.00
18,810.00
16,440.00
4,275.00
29,700.00
1,075.00
4,247.00
5,921.50
1,840.00
5,600.00
1,042.00
4,500.00

Unit Price
20.00
$
$
13.00
$
16.00
$
12.00
$
152.00
$
100.00
$
120.00
40.00
$
900.00
$
$
20.00
$
720.00
$ 4,000.00

$

103,850.50

$
$
$
$
$
$

Total
14,800.00
8,400.00
2,800.00

Unit Price
$ 5,450.00
$ 4,760.00
$ 7,220.00

26,000.00
Total
10,800.00
500.00
620.00
80.00

Unit Price
$
5.30
$
40.00
$
29.50
$
241.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

12,000.00
Total
13,000.00
14,300.00
9,600.00
3,000.00
27,360.00
2,500.00
3,720.00
5,200.00
1,800.00
2,800.00
720.00
4,000.00

Unit Price
$
14.00
$
23.50
$
32.00
$
27.00
$
113.00
$
51.00
$
279.00
27.10
$
$ 1,120.00
$
19.00
$ 2,340.00
$ 6,200.00

$

88,000.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Total
5,450.00
4,760.00
7,220.00
17,430.00
Total
7,155.00
800.00
914.50
241.00
9,110.50
Total
9,100.00
25,850.00
19,200.00
6,750.00
20,340.00
1,275.00
8,649.00
3,523.00
2,240.00
2,660.00
2,340.00
6,200.00

$ 108,127.00

9.1
AGE-FRIENDLY ADVISORY COMMITTEE MINUTES

Tuesday, April 16, 2019 | 2:00 pm
P & H Centre | Boardroom
MEMBERS PRESENT

Ed King | Anne Marie Shaw | Ed Hotchkiss | Dorothy Adams |
Norma Graham | Amber Schieck

OTHERS PRESENT

Sherri Walden | Lorraine Pries | Lyndsay Regier

REGRETS

Warren Dickert | Sandra Hong

1. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST – Nil.
2. ADOPTION OF March 19, 2019 MEETING MINUTES
Moved by E. King l Seconded by N. Graham
THAT the minutes of the March 19, 2019 meeting be approved as printed and
circulated. CARRIED.
3. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
Included in the Age-Friendly package emailed out on April 10, 2019 and hard copies
were available to committee members.
3.1.

Opening Doors for Accessibility – Kitchener Waterloo

3.2.

60 is the new 30 – Six ways being active keeps you young – Participation

3.3.

Seguin kids, seniors work together at crockpot event (Parry Sound) – article
included in agenda package however font is small when printed; direct link to
article
https://www.parrysound.com/community-story/9229348-seguin-kids-seniorswork-together-at-crockpot-event/

3.4.

Is your business / service ‘age-friendly? (Wasaga Beach) – article included in
agenda package however font is small when printed; direct link to article
https://www.simcoe.com/opinion-story/9140388-is-your-business-service-agefriendly-/

4. ITEMS FOR DIRECTION | DISCUSSION
4.1. Age Friendly Action Plan Initiatives – Committee members indicated their top 2
priorities of the five Age-Friendly objectives. Based on committee input the top 2
objectives were Age Friendly Business and Age Friendly week. The five objectives
are:
1. Age-Friendly Business

2. Age-Friendly week
3. Pedestrian signal crossing
4. Partner with Launch Pad re: older adult/daytime programming
5. Bench Sponsorship Program. (Committee suggest #5 be part of #1.)
Further committee input focused on the 2 priorities

As a large group we should define and create a list of tasks and goals we
want to accomplish.

Create smaller groups to take on specific tasks.

Have a public meeting to get input. Include groups such as PROBUS, Seniors
Friendship Club, VON SMART exercise group, tenants – Grey County
Housing, have a questionnaire for people to fill out if they wish.

See if Four County Labour Market Board has any business examples.

Partner with SEDC, Economic Development, Chamber (book luncheon for
early 2020), DIA
ACTION: Committee members research Age-Friendly Business initiatives
https://agefriendlyontario.ca/afc-resources#AFB. Once on webpage – click on
the 5th link from the bottom of the list: Age-Friendly Businesses. Make notes
of what program aspects you like (ie. Headings, checklist area). Send notes to
S. Walden by May 10, 2019. Some other links to review are: Some other links
to review are: Access to a webinar recording, slides & resources re agefriendly business (Wawa & Thunder Bay) https://sagelink.ca/webinar-afc-agefriendly-business and Simcoe County
https://www.simcoe.ca/LongTermCare/Documents/Instructions%20-%20AgeFriendly%20Business%20Organization%20Guide%20and%20Recognition%2
0Program.pdf




Age Friendly Week
When should we have our event? November – Fall Prevention Month,
October 1st is National Seniors Day, June is Seniors Month. Committee
decided to focus on doing a Age-Friendly Day on October 1st.
Committee members provided input for what activities/events could be
implemented on that day. Revera, Library – Afternoon Tea with…, VON
SMART exercise, Aquamotion/Aquafit, Carpet Bowling, 211, Displays (Home
& Community Support Services), Chair Yoga, Minds in Motion, Heritage
Archives Room open, volunteer opportunities, have try and learn activities.
Suggested promote existing activities that occur on that day.

4.2.

Meeting Guest Speakers – Committee members provided ideas for guest
speakers. Possible guest speakers are Ron Cooper, Don Tedford (Planning,
sidewalks), County (Pedestrian signal crossing) and Transportation. Noted a
speaker is not needed for every meeting.

4.3.

Committee members – Committee consensus is that we need to recruit 2
members to be at full compliment. ACTION: S. Walden to confirm direction for
recruitment.
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5. ROUNDTABLE
5.1.

On May 9, 2019 there will be a ‘Coffee with a Lawyer’ at the Library and focus will
be on Estate Law from 10:30 – 12:00pm.

5.2.

There will be a Seniors Summit on September 24 and 25 at the Bayshore Centre
put on by the Council of Aging. There will be a small ticket fee. More details will
follow

5.3.

Canadian Armed Forces will be conducting a training exercise in Hanover April 2628, 2019.

6. NEXT MEETING

Tuesday, May 21, 2019 l 2:00 pm | P & H Centre Boardroom

7. ADJOURNMENT
Moved by E. King
THAT the meeting adjourned at 3:40 pm
___________________________________________
Committee Chair
___________________________________________
Sherri Walden, Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture
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9.2
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE MINUTES
Wednesday, April 17, 2019 | 9:00am
Wood Shop at Launch Pad, 612 10th Street, Hanover, ON
MEMBERS PRESENT

Dave Hocking | Mike Schierz | Bev Morgan | Dave Ford | | Ed
Hotchkiss | Alicia Mawhinney | Marie David

REGRETS

Dave Eccles |Curtis Schmalz

OTHERS PRESENT

April Marshall | Don Tedford | Brenda Goetz | Kendra Mantler

DISCLOSURE OF
PECUNIARY INTEREST

Nil

DELEGATIONS

Emily Morrison, Executive Director, Launch Pad

In the absence of Chair Dave Eccles, Dave Hocking assumed the role.
Acting Chair Dave Hocking welcomed Emily Morrison. Emily welcomed all members to the new wood
shop. There is a retired group of woodworkers who have offered their assistance with the construction of
the shop. Launch Pad began offering programs in January, for which have been very popular. As well,
West Bros. and YMCA are proposing to set up pre-employment training programs. An Open House will
be held on Friday, April 26 from 11:00am to 6:00pm.
The Annual General Meeting is being held on June 5, showcasing IBM Technovation2019, an
international mobile app competition for girls to create solutions to problems within the community.
Launch Pad is offering field trips to all local schools, over a two-day period, to highlight programs e.g.
computer, sewing, welding, cooking, etc. Partnerships are being formed to connect youth with community.
Funding for transportation through SEDC has ended. Emily has reached out to municipalities for financial
assistance. Grey County may have funding available. Other funding options are being explored.
The Student Start-Up Program (SSUP) is being promoted to youth in the Entrepreneurship Program. A
booth will be set up at the Farmers Market during July and August for youth to once again sell their
products and promote Launch Pad.
Sage Martin will be baking delicious cookies for the upcoming AMCTO Zone Meeting, to promote Launch
Pad.
DISCUSSIONS & DECISIONS
1.

Adoption of March 20th, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes
Moved by DAVE FORD / Seconded by BEV MORGAN
THAT the minutes of the March 20th, 2019 Regular Meeting be approved as printed and
circulated.
CARRIED

2.

Business Arising from Minutes
A. Marshall confirmed that funding has been approved for a Hotel Feasibility Study.
Awaiting approval to announce TDF grant and issue RFP, possibly May. To be completed
by the end of 2019.

3.

Economic Development Strategic Plan Goals & Action Plan Update
A booth will be set up at the Hanover Home & Garden Show on April 13th and 14th.
A. Marshall updated the Committee members that the Brew Academy has been cancelled
for the week of April 8th, due to lack of enrollment. It is our hopes that the program can be
rescheduled for the fall, accompanied by a targeted marketing campaign.
A. Marshall stated that 18 resumes were received for the Municipal Internship Program.
The EDC ‘Champions’, Emily Morrison and April Marshall will be reviewing applicants and
interviewing short-listed applicants on April 24th. The successful candidate will start in May.
Applicants were asked to provide a one page report ‘If you could implement one change or
new initiative for youth in the Town of Hanover today, what would it be and how will you
get there?’
The sixth Intake of the Façade Incentive Program is open and accepting applications,
concentrating on Public Art.
Saugeen Connects SSUP – local sponsors to date Hanover Raceway, Meridian, Grey
County, Hanover Chamber of Commerce. Promoted to youth – presented to JDSS
Business class. Launch Pad will be offering a resume writing/soft skills course. Reaching
out to elementary schools to do presentations as well.
After further review of the draft Cultural Plan with the steering committee, it was decided to
postpone bringing it to Council. It was decided that the consultants spend more time
personalizing it, simplifying the language and inputting additional resources as it relates to
timelines and potential funding opportunities.

4.

EDC Champions
Cultural Plan – Dave Hocking, Ed Hotchkiss
Signage Plan – Bev Morgan, Curtis Schmalz
Youth Intern – Curtis Schmalz, Bev Morgan, Dave Ford
Hotel Feasibility – Dave Eccles, Dave Ford, Mike Schierz
WOWSA – Kendra Mantler, Alicia Mawhinney, Marie David
BR&E – Mike Schierz, Ed Hotchkiss
Saugeen Connects – Dave Eccles, Dave Hocking
FIP – Marie David, Alicia Mawhinney

5.

Grey County Economic Development Update
Touring Sydenham School on the April 29th.
Working with all farmers’ markets on a combined marketing campaign this year to cross
promote one another and build awareness and participation.

6.

Community Improvement Partnership Report
K. Mantler stated that Atmosphere will be released next week, featuring Business Profiles
from Electrical Contacts Limited (ECL) and East Link. Visitors Guide will be mail-dropped
to residents. Attending the Grey County Brochure Swap in May.
A grant is being pursued for a summer student to assist with Sights & Sounds Festival,
and other events.
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Still awaiting notification of status of Celebrate Ontario grant application.
An application to the Main Street Digital Grant has been submitted to OBIA (Ontario
Business Improvement Association). Funding will support educating and building main
street businesses digital presence. Tech360 has been approved as a vendor through the
program.
The summer radio ad tags were discussed
K. Mantler updated the Committee regarding changes to this year’s Sights & Sounds
Festival.
7.

Chamber of Commerce Update
K. Mantler stated that the Annual General Meeting was March 27th. Erin Aldridge has
been transferred to manage Meridian’s Port Elgin branch, but will maintain position as
President through term. The next Chamber luncheon will be held at Gateway Casino.
2019 Schedule of Events is finalized.

8.

Saugeen Municipal Airport Update
The Committee members agreed that this item remain on future agendas.
The Airport has a new manager, Steve Rouse. The Commission, consisting of Council
Representatives from Brockton, Hanover, West Grey and other stakeholders, is
considering fundraising initiatives. Communications with Bruce Power has commenced, to
share information about the Airport and service provided. COPA Flight 54 will be held in
the near future.

9.

Website & Social Media Analytics
A. Marshall highlighted the social media tracking document.

10.

Correspondence
10.1.

Hanover Building Stats – 1st Quarter Report 2019
D. Tedford highlighted the report, acknowledging building is down from 2018.

10.2.

Integrity Commissioner Training - May 1, 2019
Committee members are strongly encouraged to attend this training.

10.3.

Employer One 2019 Final Report
This notice was circulated for members’ information. It was suggested that Gemma
Mendez-Smith attend a future meeting to apprise the Committee members.

10.4.

Joint 3 EDC Meeting Invite
This notice was circulated for members’ information.

10.5.

Saugeen Connects Labour Diversification 101
This notice was circulated for members’ information. This is an introduction session
for employers to assist them in their recruitment efforts, specifically relating to
hiring new Canadians.

10.6.

Warden’s Breakfast
This notice was circulated for members’ information.

11.

New Business
11.7.

Launch Pad Wood Shop Open House
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Members were reminded about the Open House being held on Friday, April 26
from 11:00am to 6:00pm.
12.

Adjournment
Moved by DAVE FORD
THAT this meeting now be adjourned at 10:57am.

_______________________________
Acting Chair, Dave Hocking

_______________________________
Committee Secretary, April Marshall
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9.3
HANOVER HERITAGE COMMITTEE MINUTES
Thursday, April 18, 2019 | 10:00 am
Archive Room | St. Matthew’s Evangelical Lutheran Church
MEMBERS PRESENT

Al Morrow l Kay Horan l Jim Rahn | Joe Schlatman

OTHERS PRESENT

Sherri Walden

REGRETS

Harold Fleet | George Rahn | Stu Lamont

1.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST - Nil

2.

ADOPTION OF February 21, 2019 MINUTES
Moved by K. Horan l Seconded by Jason Rahn
That the minutes of the February 21, 2019 regular meeting be approved as printed and
circulated .
CARRIED

3.

4.

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
3.1

Display Case – Change will occur in late May with theme to be determined.

3.2

New Archive Acquisitions – JDSS items including sports banners, plaques, crests,
clothing, many photos and number of other items. Donations from Anglican Church
including furniture, war photos, 2 glass wine cups from Hassengager family and many
other items. Other items received: Knechtel catalogues, fall fair books 1960s to 1980s

ITEMS FOR DIRECTION DISCUSSION
4.1 JDSS Closing Doors Reunion – Sat. May 4, 2019, 9:30 to 11:30am. All committee

members available are encouraged to be at archives room. ACTION: S. Walden to
purchase refreshment supplies. S. Walden to forward message for town
marquees.

5.

4.2

Building Recognition signs 2019 – Location content reviewed. ACTION: J. Schlatman
and Jason Rahn to approach businesses. S. Walden to prepare the sign
acknowledgement forms.

4.3

Archives – Heritage Committee has expanded into expanded space. Shelf units have
been received. Work days to occur over next 2 weeks. Effective January 1, 2019 the
donation for the use of the space will be $2.00 per square foot (approximately
$1,800.00) ACTION: A. Morrow to forward archive work days and times to
members.

NEW BUSINESS
5.1

Photos of heritage / museum display space at Grey County building shared.

5.2

6.

Canadian Armed Forces training in Hanover April 26-28, 2019 noted.

NEXT MEETING – Thursday, June 19, 2019 | 10 am | Winkler Room

7. ADJOURNMENT
THAT this meeting be adjourned at 10:45 am.

___________________________________________
Committee Chair
____________________________________________
Sherri Walden, Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture
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9.4

HANOVER-WALKERTON WASTE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MINUTES
Wednesday, April 24, 2019 | 1:00pm
Winkler Room / Hanover Civic Centre
MEMBERS PRESENT:

Ron Cooper l Warren Dickert l Gregg Furtney l Bruce Davidson l Chris
Oberle l Ed King

OTHERS PRESENT:

None

MEMBERS ABSENT:

None

1.

INTRODUCTION OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The Committee welcomed Gregg Furtney, Director of Operations for Municipality of Brockton.

2.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST - None

3.

ADOPTION OF PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES
Moved by CHRIS OBERLE / Seconded by WARREN DICKERT
THAT the minutes of January 23, 2019 meeting be approved as printed and circulated.
CARRIED
The minutes have been approved by both Hanover and Brockton Council.

4.

BUSINESS ARISING - None

5.

ITEMS FOR DECISION/DISCUSSION
5.1 Polystyrene Densifier
 Bruce Davidson provided the Committee on the commissioning of the densifier and
timelines as follows:
o Staff training to commence May 1st
o Start accepting styrofoam at the Hanover/Walkerton Landfill Site and
Walkerton Recycling Depot as of May 15th
o Operational launch and open house end of May at Walkerton Recycling Depot
(date to be confirmed)
The Committee discussed polystyrene #6 meat trays and food containers which there
will be test trials to determine feasibility of acceptance of this material.
5.2 Landfill Site Operator
 Ron Cooper advised that Jason Miskie has been hired for the landfill site operator
position effective May 1st, 2019.
5.3 Household Hazardous Waste Events
 Item deferred to next meeting
5.4 Annual Monitoring and Reporting



Ron Cooper advised that a request for proposal has been issued which closes April
30th, 2019.

5.5 Tree Planting along north Boundary
 The Committee reviewed the Mitigation Plan prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd. for
the landfill expansion which has been completed
 Additional larger trees were transplanted along the northerly boundary in 2018 which
due to a wind storm no tall trees survived.
 The Committee agreed to replant the trees along the north boundary that did not
survive.
6.

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION/CORRESPONDENCE
6.1 Integrity Commissioner Training – May 1st
 Bruce Davidson and Chris Oberle confirmed that they have taken training through
Brockton
 Gregg Furtney is registered for training as well as the Hanover Committee members.
6.2 Landfill Monthly Report
 The Committee reviewed the landfill monthly quantity report to March 31st, 2019 (see
attached). It was noted that there was a decrease in residential quantities delivered to
the site.
6.3 Landfill Operational Report
 The Committee reviewed the site operator’s reports for January, February and March
2019 with no concerns.
6.4 2019 Landfill Budget
 The Committee reviewed the 2019 landfill budget status to March 31st, 2019 with no
concerns.
6.5 Public Input on Reducing Litter and Waste
 The Committee reviewed a media release on Keeping Bruce-Grey Owen Sound Clean
and Beautiful from Bill Walker, MPP regarding a discussion posted on the
Environment Registry looking at ways to divert and reduce food and organic waste
from households and businesses and increase opportunities for people to participate
in waste reduction efforts.
6.6 Correspondence from Chris Oberle
 Chris Oberle provide information for discussion on the following items:
1. Meetings of the Committee
 The Committee agreed to hold meetings on a bi-monthly basis.
2. Tree Berm
 Trees to be replanted that did not survive along the north boundary.
3. Residential Passes
 Brockton Council expressed concerns and felt that the
reinstatement of residential passes for Hanover residents should
have been discussed at the Waste Management Committee. It was
confirmed that Hanover would be paying the tipping fee for waste
accepted through free passes as an additional cost to the
municipality.
4. Recycling Area
 The Committee discussed the recycling depot bins which through a
tender process are currently provided by Waste Management of
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Canada until December 31st, 2020. This service will be reviewed
prior to retendering.
7.

NEW BUSINESS - None

8.

NEXT MEETING
 The next Waste Management Committee meeting will be Thursday, May 9th, 2019,
1:00pm at the Walkerton Fire Hall.

9.

ADJOURNMENT
Moved by ED KING / Seconded by BRUCE DAVIDSON
THAT the meeting be adjourned at 2:43pm.

CARRIED

Minutes prepared by Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works
______________________________________
Chair/Secretary, Ron Cooper
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RECEIVABLES (TONNES)
HANOVER RESIDENTIAL CURBSIDE PICKUP
HANOVER CLEAN UP
NO. OF PASSES USED - HANOVER
WALKERTON RESIDENTIAL CURBSIDE PICKUP
HANOVER PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS (ARENA INCLUDED)
WALKERTON PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS
RESIDENTIAL (HANOVER/WALKERTON COMBINED)
RESIDENTIAL - HANOVER ONLY
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COMMERCIAL (HANOVER/WALKERTON COMBINED)
COMMERCIAL - HANOVER ONLY
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GRANULAR 'B'
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ASPHALT - HANOVER PUBLIC WORKS
ASHPALT - HANOVER CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS
ASPHALT - OTHER SOURCES
CLEAN FILL - HANOVER PUBLIC WORKS
CLEAN FILL - WALKERTON PUBLIC WORKS
CLEAN FILL - HANOVER CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS
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CLEAN FILL - OTHER SOURCES
TOPSOIL - HANOVER PUBLIC WORKS
TOPSOIL - OTHER SOURCES
CONCRETE - HANOVER PUBLIC WORKS
CONCRETE-HANOVER CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS
CONCRETE - OTHER SOURCES
DIVERSIONS (TONNES)
RECYCLABLES
CARDBOARD
DRYWALL
SHINGLES
METAL (out)
STYROFOAM
BRUSH
COMPOST (includes Wood Chips)
FILM PLASTICS
TOTAL DIVERSIONS
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MAR

57.11

59.66

47.48
2.94
2.32
41.03
21.39
19.64
187.65
132.92
54.73
0.29
0.00
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4
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36.72
2.48
2.77
32.00
18.23
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0.00
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1.78
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0.00
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415.70
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0.00
8.63
0.00
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0.00
0.00

20.14
7.79
7.39
0.00
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8.15
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43.62

16.08
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0.00
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0.00
0.86
0.00
0.44
25.82

15.82
6.94
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0.00
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6.25
6.73
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35.74
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TOTAL YTD
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0.77
5.00
117.82
11.09
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126.86
71.14
55.72
616.39
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16.00
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0.00

0.00
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%
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4.59%

115.95
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23.56
145.72
81.22
64.50
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280.32
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29.00
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8.55

1.61%
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-55.39%
-12.94%
-12.41%
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-11.11%
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0.00
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15.26
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9.26 -20.19%
9.95 -100.00%
67.07 -100.00%
0.00
24.56 -37.87%
18.58 -63.78%
0.59
0.00%
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HANOVER-WALKERTON WASTE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MINUTES
Thursday, May 9, 2019 | 1:00pm
Walkerton Fire Hall
MEMBERS PRESENT:

Ron Cooper l Warren Dickert l Gregg Furtney l Chris Oberle
l Ed King l Bruce Davidson (left meeting at 2:15pm)

OTHERS PRESENT:

None

MEMBERS ABSENT:

None

1.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST – None declared.

2.

REVIEW OF DENSIFIER
Bruce Davidson provided a tour of and demonstration of the densifier. Currently
approximately 800 lbs of styrofoam have been processed equivalent to a 53 ft. tractor trailer
load reduced to a size of approximately 3ft x 3ft x 6ft.

3.

ADOPTION OF PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES
Moved by CHRIS OBERLE / Seconded by WARREN DICKERT
THAT the minutes of April 24, 2019 meeting be approved as printed and circulated.
CARRIED

4.

BUSINESS ARISING - None

5.

ITEMS FOR DECISION/DISCUSSION
5.1 Polystyrene Densifier
The operational launch open house is scheduled for May 31st at the Walkerton
Recycling Depot from 1:30pm to 2:30pm.
Through a partnership with the Canadian Plastics Industry and Association and Bruce
Power this has enabled polystyrene foam to be collected again and to process it for
efficient shipping to send markets using polystyrene densification.
Invitations will be sent to representatives of surrounding municipalities, community
representatives and recycling supporters
5.2 Landfill Site Operator
The Committee reviewed a report from Ron Cooper regarding the tender submissions
from Photech Environmental Solutions and Brendor Environmental Inc. represents an
increase of approximately $1,400 or 8% with pricing being held for 2019 and 2020.

Moved by BRUCE DAVIDSON / Seconded by WARREN DICKERT
THAT the Hanover/Walkerton Waste Management Committee approve the
acceptance of the proposal from Brendor Environmental Inc. with 2019 Household
Hazardous Waste events to be held in Hanover on June 22nd and in Walkerton on
October 19th from 10:00am to 2:00pm with both municipalities being able to attend the
events.
CARRIED
5.3 Household Hazardous Waste Events
The Committee reviewed a report from Ron Cooper regarding the request for proposal
(RFP) for annual environmental monitoring and reporting for the period of May 1st 2019
to April 30th, 2020. Attached are the prices for the services required for the three year
term of 2019, 2020, and 2021 inclusive of all labour, materials and disbursements.
The proposal from Cobide Engineering Inc. in the amount of $238,540.00 + HST
represents an approximate $125,000.00 saving over the three year term of 34%.
Moved by CHRIS OBERLE / Seconded by WARREN DICKERT
THAT the Hanover/Walkerton Waste Management Committee approve the
acceptance of the proposal from Cobide Engineering Inc. to provide annual
environmental monitoring and reporting for the Hanover/Walkerton Landfill Site for the
period of May 1st, 2019 to April 30th, 2022.
CARRIED
5.4 Annual Monitoring and Reporting
The Committee reviewed the background, purpose, site capacity and site life,
conclusions and recommendations from the 2018 Annual Monitoring Report provided
by WSP Canada Inc. Based upon the three year average volume the remaining
capacity in Cell 1 is 2.2 years.
The Committee discussed previous estimates that construction of Cell No. 2 would be
required by 2023 of an estimated cost of $1,600,00.00 of which approximately
$800,000.00 is in Landfill reserves account as of December 31st, 2018.
Based upon the three-year average volume the remaining site life for the landfill site is
36 years or 2055.
A copy of the report was provided to Gregg Furtney and will be posted on the Hanover
website.
5.5 Financial Statements to December 31st, 2018
The Committee reviewed the drafts of the financial audit to December 31st, 2018
completed by BDP Canada LLP.
Moved by ED KING l Seconded by CHRIS OBERLE
THAT the Hanover/Walkerton Waste Management Committee accept the audited
financial statement as presented by BDO Canada LLP and recommend acceptance by
both Councils.
CARRIED
5.6 Landfill Closure Day – Deferred to next meeting
6.

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION/CORRESPONDENCE
6.1 Landfill Operational Report – The committee reviewed the site operator’s reports for
April 2019 with no concerns
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6.2

Don’t Toss Recycling in the Garbage – The Committee reviewed an article from the
Globe and Mail regarding investigating or implementing bans on straws and other
single-use plastics.

7.

NEW BUSINESS - None

8.

NEXT MEETING – The next Waste Management Committee meetings are as follows:



9.

Friday June 7th at 9:00am – Winkler Room Hanover followed by Landfill tour
Wednesday September 11th at 1:00pm – Walkerton Library Gallery Room

ADJOURNMENT
Moved by ED KING / Seconded by GREGG FURTNEY
THAT the meeting be adjourned at 2:43pm.

CARRIED

Minutes prepared by Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works

______________________________________
Chair/Secretary, Ron Cooper
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9.5
PARKS, RECREATION & CULTURE ADVISORY COMMITTEE MINUTES
Wednesday, May 8, 2019 | 7:00 pm
P & H Centre | Boardroom
MEMBERS PRESENT

Tony Diaco | Hazel Pratt-Paige | Brandon Koebel | Mike Schierz |
Ryan Enright (departed at 8:10pm) | Neil Simpson

OTHERS PRESENT

Sherri Walden | Lyndsay Regier | Tom Karl

REGRETS

Keith Hopkins

1.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST – Nil.

2.

ADOPTION OF March 27, 2019 MINUTES
Moved by N. Simpson | Seconded by R. Enright
THAT the minutes of the March 27, 2019 regular meeting be approved as printed and
circulated. CARRIED.

3.

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION / CORRESPONDENCE
The following reports were included in the meeting package sent by email on April 18, 2019.
3.1 PRC-03-19 Canadian Armed Forces Training Exercise in Hanover
3.2 PRC-02-19 Trails – Safety Meeting Follow-up and Action Plan

4.

STAFF REPORTS
4.1 Aquatics & Programs – Report included in meeting package sent by email on April
18, 2019.


Senior Games have commenced.



Senior Star Newsletter distributed via direct mail to Hanover resident.



Summer camps – Planning and preparation has begun.



Canada Day entertainment – looking for new local groups.



Swim Meets were successful the last weekend in March
o Special Olympics Provincial Qualifiers meet with approximately 100
participants.
o Hanover Swim Club meet had approximately 60 participants.



Spring lessons and going well. We are half way through evening lessons and
board of education lessons.



Advance Courses are full (most overenrolled to accommodate waitlists)



FloatFit is full for both sessions.



Entering 2nd year of OSRCF Grant – will start looking at Aqua Fitness Pole
program research and implementation.

4.2 Manager of Parks & Recreation Facilities– Report included in meeting package sent
by email on April 18, 2019.
 The storage shed at the soccer fields has been removed and will be replaced
with a 20’ shipping container.

5.



In the process of completing ball diamond maintenance for the upcoming
season that will start May 13 weather permitting.



The ice plant condenser seal was replaced in the main body of the unit.



Canadian Armed Forces April 26, 27 & 28 and JDSS Closing Doors Reunion
May 4 had positive feedback from the both groups. JDSS Closing Doors
Reunion had over 1100 people at the dance.

ITEMS FOR DIRECTION | DISCUSSION
5.1 Integrity Commissioner Presentation Highlights – May 1, 2019 – Committee
discussed presentation highlights. ACTION: S. Walden to send out presentation slides
to committee members to review.
5.2 Trails ‘eyes & ears’ Volunteers Meeting – April 30, 2019 – Meeting went really well
with 50+ residents attending. Volunteers who are interested need to have forms
submitted by May 10.
5.3 Trails bridge update – Still looking at alternatives for bridges with assistance from
Cobide Engineering. Options that are being considered include trail re-route, restore
the bridges or replace with a pedestrian bridge.
5.4 PRC Master Plan
5.4.1.
2019 Quarter 1 Statistics reviewed and included. Attached to minutes.
 Programs – Registered
 Pool – General Admission Programs ACTION: Add a monthly
maximum, highest day total and the difference (+/-) between the
previous years.
 Facility Usage Hours
5.4.2.

RZone
Example Policy Documents – Middlesex Centre and North Perth included
in meeting package. Current discussions as joint initiative with West Grey
| Brockton | Hanover. Management Team supports a Town wide RZone
policy. Committee discussed briefly and consensus is that the policy
should be pursued for implementation.

5.4.3.

Program Inventory (community wide) Draft example of information
included in meeting package. Committee discussed if there was any other
information to be included in this inventory document.
ACTION: Suggestions included,
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a) add participation numbers for programs
b) when does the program operate in the year
c) if the program is free or if it has a fee.
5.4.4.

6.

Parks – Functional Assessment Update – Janine Dunlop will be providing
facilitation assistance to help us develop a tool for our parks assessment.
She will be attending our next May 22 meeting to facilitate our first input.

OTHER BUSINESS
6.1 Inquiry if there has been any interest regarding lacrosse being offered in Hanover.
Lacrosse is provided in Durham at this time and there hasn’t been any inquires to host
at our facility.
6.2 Inquiry about the facility rental rates being listed on the Town website. Rates are not
published on the Town website because there are a number of variables that can be
involved in the facility rental fee. Phone number for inquiries is on the website.

7.

NEXT MEETING

8.

ADJOURNMENT

Wednesday, May 22, 2019 | 7:00pm

Moved by B. Koebel | Seconded by M. Schierz
That the meeting be adjourned at 8:45pm. CARRIED.
_____________________________________
Committee Chair
_________________________________________
Sherri Walden, Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture
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9.6
HANOVER CEMETERY BOARD MEETING MINUTES
Monday, May 13, 2019 1:00pm
Winkler Room | Civic Centre
MEMBERS PRESENT

Linda Vallie | Harold Fleet l Gary Rahn (arrived at 1:35)l Len Karl l
Ray Pegelo

MEMBERS ABSENT

None

STAFF PRESENT

Ron Cooper (Chair) l Marianne Lamont l Nicole Wilken

OTHERS PRESENT

Adam Mighton l John Mighton

______________________________________________________________________________
1.

Introduction of New Staff


2.

Ron introduced Nicole Wilken to everyone stating that she would be taking over
Cemetery administration as of June 3rd.

Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest


None

3.

Adoption of Previous Minutes – February 4th, 2019

4.

Moved by LEN KARL l Seconded by LINDA VALLIE
THAT the minutes of February 4th, 2019 meeting be approved as printed and circulated.
CARRIED
Business Arising/Follow Up from Previous Meetings
4.1 Cremation Urn Covering



5.

Delivered from Durrer Floor Coverings. Adam gave a demonstration as to how it
works.
R. Cooper to get second covering made as fabric purchased was for two
coverings.

Items for Discussion
5.1 Status of Interments/Inurnments
 The Cemetery Board reviewed internment/inurnments as well as plot and niche sales
to April 30th, 2019 with no concerns expressed
5.2 Budget Status
 Committee reviewed budget status to March 31st, 2019 reflecting mainly winter
operations which approximately $6,300 or 8.4% of budgeted wages have been
expended
 $57,000 has been budgeted towards cemetery operations for 2019
5.3 Cemetery Staffing
Ron Cooper advised that cemetery staffing consists of a cemetery caretaker full time
and a cemetery attendant (3 day/week) April to November as well as a summer
student May to August

5.4 Cemetery Operations and Management Course
-

Don Karn attending course being held in Ripley June 17th to 20th. Everyone thought it
was a good idea that Don was taking the course

5.5 Memorial Tree/Memorial Bench Program
-

The Cemetery Board reviewed the Memorial Tree and Memorial Bench program
policy. It was agreed to develop a brochure similar to the Columbarium to promote on
the Town website and have available at Mighton Funeral Home
5.6 Decoration Day
-

6.
`

7.

Hanover Legion has set the date for Decoration Day on Sunday June 2, 2019 @
2:00pm. M. Lamont reported that the Legion was taking care of the program and
inviting guest speakers to the ceremony and that Town of Hanover will be advertising
the event in The POST, on the town website and electronic marquee at the Civic
Centre. Notices were also mailed to local churches asking them to place in their
bulletins distributed to members. Town staff will also be on hand for the set up (chairs
and PA system) before 2:00pm and tear down after event completed. The chapel
would be available for use if weather does not cooperate.

New Business
Winter Burials
-

L. Vallie inquired about winter burials

-

The Town will continue to do winter burials as per Winter Internment Procedures
Policy as winter conditions allow

-

It was requested that staff looking at attachments for the backhoe to assist with frost

Next Meeting
Monday, August 12th – 9:00am (Civic Centre meeting followed by Cemetery site tour)

8.

Adjournment
Motion to adjourn at 2:35pm

9.

Cemetery Site Tour
The meeting was followed by a tour with the following being reviewed
- The columbarium area was reviewed which improvements have been made but
requires further maintenance
- The storage of onsite materials in concrete block compartments further away from the
Columbarium will be constructed when site conditions are drier
- The northerly entrance pillars to the westerly section of the Cemetery were reviewed.
Due to deterioration it was suggested to have them removed. Ron will follow up with
the family as there is a donor plaque on pillars

__________________________________
Ron Cooper, Chairman
__________________________________
Nicole Wilken, Secretary
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9.7
PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE MINUTES
Tuesday, May 14, 2019 | 5:00pm
Winkler Room/Civic Centre
MEMBERS PRESENT

Chair Tim Norwood | Vice Chair Mark Ebert | Harold Fleet | Terry
Leis | Bruce Sickel | Keith Hopkins

MEMBERS ABSENT

Nil

OTHERS PRESENT

Don Tedford, Secretary-Treasurer | Brenda Goetz, Deputy
Secretary-Treasurer | April Marshall, Economic Development
Manager

DISCLOSURE OF
PECUNIARY INTEREST

Nil

DELEGATIONS

NIl

1.

Adoption of April 9th, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes
Moved by BRUCE SICKEL / Seconded by TERRY LEIS
THAT the minutes of the April 9th, 2019 regular meeting be approved as printed and
circulated.

2.

Business arising from Minutes

CARRIED

The Secretary-Treasurer stated that the Public Meeting for Zoning Bylaw Amendment (File
Z2-19) as outlined in Item #8 is Tuesday, May 21, 2019. As well, a staff report relating to
Item #9.1 will be presented to Hanover Council for their consideration.
2.1.

Consent Application No. B4-18--------------Datak Investments c/o Smith, Jamie
Deferred for Grey County Transportation site review.

3.

Saugeen Cedar Heights East Subdivision
The Secretary-Treasurer presented a final draft plan showing Lots 1-79 and Blocks 80-90
dated May 9, 2019 that has been approved by the County of Grey. The plan reflects a mix
of single detached, semi-detached and townhouse units. Block 80 will be developed for
townhouses. Phase 1 will include lands adjacent to 14th Street (arterial road) and will
include a turning circle. It is anticipated construction will commence this Fall. Phase 2 will
reflect the remainder of lands, including lands purchased from Schenk/Haack. It is
anticipated that the Subdivision Agreement will be presented to Hanover Council in the
near future.

4.

Saugeen Cedar Heights West Subdivision
It was agreed to defer this matter to a future meeting.

5.

2nd Street EA
Cobide Engineering has prepared the necessary public notices to proceed with the
Environmental Assessment.

6.

Proposed Site Plan Agreement ----------------C.E. MacTavish Limited (Esso)
The owner requested that this matter be deferred to a future meeting.

7.

Correspondence
7.1.

Proposed changes to the Endangered Species Act and proposed changes to
Conservation Authorities Act
The Secretary-Treasurer circulated staff reports from Grey County, for which were
presented to County Council on May 9th relating to proposed changes to the
permitting process related to natural hazards, and funding reductions to
conservation authorities.

7.2.

Ontario's Government for the People to Make Home Ownership Affordable
for More Ontario Families
The Secretary-Treasurer circulated information about the Housing Action Plan
released by the Province “More Homes, More Choice: Ontario’s Housing Supply
Action Plan”. The action plan is proposing changes to the Planning Act and the
Development Charges Act. The Plan would streamline and simplify the process for
creating new rental housing options and support a range and mix of housing
options/
A Growth Plan for the Greater Golden Horseshoe is being updated to facilitate the
building of affordable housing options near transit and stable, reliable employment.

7.3.

Provincial Client Service & Streamlining Initiative and Provincial Funding
Cuts
The Secretary-Treasurer circulated correspondence from Saugeen Conservation
acknowledging a $76,000 shortfall in 2019. Saugeen Conservation has
recommended that funds be allocated from other reserves to offset this shortfall.
However, other solutions must be investigated in subsequent years.

8.

New Business
8.1.

Minor Variance Application No. A2-19 ------1354562 Ontario Ltd.
The Secretary-Treasurer circulated the above referenced application. Paul Wilken,
President of 1354562 Ontario Ltd. is proposing to construct a 27’ X 100’ addition
for his roofing business. He received correspondence from Caldecott Millwright
Services approving the utilization of a party wall along the northerly property line.
Subsequent to a good discussion, it was then;
MOVED BY MARK EBERT / SECONDED BY BRUCE SICKEL
THAT the Planning Advisory Committee recommend to Council and the
Committee of Adjustment that they have no objection to Minor Variance
Application No. A2-19.
CARRIED

9.

Adjournment
Moved by HAROLD FLEET
THAT the meeting now be adjourned at 6:02 pm.

_______________________________
Chair, Tim Norwood
_______________________________
Secretary-Treasurer, Don Tedford
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER

10.1

BY-LAW NO. 3065-19
A By-law of the Town of Hanover to confirm the proceedings of the Council of the
Corporation of the Town of Hanover at its regular meeting held on April 15, 2019.
WHEREAS the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended, Section 5 and amendments
thereto, provides that the powers of a municipal corporation shall be exercised by its
Council;
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended, Section 5 and Section
9, and amendments thereto, provides that except where otherwise provided, the powers of
any Council shall be exercised by by-law;
AND WHEREAS in many cases action which is taken or authorized to be taken by Council
does not lend itself to the passage of an individual by-law;
NOW THEREFORE the Council for the Corporation of the Town of Hanover hereby enacts
as follows:
1. THAT the actions of the Council at its regular meeting held on April 15, 2019 in respect
of each motion, resolution and other action taken by the Council, and its Committees,
at its said meeting is, except where the prior approval of the Ontario Municipal Board
or other authority is by law required, hereby adopted, ratified and confirmed as if all
such proceedings were expressly embodied in this By-law.
2. THAT where no individual by-law has been or is passed with respect to the taking of
any action authorized in or by the above mentioned Minutes or with respect to the
exercise of any powers by the Council in the above mentioned Minutes, then this bylaw shall be deemed for all purposes to be the by-law required for approving and
authorizing and taking of any action authorized therein or thereby, or required for the
exercise of any powers therein by the Council.
3. AND THAT the Mayor and the proper officers of The Corporation of the Town of
Hanover are hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary to give effect to
the said action of the Council or to obtain approvals where required and, except where
otherwise provided, the Mayor, the Clerk and the Treasurer are hereby directed to
execute all documents necessary on behalf of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover
and to affix thereto the corporate seal of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover.
READ a FIRST, SECOND and THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 21st day of
May, 2019.

Susan Paterson, Mayor

Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER

10.2

BY-LAW NO. 3066-19
A By-law to amend Zoning By-law No. 2912-15, as amended, being the Comprehensive
Zoning By-law of the Town of Hanover;
WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover deems it in the public
interest to pass a By-law to amend By-law No. 2912-15;
AND WHEREAS pursuant to the provisions of Section 34 of The Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990,
as amended, Zoning By-laws may be amended by Councils of Municipalities;
NOW THEREFORE the Municipal Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover
hereby enacts as follows:
1.

Schedule “A” to By-law No. 2912-15 is hereby amended by changing the zone
symbols affecting the lands described as Lot 38, Registered Plan 770 in the Town of
Hanover and shown more particularly on Schedule “A” attached hereto.

2.

THAT Schedule “A” to By-law No. 2912-15 is hereby amended by changing from
Local Commercial (C5) Zone to Residential Type 5 (R5) Zone as shown on Schedule
“A” affixed hereto.

3.

THAT all other provisions of By-law No. 2912-15, as amended, shall apply to the
subject property shown on Schedule "A" affixed hereto.

4.

Schedule “A" and all other notations thereon are hereby declared to form part of this
By-law.

5.

If no appeal is filed pursuant to Section 34(19) of the Planning Act, (R.S.O. 1990,
C.P. 13, as amended), or if an appeal is filed and the Local Planning Appeal Tribunal
dismisses the appeal, this by-law comes into force on the day it is passed. If the
Local Planning Appeal Tribunal amends the By-law pursuant to Section 34(26) of the
Planning Act, as amended, the part or parts so amended come into force upon the
day the Board’s Order is issued directing the amendment or amendments.

READ A FIRST, SECOND and THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 21st day of May, 2019.

___________________________________
Sue Paterson, Mayor
___________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
SCHEDULE “A” to BY-LAW NO. 3066 – 19

Lands being affected are Lot 38, Registered Plan 770, Town of Hanover, County of Grey.
Passed this 21st day of May, 2019
_______________________________
Mayor
________________________________
CAO/Clerk

Local Commercial (C5) Zone to Residential Type 5 (R5) Zone

Lands being affected are Part of Lots 11 and 12, Concession 1, N.D.R., Town of Hanover,
County of Grey.
Passed this 20th day of June, 2016
_______________________________
Susan Paterson, Mayor
________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

Future Development (D) and Hazard (H) Zone
to Residential Type 1 (R1), Residential Type 3 (R3) and Hazard (H) Zone

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
SCHEDULE “A” to BY-LAW NO. 2806 – 13

Lands being affected are Part of Lots 54, 55 & 56, Registered Plan 730, Parts 11 & 12,
Reference Plan 16R-6920
608 11th Avenue, Town of Hanover, County of Grey.
Passed this 27th day of May, 2013
__

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER

10.3

BY-LAW NO.3067-19
BEING a by-law to provide for the Regulation and Prohibition of Noise and Sound.
WHEREAS Section 9 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, as amended, provides that a
municipality has the capacity, rights, powers and privileges of a natural person for the purpose of
exercising its authority under this or any other Act;
AND WHEREAS Subsection 10(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that a municipality may
provide any service or thing that the municipality considers necessary or desirable for the public;
AND WHEREAS Subsection 10(2) of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that a municipality may pass
by-laws respecting: in paragraph 5, Economic, social and environmental well-being of the
municipality; in paragraph 6, Health, safety and well-being of persons; in paragraph 7, Services and
things that the municipality is authorized to provide under subsection (1); in paragraph 8, Protection
of persons and property; in paragraph 9, Animals; in paragraph 10, Structures including fences and
signs;
AND WHEREAS Section 129 of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that, without limiting sections 9
and 10 of the Act, a municipality may: (a) prohibit and regulate with respect to noise, vibration,
odour, dust and outdoor illumination, including indoor lighting that can be seen outdoors; and (b)
prohibit the matters described in clause (a) unless a permit is obtained from the municipality for
those matters and may impose conditions for obtaining, continuing to hold and renewing the permit,
including requiring the submission of plans;
AND WHEREAS Section 128 of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that a municipality may prohibit
and regulate with respect to public nuisances, including matters that, in the opinion of Council are or
could become public nuisances;
AND WHEREAS in the opinion of Council for the Town of Hanover, certain kinds of noise are or
could become a public nuisance;
AND WHEREAS Subsection 391(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that a municipality may
impose fees and charges on persons for
a)

services or activities provided or done by or on behalf of it;

b)

costs payable by it for services or activities provided or done by or on behalf of any other
municipality or any local board; and,

c)

the use of its property including property under its control;

AND WHEREAS Section 23.2 of the Municipal Act, 2001 permits a municipality to delegate certain
legislative and quasi-judicial powers;
AND WHEREAS Section 444 of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that the municipality may make
an order requiring the person who contravened the by-law or who caused or permitted the
contravention or the owner or occupier of the land on which the contravention occurred to
discontinue the contravening activity, and any person who contravenes such an order is guilty of an
offence;
AND WHEREAS Section 447.8 of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that a by-law of a municipality
made under this or any other Act may,
a)

adopt by reference, in whole or in part, with such changes as the council considers
appropriate, any code, standard, procedure or regulation as it stands at a specific date, as it
stands at the time of adoption or as amended from time to time; and

b)

require compliance with any code, standard, procedure or regulation so adopted;

AND WHEREAS Section 195 of the Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. H.8 provides in section
195 that If a provision of a municipal by-law passed by the council of a municipality for regulating
noise created by the operation of motor vehicles on the highways is inconsistent with this Act or the
regulations, the provision of the by-law shall be deemed to be repealed upon the inconsistency
arising;
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NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of The Town of Hanover herby enacts as
follows:
This by-law may be cited as the "Noise and Sound Control By-law ".
1. INTERPRETATION
1.1.

DEFINITIONS for the purpose of this bylaw:
"construction equipment" includes a bulldozer, excavator, trencher, jack hammer,
crane, loader, scraper, paver, compactor, roller, grader, concrete mixer and the like;
"Council" means the Council of the Town of Hanover;
"holiday" means any holiday set out as a holiday in the Retail Business Holidays Act,
R.S.O. 1990, Chap. R. 30, or any successor thereof;
"noise" means sound that is of such a volume or nature that it is likely to disturb the
inhabitants of the Town of Hanover;
“officer” means a Municipal Law Enforcement Officer, Police Officer, or persons
designated by Municipal Council for the purposes of enforcing all or any class of
offences;
"person" includes a corporation, organization, association, partnership and the like;
"Town" means the Corporation of the Town of Hanover;

2. GENERAL EXEMPTIONS
2.1.

This By-law does not apply:
2.1.1. during an emergency involving the health, safety or welfare of the public;
2.1.2. where the Town, its servants, employees, contractors or agents are carrying out
town operations or operating, maintaining or installing municipally-owned
infrastructure, facilities or the like, except for the detonation of explosives;
2.1.3. to noise created by the activity of snow removal;
2.1.4. to parades, circuses, entertainment activities in public parks or neighbourhood
social activities when such events are approved by Council and such activity or
event is in compliance with the conditions set by Council in approving such
activity or event;
2.1.5. to sport or recreational events in public parks where a permit has been issued by
the Town authorizing such event and the event complies with all of the conditions
of such permit; or
2.1.6. to the operation of excavation equipment when used in a cemetery in conjunction
with interment services.

3. EXEMPTIONS BY COUNCIL
3.1.

Despite the provisions of this By-law, any person may apply to Council for an exemption
to any provision of this by-law with respect to any noise to allow such person to emit,
cause or permit such noise for the period of time set out in such application, and Council
may grant such exemption, grant an alternative exemption or refuse such exemption,
and may set out conditions to be met as Council sees fit for any exemptions granted.

3.2.

Where an exemption is granted by council, breach of any of the terms or conditions of
the exemption shall render the exemption null and void.

4. GENERAL PROHIBITIONS
4.1.

No person shall, at any time, emit, cause or permit to be emitted or caused any noise
created by:
4.1.1. the persistent barking, calling or whining of any domestic pet or any animal;
4.1.2. the squealing of motor vehicle tires while such vehicle is on property other than a
highway as set out in the Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chap. H.8, or any
successor thereof;
4.1.3. the use of a horn, whistle, alarm, bell, gong or the like, except for an auditory
safety or warning device or chimes used in association with a religious
establishment;
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4.1.4. the operation of an air conditioner that does not meet the requirements of the
Ministry of the Environment Publication NPC-216, Residential Air Conditioning
Devices or the operation of a pool pump or filter, heat pump or the like that is not
in proper working order;
4.1.5. the idling of a vehicle motor in excess of 15 minutes, except:
4.1.5.1. when such idling is recommended by the manufacturer of such vehicle
and proof of such recommendation is provided by the vehicle operator
upon the request of an officer;
4.1.5.2. when such idling is necessary to the basic function of the equipment on
a vehicle such as a concrete mixer on a concrete mixing truck, a lift
platform, a refuse compactor or a heat exchange system;
4.1.5.3. when the weather conditions require the vehicle to idle in order to keep
in operation a heating or refrigeration system necessary for the welfare
or preservation of the cargo of such vehicle; or
4.1.5.4. the operation of a combustion engine without an effective exhaust
muffling device in proper working order.
4.1.6. the operation of a vehicle radio, stereo or the like;
4.1.7. yelling, shouting or the like;
4.1.8. an electronic device, musical instrument, or sound production instrument.
5. OFFENCE
Every person who contravenes any provision of this By-law is guilty of an offence.
6. SEVERABILITY
Should any section of this by-law be declared by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be ultra
vires or illegal for any reason, the remaining parts shall nevertheless remain valid and binding,
and shall be read as if the offending section or part had been struck out.
7. PENALTY
Every person who is convicted of an offence under any provision of this By-law shall be liable to
a penalty as set out in Section 61 of the Provincial Offences Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chapter P.33, or
any successor thereof.
8. Schedule “A" attached hereto shall form part of this By-law.
9. That By-law No. 1606-04-21-87 is hereby repealed in its entirety.
10. THAT this by-law shall come into full force and effect as of the date of its passing.
READ a FIRST, SECOND and THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 21st day of May, 2019.

___________________________________
Susan Paterson, Mayor

___________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

SCHEDULE ‘A’ TO BY-LAW NO. 3067-19
PART 1, PROVINCIAL OFFENCES ACT
BEING a by-law to provide for the Regulation and Prohibition of Noise and Sound within the
boundaries of The Corporation of the Town of Hanover.
Provision Creating
or Defining Offence

Set Fine

Permit noise made by animal

4.1.1

$150.00

Cause noise by squealing tires

4.1.2

$150.00

(Cause)(Permit) noise made by a
(bell),(whistle),(gong),(horn)

4.1.3

$150.00

Permitting noise made by a pool pump

4.1.4

$150.00

(Cause)(Permit) noise made by an idling vehicle

4.1.5

$150.00

(Cause)(Permit) noise made by a vehicle (radio)(stereo)

4.1.6

$150.00

(Cause)(Permit) noise made by shouting

4.1.7

$150.00

(Cause)(Permit) noise made by a(n) (electronic
device)(musical instrument)(sound production instrument)

4.1.8

$150.00

Short Form Wording
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CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
BY -LAW 3068–19
BEING a By-law to Regulate and/or Control the Parking, Stopping and Standing of Vehicles
in the Town of Hanover.
WHEREAS Section 11, of the Municipal Act, 2001. S.O. 2001 c.25 and the provisions of the
Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1990 H.8, as amended authorize a Municipal Council to pass
by-laws to regulate and control traffic;
AND WHEREAS Section 425 of the Municipal Act permits a municipality to pass bylaws
providing that a person who contravenes a by-law of the municipality passed under this Act
is guilty of an offence;
AND WHEREAS Section 100 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended
confer upon a local municipality may, in respect of land not owned or occupied by the
municipality that is used as a parking lot, regulate or prohibit the parking or leaving of motor
vehicles on that land without the consent of the owner of the land or regulate or prohibit
traffic on that land if a sign is erected at each entrance to the land clearly indicating the
regulation or prohibition;
AND WHEREAS the Fire Prevention & Protection Act, 1997, Chapter 4, Section 7.1 (c),
provides that a municipality may pass by-laws designating private roads as fire routes along
which no parking of vehicles shall be permitted and providing for the removal and
impounding of any vehicle parked or left along any of the fire routes at the expense of the
owner of the vehicle;
AND WHEREAS Sections 63 and 101 of the Municipal Act permit such by-law to authorize
the impounding of vehicles improperly parked;
AND WHEREAS Section 170(15) of the Highway Traffic Act states that "A police officer,
police cadet, municipal law enforcement officer or an officer appointed for carrying out the
provisions of this Act, upon discovery of any vehicle parked or standing in contravention of
subsection (12), of a regulation made under subsection 26(3) of the Public Transportation
and Highway Improvement Act or a municipal bylaw, may cause it to be moved or taken to
and placed or stored in a suitable place and all costs and charges for the removal, care and
storage of the vehicle, if any, are a lien upon the vehicle, which may be enforced in the
manner provided by the Repair and Storage Liens Act, 2005, c.26, Schedule. A, s.28 (2);
AND WHEREAS Section 427, of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001 c.25, "A by-law
establishing a system of Accessible parking shall provide that every person who
contravenes the By-law is guilty of an offence and on conviction is liable to a fine of not less
than $300.00";
AND WHEREAS The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005, S.O. 2005, c. 11
(“AODA, 2005”) specifies mandatory accessibility standards with the goal of identifying,
removing and preventing barriers for people with disabilities in key areas of daily living;
AND WHEREAS Accessible Parking Spaces are regulated by Part IV.1 - Design of Public
Spaces Standards, of Ontario Regulation 191/11 - Integrated Accessibility Standards
(Ontario Regulation 191/11) made under the AODA, 2005;
AND WHEREAS Section 102 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, as amended,
confers upon municipalities the power to pass by-laws for requiring the owners and
operators of parking lots or other parking facilities to which the public has access, to provide
designated parking spaces for the sole use of vehicles displaying an accessible parking
permit issued and displayed in accordance with the Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.
H.8, as amended and the regulations made under it, and for prescribing the conditions of
use of such permit and for prohibiting the improper use of the permit;
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover deems it expedient
to pass a by-law to regulate and control parking within the Town of Hanover;
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NOW THEREFORE he Municipal Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover hereby
enacts as follows:
This by-law may be cited as the "Parking By-law".
1.

DEFINITIONS for the purpose of this bylaw:
1.1

"Authorized emergency vehicle" means,

i)

a Fire Department vehicle, including an emergency crash extrication vehicle,
while proceeding to a fire or emergency call or responding to, but not
returning from, a fire alarm or other emergency call;

ii)

a vehicle while used by a person in the lawful performance of their duties as a
police officer;

iii)

an ambulance or cardiac arrest emergency vehicle while responding to an
emergency call or being used to transport a patient or injured person in an
emergency situation, or

iv)

an emergency vehicle of a public or private utility, or Federal, Provincial or
Municipal Department when such a vehicle is being used in the performance
of emergency duties;

1.2

"Authorized sign" means any sign or roadway, curb or sidewalk marking or
device placed or erected under the authority of the Town of Hanover, County
of Grey, or Province of Ontario, for the purpose of regulating or controlling
traffic and includes official signs;

1.3

"Bicycle" includes a bicycle, tricycle, a unicycle and a power-assisted ebicycle but does not include a motor-assisted bicycle;

1.4

"Boulevard" means that part of the highway between the roadway and the
property lines of the lots abutting the highway and includes the shoulder but
does not include a sidewalk, if any;

1.5

"Bus stop" means that portion of a highway, designated by an authorized
sign, for the use of buses as a point for loading and unloading passengers
and including an area sufficient to accommodate the length of the bus;

1.6

"Chief Fire Official" means the Fire Chief of the Corporation of the Town of
Hanover or their designate;

1.7

"Chief of Police" means the Chief of the Hanover Police Service or their
designate;

1.8

"Commercial motor vehicle" means a motor vehicle with a permanently
attached truck or delivery body and includes an ambulance, hearse, casket
wagon, fire apparatus, buses and tractors used for hauling purposes on the
highways;

1.9

"Corner" means the point of intersection of curbs or edges of the highway
used for vehicular traffic;

1.10

"Council" means the Municipal Council of the Corporation of the Town of
Hanover;

1.11

"Crosswalk" means:

i)

that part of the highway at an intersection that is included within the
connections of the lateral lines of the sidewalks on opposite sides of the
highway measured from the curbs, or in the absence of curbs, the edges of
the travelled portion of the highway, or;

ii)

any portion of a roadway at an intersection or elsewhere distinctly indicated
for pedestrian crossing by signs, lines or other markings on the road surface;

1.12

“Curb” means the edge of a travelled portion of the roadway;

1.13

“Delivery Vehicle” means a vehicle used by a company or individual for the
exclusive purpose of delivery and or taking away of merchandise;

1.14

"Designated accessible parking space" means a parking space approved
for the exclusive use of a vehicle displaying a current and valid Accessible
Parking Permit, in a public parking lot owned by the Town or being on private
property or on a highway under the jurisdiction of the Town;

1.15

"Disabled person" means an individual that meets the requirements of such
as set out in the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005, S.O.
2005, c. 11;
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1.16

"Driver" means a person who drives a vehicle on a highway;

1.17

“Drop Off Zone” means a space, zone or portion of a highway adjacent to a
curb designated by an authorized sign permitting stopping of a vehicle therein
while under continuous supervision of the driver, and only for the period
necessary while actively engaged in loading or unloading passengers;

1.18

"Enforcement Officer" means:

i)

a Provincial Offences Officer and/or Police Officer for the Town of Hanover; or

ii)

a person appointed by Council to enforce or carry out the provisions of this
By-law, or any part or parts thereof, who is by virtue of their appointment a
Provincial Offences Officer when enforcing the provision or provisions of this
By-law;

1.19

"Fire Route" means any access route, public or private roadway, lane, ramp
or other means of vehicular access being 5 metres in width into or egress
from a building or structure, and designated as a fire route and shall include
part of a parking lot set aside for use by authorized emergency vehicles
unless otherwise authorized by the Chief Fire Official and designated by
visible markings or markers as a fire route;

1.20

“Fire Route Sign”, means a permanently installed legible sign having a
minimum size of 30 cm by 45 cm (12" by 18"), placed at intervals of not more
than 20 metres (65 feet) along the route, and be placed at each end of the
fire route, and shall display the following information by text or symbol:

a) Fire Route
b) No Parking or Parking Prohibited
1.21

"Gross weight" means the combined weight of a vehicle and its load;

1.22

“Heavy Truck” means a commercial motor vehicle having a weight when
unloaded of 3 tonnes (3,000 kilograms) or more, or when loaded of 5 tonnes
(5,000 kilograms) or more, but does not include a passenger vehicle, an
ambulance, or any vehicle of the Police or Fire Departments;

1.23

"Highway or Street" includes a common and public highway, street, avenue,
public lane, parkway, alley, driveway, square, place, bridge, viaduct or trestle,
and any part of which is intended for or used by the general public for the
passage of vehicles and includes the area between the lateral property lines
thereof;

1.24

“Holiday” means holidays outlined in the Retail Business Holidays Act

1.25

"Intersection" means the area embraced within the prolongation or
connection of the lateral lines, curb lines, or if none, then of the lateral
boundary lines of two or more roadways that join one another at an angle,
whether or not one roadway crosses the other;

1.26

"Median" means a portion of a highway so constructed as to separate traffic
traveling in one direction from traffic traveling in the opposite direction by a
physical barrier or an unpaved strip of ground;

1.27

"Minister" means the Minister of Transportation;

1.28

"Ministry" means the Ministry of Transportation;

1.29

"Motor assisted Bicycle" means a bicycle:

i)

that is fitted with pedals that are operable at all times to propel the bicycle;

ii)

that weighs not more than fifty-five kilograms;

iii)

that has no hand or foot operated clutch or gearbox driven by the motor and
transferring power to the driven wheel;

iv)

that has an attached motor driven by electricity or having a piston
displacement of not more than fifty cubic centimetres; and

v)

that does not have sufficient power to enable the bicycle to attain a speed
greater than 50 kilometres per hour on level ground within a distance of 2
kilometres from a standing start;

1.30

"Motor vehicle" includes an automobile, a motorcycle, a motor-assisted
bicycle unless otherwise indicated in this Act, and any other vehicle propelled
or driven otherwise than by muscular power, but does not include a street car
or other motor vehicle running only upon rails, a power-assisted bicycle, a
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motorized snow vehicle, a traction engine, a farm tractor, a self-propelled
implement of husbandry or a road-building machine;
1.31

"Multi-Use Trail" means that part of a highway with its surface improved with
asphalt, concrete or gravel for the use of pedestrians and non-motorized
vehicles;

1.32

"Municipality" means the Corporation of the Town of Hanover;

1.33

“Municipal or Public Property” means property that is dedicated to public
use;

1.34

"Municipal vehicles" includes but is not limited to vehicles owned by the
Town and/or contractors having a valid contract with the Town to supply
municipal services. These services may include road building, road
maintenance, emergency services, garbage collection, recycling, hydro,
water, etc.;

1.35

“Official Sign” means a sign approved by the Ministry of Transportation;

1.36

"Occupant" means:

i)

the tenant of the property or part thereof whose consent shall extend only to
the control of the land of which he is the tenant and any parking spaces
allotted to him under the lease or tenancy agreement; or,

ii)

the spouse of a tenant; or,

iii)

a person authorized, in writing by an occupant as defined in subsection (i) or
(ii) to act on the occupant's behalf for requesting the enforcement of this
section.

1.37

“Off Street Parking refers to parking lots or other parking facilities to which
the general public has access, whether on payment of a fee or otherwise;

1.38

“On Street Parking refers to parking on any highway or road or part thereof
in the Corporation;

1.39

"One-way street" means a street upon which vehicular traffic is limited to
movement in one direction only;

1.40

"Owner" when used in relation to property means:

i)

the registered owner of the property or the spouse of that person; or,

ii)

a person authorized, in writing by the property owner as defined in subsection
(i) to act on behalf of the owner in requesting the enforcement of this section;

iii)

where the property is included in a description registered under the
Condominium Act, the Board of Directors of the Condominium Corporation;

1.41

"Park or Parking" when prohibited, means the standing of a vehicle whether
occupied or not, except when standing temporarily for the purpose of and
while actually engaged in loading or unloading merchandise or passengers;

1.42

"Parking Infraction Notice" means a Notice authorized by the Provincial
Offences Act and handed to the driver or placed on any vehicle parked in
contravention of this By-law;

1.43

"Parking Space" means an area that has been designated and marked for
the temporary parking of motor vehicles;

1.44

"Pedestrian" includes a person on foot, in a wheelchair and a child in a
wheeled carriage;

1.45

"Pedestrian crossover" means any portion of a roadway, designated by Bylaw of a Municipality, at an intersection or elsewhere, distinctly indicated for
pedestrian crossing by signs on the highway and lines or other markings on
the surface of the roadway as prescribed by the regulations under the
Highway Traffic Act;

1.46

"Permit" means a current and valid Disabled Person Parking Permit issued
by the Ministry pursuant to the Highway Traffic Act and the regulations made
thereunder or a Permit, numbered plate or other marker or device issued by
another jurisdiction and recognized under that Act;

1.47

"Police Officer" means a member of the Hanover Police Service or a person
authorized by the Chief of Police to regulate or direct traffic;

1.48

"Private property" means any property within the Town not owned by or
occupied by the Town;
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1.49

"Private road" means any road, lane, ramp or other means of vehicular
access to or from a building or structure that is not owned by the Town,
County of Grey or Province of Ontario and may include part of a parking lot;

1.50

"Provincial Offences Officer" means a Municipal Law Enforcement Officer,
Police Officer, or persons designated by Municipal Council for the purposes
of enforcing all or any class of offences;

1.51

"Public Park" means any public area used for park purposes which is owned
or leased by the Town;

1.52

"Public parking lot" means any open public area or portion of a structure
other than a street or highway, intended for the temporary parking of vehicles
and on which there are designated parking spaces, whether their use
involves the payment of a fee or otherwise, which is owned by or leased by
the Town;

1.53

“Regulations" means regulations made under the Highway Traffic Act,
Provincial Offences Act; or other applicable Provincial legislation;

1.54

"Roadway" means that portion of a highway that is improved, designed or
ordinarily used for the passage of vehicles, but does not include the shoulder
and where a highway includes two or more separate roadways the term
"roadway" refers to any one roadway separately and not all of the roadways
collectively;

1.55

“School Day” means a day that is within a school year and is not a holiday,
as determined by the Education Act;

1.56

"Sidewalk" means that portion of a highway between the curb line or lateral
lines of a roadway and the adjacent property line that is designed and
intended for the use of pedestrians;

1.57

“Stall” means a space marked off for the parking of motor vehicles;

1.58

"Stand or Standing" when permitted means the halting of a vehicle, whether
occupied or not, except for the purpose of and while actually engaged in
receiving or discharging of passengers;

1.59

“Stop”, when required, means a complete cessation of movement;

1.60

"Stop or Stopping" when prohibited means the halting of a vehicle
momentarily, whether occupied or not, except when necessary to avoid
conflict with other traffic or in compliance with the direction of a police officer
or a traffic control sign or signal;

1.61

"Time" where any expression of time occurs or where any hour or other
period of time is stated, the time referred to shall be Eastern Standard Time,
except during a period when daylight saving time is in effect in the Town of
Hanover, when the time referred to shall be one hour in advance of standard
time;

1.62

"Town" means the Corporation of the Town of Hanover;

1.63

"Traffic" includes pedestrians, ridden or herded animals, vehicles and any
other conveyances either singly or together, while using any highway for the
purpose of travel;

1.64

"Traffic control device" means any device, manually, electrically or
mechanically operated for the regulation of traffic;

1.65

"Travel trailer" means a structure designed, intended and used exclusively
for travel, recreation and vacation and which is capable to being drawn or
propelled by a motor vehicle or is propelled and includes tent trailers or
similar transportable accommodations excepting mobile homes;

1.66

"Trailer" means a vehicle that is at any time drawn upon a highway by a
motor vehicle;

1.67

"Vehicle" includes a motor vehicle, motor assisted bicycle, trailer,
motorcycle, travel trailer, boat trailer, motorized snow vehicle, traction engine,
farm tractor, bus, road-building machine and any vehicle drawn, propelled or
driven by any kind of power, including muscular power;

1.68

"Wheelchair" means a chair mounted on wheels driven by muscular or any
kind of power, this includes motorized scooters and other personal mobility
devices used for the carriage of a person with a disability;
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1.69

"Words" where any word or expression used in this By-law is not defined
herein reference shall be made to the Highway Traffic Act R.S.O. 1990,
Chapter H.8., the Municipal Act R.S.O. 2001, as amended or re-enacted from
time to time or generally accepted dictionary and the interpretation that best
reflects the spirit and intent of this By-law shall be accepted.

The provisions of this By-law are subject to the provisions of the Highway Traffic Act R.S.O.
1990, Chapter H.8, as amended or re-enacted from time to time, and the regulations made
thereunder.
2.

3.

APPLICATION AND ENFORCEMENT
2.1

This By-law applies to all Highways under the jurisdiction of the Town of
Hanover, and Municipal and Private Property in so far as it applies to parking
regulations.

2.2

The Director of Public Works or their designate is authorized to place or erect
and maintain such Authorized Signs and traffic control signals as are required
to give effect to the provisions of this By-law.

2.3

All measurements of distance relative to an intersection shall, where possible,
be taken to or from a point where the prolongation or connection of the lateral
curb lines meet on the side of the highway relative to said measurement.

2.4

The provisions of this By-law will be enforced by an Enforcement Officer.

PARKING AND OPERATION OF VEHICLES
3.1

Where authorized signs or markings have been erected or are on display, no
person shall park a vehicle in non-compliance to the direction given by the
said sign or markings as follows:
a) on any section of any street or property in the ownership of the Town when
authorized signs have been approved and are on display prohibiting parking;
b) on any section of any street or property in the ownership of the Town when
authorized signs have been approved and are on display, a time limit on
parking.

3.2

Where parking spaces have been established by suitable markings on the
road surface, no person shall park a vehicle except within the space
designated by markings.

3.3

Where parking is permitted, no person shall park a vehicle on any highway,
except on a one-way street or where angle parking is permitted, except on
the right side of the highway having regard to the direction in which the
vehicle had been proceeding and unless the right front and the right rear
wheels of the vehicle are parallel to and distant respectively not more than 15
centimeters from the curb or edge of the roadway.

3.4

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this By-law, no person shall park a
vehicle on a highway in such a manner as to
a) interfere with the movement of traffic or:
b) the clearing of snow from the highway.

4.

BICYCLES
4.1

5.

ANGLE PARKING
5.1

6.

No person shall park a bicycle on any boulevard or sidewalk except in an
upright position and in a manner as not to impede the intended use of the
boulevard or sidewalk.
Angle parking is permitted where authorized signs are erected and on
display, in those areas designated in Schedule "A" attached to and forming
part of this By-law on the highways described in Column 1, on the side or
sides set forth in Column 2 opposite thereto within the boundaries set out in
Column 3 opposite thereto respectively.

ONE-WAY STREETS
6.1

Where parking is permitted on both sides of a one-way street, in addition to
the provision of Section 10.1, a person shall park a vehicle facing only in the
direction allowed on the lane with the left front and left rear wheels of the
vehicle parallel to and distant respectively not more than 15 centimeters from
the curb or edge of the roadway. This mode of parking also applies where
parking is only allowed on the left side of a one-way street.
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7.

8.

PARKING PROHIBITED - SIGNAGE REQUIRED
7.1

Where Authorized Signs erected are on display, no person shall park a
vehicle on the highways or part of highways set forth in Column 1 of
Schedule "B" attached to and forming part of this By-law, on the side or sides
set forth in Column 2 opposite thereto within the boundaries set out in
Column 3 opposite thereto respectively.

7.2

Where authorized signs are erected or are on display, no person shall park a
vehicle on the highways or parts of the highways, on the side(s) and between
the limits set our respectively in Columns 1, 2 and 3 of Schedules "C, D, E
and F" attached to and forming part of this By-law during the prohibited times
or days set out in Column 4 of the said Schedules "C, D, E and F".

PARKING PROHIBITED- SIGNAGE NOT REQUIRED
8.1

No person shall park a vehicle:
a) on or over a sidewalk or footpath;
b) within an intersection;
c) on or within 9 meters of a crosswalk or pedestrian crossover;
d) within 9 meters of any intersection. Additional distance may be required at
certain intersections and parking would be prohibited from the location of a
sign reading "No Parking Here to Corner" to the intersection;
e) on a median strip or on any boulevard (unless otherwise posted);
f)

on a bridge or approaches thereto;

g) on a highway within 3 meters of a point or edge of the roadway nearest a fire
hydrant;
h) in such a position as to interfere with the removal of any vehicle previously
parked or standing;
i)

in front of the entrance or exit to a lot or building where a fire department
vehicle, public utility emergency vehicle, police vehicle or other emergency
vehicle is kept stored, in such a manner as to impede the movement of such
vehicles when responding to an emergency;

j)

at a public or private driveway in such a manner as to impede ingress and
egress, or impair visibility of driveways as it intersects with the highway;

k) on a highway for the purpose of displaying the vehicle for sale;
l)

on a highway for the purpose of washing, greasing or repairing the vehicle
except for emergency repairs required to remove the vehicle;

m) on the roadway when it is practicable to park the vehicle off the roadway;
n) in a public park between the hours of 12:00 midnight and 6:00 am;
o) on any highway between the hours of 1:00 am and 6:00 am commencing
December 1st of each year and ending on March 31st the following year;
p) in such a position so as to interfere with the removal of snow from any
highway, sidewalk or parking lot in the Municipality;
q) on any roadway prohibiting its use for parking until snow thereon is removed;
r) in a place as to interfere with the formation of a funeral procession;
s) no person shall park on municipal property without valid vehicle registration
with the Ministry of Transportation;
t)

no person shall park on municipal property without current insurance
coverage;

u) in front of the main entrance to, or any emergency exit, from a theatre,
auditorium, or other building while large assemblages are being held in such
theatre, auditorium, or other building, or for a reasonable time immediately
preceding and following such assemblages;
v) in front of the entrance to a hotel, and any place designated as a loading
zone where goods or merchandise are regularly delivered or removed;
w) in front of the entrance to any hospital;
x) on any roadway for an unreasonable time having regard for the traffic
requirements of such roadway and in no case for a longer period of time than
three (3) hours between the hours of 12:00 midnight and 7:00 am;
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y) alongside any curb upon which yellow paint has been applied;
z) a motor vehicle on 10th Street between 4th Avenue and 15th Avenue for a
longer period of time than is necessary for taking on or discharging its load;
i)

on 10th Street from 6th Avenue to 13th Avenue where parking is
permitted in no case for a longer period than two (2) hours between
the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. Monday to Saturday. Sundays
and holidays are permitted;

ii)

on 9th Avenue from 10th Street to 12th Street where parking is
permitted in no case for a longer period than two (2) hours between
the hours of 9:00 am and 6:00 pm Monday to Saturday. Sundays and
holidays are permitted;

iii)

on 10th Avenue from 10th Street to 12th Street where parking is
permitted in no case for a longer period than two (2) hours between
the hours of 9:00 am and 6:00 pm Monday to Saturday. Sundays and
holidays are permitted;

aa) no person shall park:
i)

any tractor or trailer or combination of both;

ii)

any truck having a weight when unloaded of 3 tonnes (3,000
kilograms) or more, or when loaded of 5 tonnes (5,000 kilograms) or
more;

iii)

any passenger or school bus designated for more than twenty-four
(24) passengers;

on any roadway, more than two consecutive hours;
bb) on any roadway having an overall width of more than six (6) meters;
cc) in such a manner as to obstruct traffic.
9.

IN SPECIFIED PLACES WHERE SIGNS ARE ON DISPLAY - ANYTIME
9.1

10.

IN SPECIFIED PLACES WHERE SIGNS ARE ON DISPLAY – SPECIFIED TIME
10.1

11.

12.

Where properly worded signs have been erected and are on display, no
person shall park a vehicle on the highway or parts of highways.

HEAVY TRUCKS
11.1

Where properly worded signs have been erected and are on display no
person shall park a heavy truck on the highway or parts of highways.

11.2

This section shall not apply to any vehicle actually engaged in making a
delivery to or a collection from premises which cannot be reached except by
way of a highway or to prohibit the use of such vehicle for such purpose
provided that in making such delivery or collection the said highway or part of
highway is traveled only insofar as is unavoidable in getting to or from such
premises.

PROHIBIT CERTAIN TRUCKS ON STREETS
12.1

13.

Where properly worded signs have been erected and are on display, no
person shall park any vehicle.

When appropriate or authorized signs are erected and are on display, no
person shall move, drive or operate a heavy truck on any highway or parts of
highways within the Town of Hanover. This restriction shall not apply to any
vehicle actually engaged in making a delivery to or a collection from premises
which cannot be reached except by way of a highway or to prohibit the use of
such vehicle for such purpose provided that in making such delivery or
collection the said highway or portion of the highway is traveled only insofar
as is unavoidable in getting to or from such premises.

FUNERAL AND OTHER PROCESSIONS
13.1

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any by-law of this
Council prohibited parking on any highway or portions thereof, no such
prohibition shall apply to vehicles parked on a highway in front of a funeral
director’s establishment during the period of 1-1/2 hours next preceding a
funeral procession where the funeral director has caused signs to be placed
on or adjacent to the highway indicating that a funeral is about to take place.
No person shall intersect a funeral or other properly authorized procession
while it is in motion except under the direction of a police officer. The driver of
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a vehicle in a funeral or other procession shall drive as near to the right hand
edge of the roadway as practicable and follow the vehicle ahead as close as
is practicably and safe.
14.

EMERGENCY NO PARKING
14.1

15.

CLOSED HIGHWAYS
15.1

16.

No person shall park a motor vehicle on a highway unless such motor vehicle
has evidence of a currently validated permit displayed in accordance with the
requirements of the Highway Traffic Act.

ABANDONED VEHICLES
17.1

18.

No person shall drive a vehicle, except an emergency vehicle or a vehicle
authorized by the Director of Public Works, or their designate, or by a police
officer, on any highway that is roped, barricaded or marked by an authorized
sign prohibiting its use.

UNLICENSED VEHICLES
16.1

17.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any by-law of this
Council respecting parking on any highway or street or portions thereof, no
person shall park in any place where signs prohibiting parking have been
placed on display under the direction of the Chief of Police for the purpose of
snow removal, street cleaning, weddings, special events or other emergency
provided, however, that said signs shall not become effective until two hours
have elapsed after said signs have been so placed.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, no person shall park,
stand, or stop a vehicle on a highway or any other property owned or
occupied by the Town for a period exceeding 72 hours, it shall be deemed to
be abandoned, and upon complaint or discovery by an Enforcement Officer,
may cause it to be moved to, or stored in a suitable place. All costs or
charges for removing, care and storage thereof, if any, are a lien upon the
vehicle which may be enforced in a manner provided by the relevant
provisions of the Repair and Storage Liens Act

STOPPING PROHIBITED
18.1

No person shall stop a vehicle in any of the following areas, unless otherwise
posted:

a) on or over a sidewalk;
b) on or within a crosswalk or pedestrian crossover;
c) beside another stopped or parked vehicle;
d) on a highway within 3 meters of a point on the curb or edge of the roadway
directly opposite a fire hydrant;
e) within a school bus loading zone, excepting school buses;
f)

in any area designated for accessible parking only, unless the vehicle is
identified with an accessible parking permit prominently displayed on the
dash or sun visor;

g) in a Fire Route.
19.

PARKING-PRIVATE PROPERTY
19.1

No person shall park a motor vehicle:

a) on private property without the consent of the owner or occupant of the
property; or
b) on property owned or occupied by the municipality or any local board thereof
without the consent of the municipality or local board , as the case may be.
19.2

In addition to any other penalty that may be imposed, any vehicle parked in
contravention of this section shall be removed and impounded at the owner's
expense and all costs become a lien against the motor vehicle.

19.3

The driver or owner of a motor vehicle parked on private property is not liable
to a penalty to have the motor vehicle removed from such property or
impounded under this section except upon written complaint of the owner or
occupant of the property given to the Enforcement Officer appointed to carry
out the provisions of this By-law.

19.4

Where an owner or occupant of property affected by this section has posted
signs stating conditions on which motor vehicles may be parked on the

By-law No. 3068-19 | Page 10

property, or prohibiting the parking of a motor vehicle on the property, a motor
vehicle parked on the property contrary to such conditions or prohibition shall
be deemed to have been parked without consent.
20.

ACCESSIBLE PARKING
20.1

The location of designated accessible parking spaces, to which this By-law
applies, are described in Schedule "H attached to and forming a part of this
Bylaw.

20.2

When designated accessible parking spaces have been provided at locations
described in Schedule "H and Authorized Signs have been erected and are
on display, no person shall park a vehicle in a designated accessible parking
space except when the parking is for the convenience of a person with a
disability and the vehicle displays a valid Accessible Parking Permit.

20.3

In addition to the designated accessible parking spaces provided by the
municipality, the owner or operator of a parking lot or other parking facility to
which the public have access shall provide designated accessible parking
spaces. The designated accessible parking spaces shall be in accordance
with the applicable Zoning By-law and shall include the following for each
accessible parking space:

a) parking stall markings as per Schedule "H" attached to and forming part of
this By-law.
b) an accessible parking space sign as per Schedule "M” attached to and
forming part of this By-law.

21.

22.

20.4

Designated accessible parking signage in contravention of Schedule "H" may
remain in effect if existed as of the date of the passage of this Bylaw.

20.5

In addition to any other penalty that may be imposed, any vehicle parked in
contravention of this section may be removed and impounded at the owner's
expense and all costs incurred become a lien against the motor vehicle.

20.6

In addition to the designated accessible parking spaces provided by the
municipality, persons or organizations hosting special events shall provide
designated accessible parking for people with disabilities.

20.7

Authorized Signs and parking stall markings for spaces for use by a person
with a disability shall be in the form and content as set out in Schedule "H"
attached to and forming part of this By-law.

FIRE ROUTES
21.1

Designated Fire Routes are described under Schedule "L" attached hereto
and forming part of this By-law.

21.2

Where a private roadway or parking lot, or part thereof has been established
as a fire route under the Fire Code and approved by the Chief Fire Official, it
is hereby designated as a fire route.

21.3

Each and every designated fire route shall be distinctly indicated by a sign,
which is in a form and content as prescribed by the Chief Fire Official or their
designate.

21.4

No person shall park at any time in a Fire Route.

DROP-OFF ZONES
22.1

23.

EXCEPTIONS
23.1

24.

No person shall park a vehicle in any area designated by authorized posted
signs as a drop-off zone.
The provisions in this By-law shall not apply to any vehicle owned or operated
by the Town, ambulances, military, police or fire department vehicles,
vehicles owned by other public authorities and any other vehicle while
actually engaged in performing works for the Town.

EMERGENCY PROHIBITIONS
24.1

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, the Chief of Police and/or
the Chief Fire Official and/or Chief Emergency Management Coordinator,
during an emergency or special circumstances, may declare a period of
emergency parking prohibition and by use of appropriate signs or other clear
directions may suspend parking of vehicles on any streets or portions thereof.

By-law No. 3068-19 | Page 11

25.

24.2

A vehicle parked previously to the declaration of the Chief of Police and/or
the Chief Fire Official and/or Chief Emergency Management Coordinator,
may be deemed to be parked in contravention of this section providing the
owner or operator of the vehicle has been personally notified of the
emergency parking prohibition and has been allowed a reasonable period of
time to remove the vehicle. Any person who fails or refuses to obey the
direction of the Chief of Police and/or the Chief Fire Official and/or Chief
Emergency Management Coordinator shall commit a violation of this By-law.

24.3

No person shall park a vehicle during a declared emergency parking
prohibition.

PENALTY PROVISIONS
25.1

This By-law shall be enforced by Enforcement Officer(s) who enforce the
provisions of this By-law.

25.2

In addition to any other penalty that may be imposed under this By-law,
where a vehicle is parked in violation of any provisions of this By-law an
Enforcement Officer may cause the vehicle to be taken and placed or stored
in a suitable place and all costs and charges for removing, caring and storage
thereof are a lien against the vehicle which may be enforced under the
provisions of the Repair and Storage Liens Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chapter R,
25The owner of a vehicle found parked in violation of this By-law may be
charged and convicted of an offence for which the driver of the vehicle is
subject to charge, unless, at the time of the offence, the vehicle was in the
possession of some person other than the owner without the owner's consent
and on conviction the owner is liable to the penalties prescribed for the
offence.

25.3

No liability for any such damage shall attach to the municipality or the
operator or owner of any vehicle used to move a vehicle parked or standing
in such a manner as to interfere with traffic or with the clearing of snow from
the highway as aforesaid.

25.4

The owner of a vehicle found parked in violation of this By-law may be
charged and convicted of an offence for which the driver of the vehicle has
been charged.

25.5

An Enforcement Officer who finds a vehicle parked in violation of any
provision of this By-law shall serve the owner or driver of the vehicle with a
Parking Infraction Notice indicating:

a) the license plate number of the vehicle;
b) that the vehicle was unlawfully parked;
c) the date, time and place of the alleged infraction;
d) that the owner or driver of the vehicle may attend or send payment of the "Set
Fine" to a location specified on the Notice;
e) that the failure to make payment of the "Set Fine" will result in further
enforcement action.
25.6

The issuing Enforcement Officer shall serve the Parking Infraction Notice on
the owner of the vehicle by affixing the Notice to the vehicle in a conspicuous
place at the time of the alleged offence or by delivering the Notice personally
to the person having care and control of the vehicle.

25.7

A person receiving a Parking Infraction Notice shall pay the "Set Fine"
indicated at the location on the Notice.

25.8

The terms and procedures in this section are pursuant to Part II of the
Provincial Offences Act and for clarification or particularity reference should
be made to the provisions of that Act.

25.9

Every person who violates a provision of this By-law is guilty of an offence
pursuant to the provisions of the Provincial Offences Act, R.S.O. 1990,
Chapter P. 33, as amended.

26.

That By-law Nos. 1702-04-03-89 AND 2227-98 are hereby repealed in their entirety.

27.

All By-laws inconsistent with this By-law are hereby repealed as of the date of this
By-law coming into effect.

28.

That this By-law shall come into force and effect upon receiving set fine approval
from the Regional Senior Justice Ontario Court of Justice.
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READ A FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 21st day of May,
2019.

___________________________________
Sue Paterson, Mayor
___________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk
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SCHEDULE ‘A’
ANGLE PARKING
HIGHWAY

SIDE(S)

FROM

TO

1. 6th Street

North

5th Avenue

6th Avenue

2. 5th Avenue

West

5th Street

6th Street

3. 11th Street

North

17th Avenue

19th Avenue
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SCHEDULE ‘B’
NO PARKING
HIGHWAY
1.
4th Avenue

SIDE(S)
West
West

FROM
15m North of
9th Street
5th Street

TO
TIME OR DAYS
50m South of 10th Anytime
Street
6th Street
0800-1700

2.

5th Avenue

3.

5th Avenue

East

9th Street

10th Street

Anytime

4.

6th Avenue

Both

9th Street

10th Street

Anytime

5.

6th Avenue

East

8th Street

9th Street

Anytime

6.

6th Avenue

East

7th Street

8th Street

Anytime

7.

6th Avenue

Both

5th Street

Anytime

8.

6th Avenue

Extreme North

East

33m North of 5th
Street
West

9.

6th Avenue

West

10th Street

12th Street

Anytime

10.

7th Avenue

West

13th Street

Anytime

11.

7th Avenue

East

16th Street

12.

7th Avenue

East

14th Street

640m North of
13th Street
233m North of
16th Avenue
16th Street

13.

7th Avenue

East

13th Street

14th Street

Anytime

14.

7th Avenue

Both

12th Street

13th Street

Anytime

15.

7th Avenue

Both

10th Street

12th Street

Anytime

16.

7th Avenue

Both

9th Street

10th Street

Anytime

17.

7th Avenue

Both

8th Street

9th Street

Anytime

18.

7th Avenue

Both

7th Street

8th Street

Anytime

19.

7th Avenue

West

3rd Street

5th Street

Anytime

20.

7th Avenue

East

5th Street

21.

8th Avenue

West

12th Street

450m South of 5th Anytime
Street
13th Street
Anytime

22.

8th Avenue

Both

10th Street

23.

9th Avenue

West

13th Street

75m North of 10th Anytime
Street
14th Street
Anytime

24.

9th Avenue

West

12th Street

13th Street

Anytime

25.

10th Avenue

Both

6th Street

8th Street

0800-1700

26.

10th Avenue

East

9th Street

10th Street

Anytime

27.

10th Avenue

West

28.

7th Avenue

West and East

82m South of
14th Street
2nd Street

29.

11th Avenue

Both

7th Avenue

146m South of
Anytime
14th Street
285.3 metres (936 Anytime
feet) South of 2nd
Street
2nd Street
Anytime

30.

13th Avenue

West

9th Street

10th Street

Anytime

31.

14th Avenue

West

9th Street

Anytime

32.

12th Street

North

8th Avenue

90m South of 9th
Street
9th Avenue

33.

10th Street

South

5th Avenue

6th Avenue

Anytime

34.

10th Street

Both

15th Avenue

16th Avenue

Anytime

35.

10th Street

Both

16th Avenue

17th Avenue

Anytime

36.

10th Street

North

17th Avenue

20th Avenue

Anytime

37.

10th Street

South

17th Avenue

18th Avenue

Anytime

38.

10th Street

North

20th Avenue

22nd Avenue

Anytime

Anytime

Anytime
Anytime

Anytime
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HIGHWAY

SIDE(S)

FROM

TO

TIME OR DAYS

39.

10th Street

North

22nd Avenue

24th Avenue

Anytime

40.

10th Street

South

18th Avenue

24th Avenue

Anytime

41.

9th Street

North

7th Avenue

10th Avenue

Anytime

42.

9th Street

South

12th Avenue

13th Avenue

Anytime

43.

9th Street

South

13th Avenue

14th Avenue

Anytime

44.

9th Street

South

14th Avenue

15th Avenue

Anytime

45.

9th Street

South

15th Avenue

16th Avenue

Anytime

46.

14th Avenue

East

8th Street

9th Street

Anytime

47.

17th Avenue

Both

9th Street

10th Street

Anytime

48.

20th Avenue

East

10th Street

11th Street

Anytime

49.

22nd Avenue

West

10th Street

Anytime

50.

22nd Avenue

East

51.

24th Avenue

West

95m North of
10th Street
10th Street

52.

13th Street

North

13th Avenue

53.

12th Street

North

7th Avenue

Northerly limit of
22nd Avenue
210m North of
10th Street
200m North of
10th Street
Southerly main
entrance Hanover
Heights
8th Avenue

54.

9th Street

North

16th Avenue

17th Avenue

Anytime

55.

8th Street

North

7th Avenue

10th Avenue

Anytime

56.

8th Street

South

9th Avenue

19th Avenue

Anytime

57.

7th Street

North

5th Avenue

6th Avenue

0800-1700

58.

7th Street

North

6th Avenue

7th Avenue

0800-1700

59.

6th Street

South

5th Avenue

6th Avenue

Anytime

60.

6th Street

South

6th Avenue

7th Avenue

Anytime

61.

14th Avenue

East

8th Street

9th Street

Anytime

62.

14th Avenue

West

8th Street

9th Street

Anytime

63.

16th Avenue

East

10th Street

North for 23.7m

Anytime

64.

16th Avenue

West

10th Street

11th Street

Anytime

65.

4th Avenue

West

Anytime

66.

9th Street

South

South of 9th
Street between
The Village
driveway
entrance
10th Avenue
17th Avenue

67.

16th Street

Both

7th Avenue

8th Avenue

0800-1900

68.

17th Street

Both

8th Avenue

Westerly

0800-1900

69.

8th Avenue

Both

16th Street

17th Street

0800-1900

70.

5th Avenue

West

7th Street

Anytime

71.

9th Avenue

West

8th Street

72.

6th Street

North

10th Avenue

73.

15th Avenue

East

13th Street

50m South of 7th
Street
Holy Family
School
135m West of 10th
Avenue
14th Street

74.

4th Avenue

West

10th Street

9th Street

Anytime

75.

15th Avenue

West

76.

16th Avenue

West

115m South of 181m South of
10th Street
10th Street
14th Street
45 metres North

Anytime
Anytime
8:00 am to
4:30pm-Monday to
Friday
Anytime

Anytime

Anytime
Anytime
1500-1630
Anytime
0800-1700
Monday-Friday
except Holidays
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HIGHWAY

SIDE(S)

FROM

TO

TIME OR DAYS

77.

9th Street

North

12th Avenue

13th Avenue

Anytime

78.

7th Avenue

West

3rd Street

Hospital Entrance Anytime

79.

7th Avenue

West and East

2nd Street

80.

11th Street

North

11th Avenue

285.3 metres (936 Anytime
feet) South of 2nd
Street
15th Avenue
Anytime

81.

11th Avenue

West

2nd Street

9th Street

Anytime

82.

13th Avenue

East

7th Street

9th Street

Anytime

83.

6th Street

North

10th Avenue

11th Avenue

Anytime

84.

5th Street

North

7th Avenue

85.

5th Street

North

86.

5th Street

South

15 metres East of Anytime
7th Avenue
65 metres East 10th Avenue
Anytime
of 7th Avenue
7th Avenue
10th Avenue
Anytime

87.

2nd Street

North

7th Avenue

88.

5th Avenue

West

7th Street

80 metres East of Anytime
7th Avenue
8th Street
Anytime

89.

11th Avenue

East

10th Street

11th Street

Anytime

90.

11th Street

North

10th Avenue

11th Avenue

Anytime

91.

14th Street

Both

7th Avenue

13th Avenue

Anytime

92.

9th Street

South

4th Avenue

7th Avenue

Anytime

93.

17th Avenue

East

6th Street

8th Street

Anytime

94.

13th Street

North

7th Avenue

13th Avenue

Anytime

95.

2nd Street A

South

14th Avenue

17th Avenue

Anytime

96.

17th Avenue

East

2nd Street A

6th Street

Anytime

97.

10th Avenue

East

10th Street

13th Street

Anytime

98.

12th Street

North & South

21st Avenue A 24th Avenue

Anytime

99.

21st Avenue A East

14th Street

12th Street

Anytime

100. 14th Street

North

13th Avenue

22nd Avenue

Anytime

101. 13th Street

North

13th Avenue

16th Avenue

Anytime

102. 13th Avenue

East

13th Street

14th Street

Anytime

103. 13th Avenue

West

10th Street

13th Street

Anytime

104. 16th Avenue

East

13th Street

14th Street

Anytime
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SCHEDULE ‘C’
ONE-WAY STREETS
HIGHWAY

FROM

TO

DIRECTION

1. 8th Avenue

10th Street

Public Parking Grounds

Northbound

2. 9th Avenue

10th Street

12th Street

Northbound

By-law No. 3068-19 | Page 18

SCHEDULE ‘D’
DESIGNATED PEDESTRIAN CROSSOVERS
HIGHWAY

LOCATION

1. 7th Avenue

At the intersection of 5th Street and 7th Avenue

2. 7th Avenue

At the intersection of 10th Street and 7th Avenue

3. 10th Street

At the intersection of 9th Avenue and 10th Street

4. 10th Street

At the intersection of 10th Avenue and 10th Street

5. 10th Street

At the intersection of 13th Avenue and 10th Street
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SCHEDULE ‘E’
BUS LOADING ZONES
TIME OR DAYS

North

200m South of 4th
Street
15th Avenue

TO
164m East of 5th
Avenue
30m South of 4th
Street
16th Avenue

West

8th Street

6th Street

Anytime

HIGHWAY
1. 7th Street

SIDE(S)
South

FROM
5th Avenue

2. 12th Avenue

East

3. 13th Street
4. 10th Avenue

Anytime
Anytime
Anytime
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SCHEDULE ‘F’
NO PARKING FROM HERE TO CORNER
HIGHWAY
1.
4th Avenue

SIDE(S)
East

DIRECTION
10m South from 10th Street

2.

4th Avenue

East

10m North from 9th Street

3.

7th Avenue

Both

15m South and North of 10th Street

4.

10th Street

Both

15m East and West of 7th Avenue

5.

9th Avenue

Both

15m North of 10th Street

6.

10th Street

North

15m East and West of 9th Avenue

7.

9th Avenue

East

10m South of 12th Street

8.

9th Avenue

East

10m North of 13th Street

9.

9th Avenue

East

15m South of 14th Street

10.

10th Avenue

Both

15m North and South of 14th Street

11.

14th Street

South

15m East of 10th Avenue

12.

10th Avenue

Both

10m North and South of 13th Street

13.

13th Street

Both

10m East and West of 10th Avenue

14.

10th Avenue

Both

15m North and South of 10th Street

15.

10th Street

Both

15m East and West of 10th Avenue

16.

9th Street

North

15m East and West of 10th Avenue

17.

10th Avenue

Both

15m North and South of 10th Street

18.

16th Avenue

Both

20m North of 10th Street

19.

12th Street

North

24m West of 10th Avenue

20.

12th Street

South

49 metres East of 7th Avenue

21.

11th Avenue

East

24 metres South of 9th Street

22.

9th Street

North

21 metres East of 141 Avenue
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SCHEDULE ‘G’
AREAS DESIGNATED AS MUNICIPAL PARKING LOTS
HIGHWAY
1.
10th Street South (Police Station)

BETWEEN
6th Avenue and 7th Avenue

2.

10th Avenue East (Fire Hall)

10th Street and 9th Street

3.

10th Avenue West (Investment Planning)

10th Street and 9th Street

4.

8th Avenue North Side (Legion)

10th Street and 12th Street

5.

10th Avenue East Side (Rexall)

10th Street and 11th Street

6.

10th Street South & 11th Avenue West
(Civic Centre)

10th Street and 9th Street
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SCHEDULE ‘H’
ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES
LOCATION
1.
In front of 330 10th Street
(2 hour maximum)
2.
In front of 267 10th Street
(2 hour maximum)
3.
323 10th Street
(2 hour maximum)
4.
In front of 264 10th Street
(2 hour maximum)
5.
on 11th Avenue adjacent to
Baptist Church – 383 10th
Street
6.
on 11th Avenue adjacent to
Lutheran Church – 432 11th
Avenue
7.
Holy Family School - 334 10th
Avenue
8.
9.

Hanover Heights School – 524
13th Street
Dawnview Public School – 149
12th Avenue

DESCRIPTION
16.76 metres (55 feet) west of 10th
Avenue
143.26 metres (470 feet) east of 7th
Avenue on south side of 10th Street
First parking space west of 10th
Avenue on south side of 10th Street
First space west of 8th Avenue on
north side of 10th Street
35 metres (115 feet) south of 10th
Street on east side of 11th Avenue

SPACES
1

21 metres (70 Feet) north of 9th
Street on west side of 11th Avenue

1

9th Avenue south - first parking space
at extreme north-west corner of the
school
First two parking spaces in north-west
corner of parking lot
South end of 12th Avenue - first
parking space to north-east, in the
southerly parking lot
North end of 6th Avenue north of 6th
Street (dead end) one parking space
north-west of gate opening
Directly east & north of main entrance
West of rear entrance
Directly east of main entrance

1

4

1
1
1
1

2
2

10.

John Diefenbaker Secondary
School – 181 7th Street

11.

Food Basics, Hanover Mall

12.

Dollarama, Hanover Mall

13.

Grants YIG – 832 10th Street

14.

Scotiabank – 860 10th Street

15.

Giant Tiger – 866 10th Street

16.

Dollarama – 870 10th Street

17.

Wal-Mart - 1100 10th Street

18.

Foodland – 236 10th Street

19.
20.

Bank of Montreal - 293 10th
Street
Tim Hortons - 639 10th Street

First row directly south of main
entrance
First row directly south of main
entrance
First row directly south of main
entrance
First row directly south of main
entrance
Eight spaces directly south of main
entrance
First two spaces directly east of main
entrance
One space south of 10th Street
entrance
Two spaces near main entrance

21.

McDonald’s – 800 10th Street

South-east of main entrance

1

22.

Canadian Tire - 708 10th Street

Directly south of main entrance

4

23.

LCBO – 893 10th Street

Directly at entrance

2

24.

Shoppers – 895 10th Street

Directly at entrance

2

25.

EasyHome – 1070 10 Street

North-west of Entrance

1

26.

Crabby Joe’s– 1078 10th Street

West of Entrance

1

27.

Mark’s – 1088 10th Street

East of Entrance

4

28.

Civic Centre - 341 10th Street

2

29.

P & H Centre – 269 7th Avenue

30.

Gateway Slots – 265 5th Street

First two spaces north of east
entrance, on south side of 10th Street
First four spaces west of west
entrance

th

1
2
3
2

4
2
2
8
2
1
2

4
11
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ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES
LOCATION
31. Hanover and District Hospital –
90 7th Avenue
32. Hanover Medical Clinic - 118
7th Avenue
33. Hanover Ambulance Station –
140 7th Avenue

DESCRIPTION
Four spaces facing the main entrance
Two spaces back entrance
Three spaces facing main entrance
Two within Paid Parking Lot
One space adjacent to northerly
ambulance bay

SPACES
4
6
3
2
1
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SCHEDULE ‘I’
STOP SIGNS
INTERSECTION
1.
2nd Street Crescent and 2nd Avenue

FACING TRAFFIC
Westbound on 2nd Street Crescent

2.

2nd Street and 5th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 2nd Street

3.

2nd Street and 11th Avenue

Westbound on 2nd Street

4.

2nd Avenue and 3rd Street

5.

3rd Street and 4th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound and Westbound on
2nd Avenue
Eastbound and Westbound on 3rd Street

6.

3rd Street and 6th Avenue

Northbound on 6th Avenue

7.

3rd Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound on 3rd Street

8.

3rd Street and 11th Avenue

9.

3rd Street and 12th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 11th Avenue
Westbound on 3rd Street
Eastbound on 3rd Street

10.

5th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 5th Street

11.

5th Street and 10th Avenue

Eastbound on 5th Street

12.

5th Street and 11th Avenue

Eastbound on 5th Street

13.

5th Avenue and 7th Street

Southbound on 5th Avenue

14.

6th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 6th Street

15.

6th Street and 11th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 6th Street

16.

6th Street and 13th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 13th Avenue

17.

7th Street and 3rd Avenue

Southbound on 3rd Avenue

18.

7th Street and 5th Avenue

Northbound on 5th Avenue

19.

7th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 7th Street

20.

7th Street and 11th Avenue

Westbound on 7th Street

21.

7th Street and 12th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 7th Street

22.

8th Street and 5th Avenue

Westbound on 8th Street

23.

8th Street and 6th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 8th Street

24.

8th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 8th Street

25.

8th Street and 9th Avenue

Northbound on 9th Avenue

26.

8th Street and 10th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 10th Avenue

27.

8th Street and 11th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 11th Avenue

28.

8th Street and 12th Avenue

Westbound on 8th Street

29.

9th Street and 4th Avenue

Westbound on 9th Street

30.

9th Street and 5th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 9th Street

31.

9th Street and 6th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 9th Street

32.

9th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 9th Street

33.

9th Street and 10th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 9th Street

34.

9th Street and 11th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 9th Street

35.

9th Street and 12th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 12th Avenue

36.

9th Street and 14th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 14th Avenue

37.

9th Street and 15th Avenue

Southbound on 15th Avenue

38.

9th Street and 16th Avenue

Southbound on 16th Avenue

39.

9th Street and 17th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 17th Avenue
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STOP SIGNS
INTERSECTION
40. 10th Street and 3rd Avenue

FACING TRAFFIC
Northbound on 3rd Avenue

41.

10th Street and 4th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 4th Avenue

42.

10th Street and 5th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 5th Avenue

43.

10th Street and 11th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 11th Avenue

44.

10th Street and 12th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 12th Avenue

45.

10th Street and 14th Avenue

Northbound on 14th Avenue

46.

10th Street and 15th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 15th Avenue

47.

10th Street and 16th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 16th Avenue

48.

10th Street and 17th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 17th Avenue

49.

10th Street and 18th Avenue

Northbound on 18th Avenue

50.

10th Street and 20th Avenue

Southbound on 20th Avenue

51.

10th Street and 22nd Avenue

Southbound on 22nd Avenue

52.

10th Street and 24th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 24th Avenue

53.

11th Street and 11th Avenue

Westbound on 11th Street

54.

11th Street and 12th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 11th Street

55.

11th Street and 13th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 11th Street

56.

11th Street and 16th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 11th Street

57.

11th Street and 17th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 11th Street

58.

12th Street and 6th Avenue

Westbound on 12th Street

59.

12th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 12th Street

60.

12th Street and 8th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 8th Avenue

61.

12th Street and 9th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 9th Avenue

62.

12th Street and 10th Avenue

Eastbound on 12th Street

63.

12th Street and 12th Avenue

Westbound on 12th Street

64.

12th Street and 13th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 12th Street

65.

12th Street and 16th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 12th Street

66.

13th Street and 7th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 13th Street

67.

13th Street and 8th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 8th Avenue

68.

13th Street and 9th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 9th Avenue

69.

13th Street and 11th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 11th Avenue

70.

13th Street and 12th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 12th Avenue

71.

13th Street and 16th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 13th Street

72.

14th Street and 7th Avenue

Westbound on 14th Street

73.

14th Street and 8th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 8th Avenue

74.

14th Street and 9th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 9th Avenue

75.

14th Street and 10th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 14th Street

76.

14th Street and 13th Avenue

Westbound on 14th Street

77.

16th Street and 7th Avenue

Westbound on 16th Street

78.

5th Avenue and 3rd Street

Northbound and Southbound

79.

14th Street and 17th Avenue

Northbound on 17th Avenue

80.

14th Street and 19th Avenue

Northbound on 19th Avenue

81.

14th Street and 21st Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 21st Avenue

82.

17th Street Crescent and 19th
Avenue
14th Avenue and 2nd Street

South Bound
South West Corner on 19th Avenue
Northbound and Southbound on 14th Avenue

83.
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STOP SIGNS
INTERSECTION
84. 6th Street and 15th Avenue

FACING TRAFFIC
Northbound and Southbound on 15th Avenue

85.

14th Street and 13th Avenue

Northbound on 13th Avenue

86.

11th Street and 10th Avenue

Westbound on 11th Street

87.

11th Street and 11th Avenue

Eastbound on 11th Street

88.

14th Street and 13th Avenue

Eastbound on 14th Street

89.

17th Street Crescent and 19th
Avenue
16th Street and 17th Street Crescent

Southbound on 17th Street Crescent

Northbound on 19th Avenue

94.

19th Avenue and 17th Street
Crescent
16th Avenue Crescent and 17th
Avenue
16th Avenue Crescent (north leg) and
17th Avenue
14th Street and 22nd Avenue

95.

2nd Street and 12th Avenue

Northbound on 12th Avenue

96.

2nd Street and 13th Avenue

Northbound on 13th Avenue

97.

1st Street South and 12th Avenue

98.

1st Street South and 13th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 1st Street
South
Southbound on 13th Avenue

99.

3rd Street and 12th Avenue

Northbound and Southbound on 12th Avenue

90.
91.
92.
93.

Westbound on 16th Street

Eastbound on 16th Avenue Crescent
Eastbound on 16th Avenue Crescent and
Northbound and Southbound on 17th Avenue
Southbound on 22nd Avenue

100. 8th Street and 18th Avenue

Eastbound on 8th Street

101. 6th Street and 17th Avenue

Westbound on 6th Street

102. 6th Street and 18th Avenue

Eastbound on 6th Street

103. 13th Street and 15th Avenue

105. 14th Street and 23rd Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 13th Street
and Northbound on 15th Avenue
Eastbound on 2nd Street ‘A’ and Southbound
on 17th Avenue
Southbound on 23rd Avenue

106. 15th Street and 22nd Avenue

Westbound on 15th Street

107. 16th Street and 22nd Avenue

Westbound on 16th Street

108. 2nd Street South and 12th Avenue
109. 3rd Street South and 11th Avenue

Eastbound and Westbound on 2nd Street
South
Westbound on 3rd Street South

110. 3rd Street South and 12th Avenue ‘A’

Southbound on 12th Avenue ‘A’

111. 3rd Street South and 13th Avenue

Eastbound on 3rd Street South

112. 12th Street and 22nd Avenue

Northbound on 22nd Avenue

113. 12th Street and 24th Avenue

Eastbound on 12th Street

104. 2nd Street ‘A’ and 17th Avenue
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SCHEDULE ‘J’
FOUR WAY STOPS
INTERSECTION
1. 9th Street and 13th Avenue
2. 7th Street and 5th Avenue
3. 8th Street and 10th Avenue
4. 13th Street and 13th Avenue
5. 6th Street and 12th Avenue
6. 14th Street and 16th Avenue

FACING TRAFFIC
Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound
Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound
Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound
Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound
Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound
Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

7. 14th Street and 21st Avenue ‘A’
8. 8th Street and 17th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

9. 13th Street and 16th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

10. 13th Street and 17th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

11. 13th Street and 10th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

12. 6th Street and 10th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

13. 14th Street and 10th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

14. 6th Street and 18th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

15. 1st Street and 18th Avenue

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound

Northbound, Southbound, Eastbound and Westbound
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SCHEDULE ‘K’
SPEED LIMIT REDUCTION
HIGHWAY

FROM

TO

SPEED LIMIT

1. 5th Street

7th Avenue

10th Avenue

30 km/hour
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SCHEDULE ‘L’
FIRE ROUTES
1.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as County Fair Plaza, 832 to 866 10th Street (County Road 4),
Town of Hanover.

2.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Hanover Mall, 206- 228 7th Avenue (County Road 10), Town of
Hanover.

3.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Canadian Tire, 896 10th Street (County Road 4), Town of
Hanover.

4.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as John Diefenbaker Secondary School, 181 7th Street, Town of
Hanover.

5.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Holy Family Separate School, 334 10th Avenue, Town of
Hanover.

6.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Dawnview Public School, 149 12th Avenue, Town of Hanover.

7.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Hanover Heights Public School, 524 13th Street, Town of
Hanover.

8.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as the Hanover Regional Aquatic Centre and Arena, 269 7th
Avenue, Town of Hanover.

9.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as the Hanover Civic Centre, 341 10th Street, Town of Hanover.

10.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Hanover Towers, 511 7th Avenue, Town of Hanover.

11.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Riverside Towers, 472 6th Avenue, Town of Hanover.

12.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Townview Place, 536 11th Avenue, Town of Hanover.

13.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands knows as Wal-Mart, 1100 10th Street, Town of Hanover.

14.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the building on
the lands known as the Hanover Medical Clinic, 118 7th Avenue, Town of Hanover.

15.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Hanover and District Hospital, 90 7th Avenue, Town of Hanover.

16.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as the Royal Canadian Legion Branch 130, 493 8th Avenue, Town
of Hanover.

17.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as The Village Seniors Community, 101 10th Street, Town of
Hanover.

18.

Roadways, for a width of 6.1m (20 feet) adjacent to the perimeter of the buildings on
the lands known as Hanover Care Centre, 700 19th Avenue, Town of Hanover.
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SCHEDULE ‘M’
DROP-OFF ZONES
1.

South entrance from 5th Street adjacent to the building on lands known as the
Hanover Regional Aquatic Centre and Arena, 269 7th Avenue, Town of Hanover.
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SCHEDULE ‘N’
APPROVED DISABLED PARKING SIGNAGE
1. ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGNAGE
The following (30x 45 cm) signage is the approved disabled parking signage for the
Town of Hanover.

2. SIGN INSTALLATION
a) Where a parking space is designated for use by disabled persons is designated for
parallel parking the sign shall be erected adjacent to the parking space within its
longitudinal limits. It shall be erected such that it is clear to which parking space the
designation applies, but not so as to interfere with access to and from parked
vehicles. Signs should be mounted at a height between 1.5 and 2.5 meters,
measured from the top of the curb to the bottom of the sign.
b) Where a parking space is designated for angle parking or parking perpendicular to
the roadway, signs designating the parking space for use by disabled persons shall
be erected at the front of the parking space, midway between its lateral lines. Signs
should be mounted at height of between 1.5 and 2.5 meters, measured from the top
of the curb to the bottom of the sign.
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3.

PARKING SPACE MARKINGS
In all cases signs should be augmented, but not replaced by, pavement, markings.
Pavement marking shall be the blue reflective background and outline with the white
reflective symbol and border as set out below.
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SCHEDULE ‘O’
PART 1, PROVINCIAL OFFENCES ACT
BEING a By-law to Regulate and/or Control the Parking, Stopping and Standing of Vehicles
in the Town of Hanover.
COLUMN 1
Short Form Wording

COLUMN 2
Provision Creating
or Defining Offence

1.

No parking between signs

Section 3.2

$40.00

2.

Improper angle parking

Section 5.1

$40.00

3.

Park on wrong side highway

Section 6.1

$40.00

4.

Park on or overhanging on sidewalk

Section 8.1(a)

$40.00

5.

Park within 9 metres of crosswalk/pedestrian
crossover

Section 8.1(c)

$40.00

6.

Park within 9 metres of intersection

Section 8.1(d)

$40.00

7.

Park on median strip/boulevard

Section 8.1(e)

$ 40.00

8.

Park on bridge or approaches thereto

Section 8.1(f)

$40.00

9.

Park within 3 metres of a fire hydrant

Section 8.1(g)

$70.00

10.

Interfere with removal of parked vehicle

Section 8.1(h)

$ 40.00

Section 8.1(i)

$125.00

Section 8.1(j)

$ 40.00

ITEM

11.
12.

Impede movement of emergency service
vehicle
Parking-Impair visibility of ingress/egress of
driveway

COLUMN 3
Set Fine

13.

Display vehicle for sale on highway

Section 8.1(k)

$ 40.00

14.

Wash, grease, repair vehicle on highway

Section 8.1(l)

$ 40.00

15.

Park – prohibited time – winter season

Section 8.1(o)

$40.00

16.

Parking - interfere with snow removal

Section 8.1(p)

$40.00

17.

Park vehicle on municipal property-Expired
validation plate sticker

Section 8.1(s)

$ 40.00

18.

Park in hospital entrance

Section 8.1(w)

$75.00

19.

Park in excess of time limit

Section 8.1(z)

$25.00

20.

Park to obstruct traffic

Section 8.1(cc)

$40.00

Section 9.1

$40.00

Section 10.1

$40.00

21.
22.

Park in a no parking zone/signs posted –
anytime
Park in a no parking zone/signs posted –
specified time

23.

Park heavy truck on street when prohibited

Section 11.1

$40.00

24.

Emergency no parking-Park when prohibited

Section 14.1

$75.00

Section 16.1

$40.00

Section 17.1

$60.00

Section 18.1(a)

$40.00

Section 18.1(b)

$40.00

Section 19.1(a)

$40.00

25.
26.
27.
28.
29.

Park vehicle on highway-Expired validation
plate sticker
Abandon vehicle on highway/municipal
property- Park vehicle in excess of 72 hours
Stop vehicle on or over sidewalk
Stop vehicle on/within crosswalk/pedestrian
crossover
Park on private property without
authorization

30.

Park accessible parking space without permit

Section 20.2

$350.00

31.

Park in designated fire route

Section 21.4

$75.00

32.

Park in drop-off zone

Section 22.1

$40.00

33.

Park vehicle during emergency prohibition

Section 24.3

$ 125.00
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
BY-LAW NO. 3069-19
A By-Law to enter into a Site Plan Control Agreement between:
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
-ANDHERITAGE SENIOR'S COMMUNITIES INC.
for the development under Site Plan Control and the Town's Zoning By-Law, of property
located at 414 18th Avenue/640 8th Street in the Town of Hanover, in the County of Grey.
WHEREAS the Town enacted and passed By-Law 1552-05-05-86 adopting Site Plan
Control in the designated area of the Town;
AND WHEREAS Hanover Council now desires to enter into a Site Plan Control Agreement
with Heritage Senior's Communities Inc.;
NOW THEREFORE the Municipal Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover
hereby enacts as follows:
1.

That the Mayor and CAO/Clerk are hereby authorized to execute a Site Plan Control
Agreement on behalf of the Town of Hanover.

2.

That the Site plan control agreement, its appendix, schedules and attachments as
noted, shall form a part of this By-Law.

3.

This By-Law shall come into force and effect immediately upon passing thereof.

READ A FIRST, SECOND and THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 21st day of May,
2019.

___________________________________
Susan Paterson, Mayor
___________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

-1SITE PLAN CONTROL AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT made this 21ST day of MAY, 2019.
BETWEEN:
HERITAGE SENIOR'S COMMUNITIES INC.
hereinafter called the "OWNER" of the FIRST PART
AND:
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
hereinafter called the "MUNICIPALITY" of the SECOND PART
AND:
hereinafter called the "ENCUMBRANCER" of the THIRD PART
WHEREAS the Owner is the registered owner of the lands described in Schedule "A" attached
hereto (hereinafter referred to as the "lands");
AND WHEREAS the Encumbrancer(s) (if any) hold registered security interests in the lands and all
encumbrancers of the lands are included as parties to this Agreement;
AND WHEREAS Section 41 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chapter P.13 as amended,
authorized municipalities to designate areas of Site Plan Control and to subsequently enter into
agreements with respect to the conditions of development or redevelopment of lands in areas of
Site Plan Control;
AND WHEREAS by virtue of By-law 1552-05-05-86 of the Municipality, the lands (described in
Schedule "A" attached hereto) are subject to Site Plan Control and authorizes the Municipality to
enter into this Agreement as a condition of development or redevelopment;
NOW THEREFORE, THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH THAT in consideration of the sum of
ONE DOLLAR ($1.00) of lawful money of Canada and other valuable consideration now paid by
the Municipality to the Owner and to each encumbrancer (the receipt of which is hereby
acknowledged) the Owner hereby covenants and agrees with the Municipality as follows:
1.

RECITALS
The parties acknowledge that the recitals are accurate.

2.

3.

DEFINITIONS
2.1.

Where in the Agreement the word “owner” is used, it is deemed to include the
leasee.

2.2.

Where in the Agreement the word "encumbrancer" is used, it is deemed to include
any mortgagee or other person or corporation having any secured interest or lien
against the lands.

2.3.

Reference to "Site Plans", "Site plan control agreement" or any derivative of these
terms contemplates reference to Section 41 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990,
Chapter P.13 and amendments thereto and furthermore contemplates all those
enumerated matters over which site development control relates.

SCHEDULES
All Schedules attached hereto, or if not attached hereto but referred to in this Agreement,
form part of this Agreement and are binding on the Owner and Encumbrancers(s). The
Schedules include:
“A”
“B”

Description of Lands
Site Plan

-24.

SITE PLAN WORKS AND REQUIREMENTS
The Owner covenants and agrees that it shall commence construction and provision of the
works including Site improvements, landscaping and other items as shown on the Site Plan
attached hereto as Schedule “B” as prepared by Greg Williams on April 17, 2019. The
Owner shall advise the municipality, in writing, of the date of commencement. Some
aspects may be required to be completed earlier and if so, these shall be specifically
itemized. The Owner shall be responsible for all associated off-site servicing costs. All
work is to be completed in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with all
applicable laws and requirements (including Federal, Provincial and Municipal). Reference
herein to Schedule “B” shall be interpreted to include reference to Schedule “B-1”, “B-2” etc.
inclusive, (where they apply) unless otherwise specifically stated to the contrary.
That the owner construct a privacy fence to the satisfaction of the Town;
That the surface water swale be constructed to the satisfaction of the Director of Public
Works.
Note: It is acknowledged that there may be inadvertent differences between textual
requirements and pictorial or schematic requirements shown in plans, diagrams, etc.
(whether forming part of a schedule to this Agreement or otherwise). At the complete
discretion of the Municipality the most stringent requirement(s) shall apply. If a requirement
is expressed ambiguously, in general terms only, inadequately or incompletely (whether
specified textually or shown pictorially or schematically) the Municipality may require
greater particularization and detail where in its opinion it may subsequently be required and
the Owner shall comply.

5.

AMENDMENTS
The Owner agrees that no development, redevelopment or works shall be undertaken other
than in conformity with this Agreement. Any change in operations or requirements, or any
development, redevelopment or works not expressly provided for under this Agreement
shall require amendment to this Agreement and/or a new Agreement between the Owner
and the Municipality. The Municipality may, upon application by the Owner, summarily
grant minor modifications to the requirements of this Agreement provided that they are
made in writing by the Municipality. The determination of what constitutes a "minor
modification" is in the exclusive discretion of the Municipality.

6.

MAINTENANCE OF WORKS
All works, once constructed or provided in accordance with the requirements of this
Agreement shall be properly maintained and repaired as required to the satisfaction of the
Municipality at the Owner's sole expense. Maintenance shall be deemed to include the
removal of snow from all access ramps, ingress and egress routes, driveways, parking and
loading and unloading areas, and may include from time to time the trucking away of snow
depending on conditions.

7.

EXPENSES
The Owner/Leasee agrees to pay to the Municipality the reasonable costs of the
Municipality’s Lawyer, Planner and Engineer involved in processing the Site plan control
agreement and of the Municipality’s Engineer for checking of plans and specifications and
for supervision and inspection on behalf of the Municipality and in this regard, to pay to the
Municipality the sum of $1,500.00 prior to the execution of this agreement.

8.

DEFAULT
8.1.

All works and other matters to be constructed, provided and maintained by the
Owner pursuant to this Agreement, shall be continuously provided and maintained
by the Owner at his sole risk and expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality.
If, in the opinion of the Municipality, based upon reasonable grounds, the Owner
has defaulted in the construction, provision or maintenance of any of the works or of
any other matter required under this Agreement, the Owner must rectify such
default to the satisfaction of the Municipality after notification thereof. Any matter
deemed by the Municipality to be an emergency shall be rectified forthwith. Any
other matters shall be rectified within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice unless a
greater time period is provided by the Municipality.
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9.

8.2.

If in the reasonable opinion of the Municipality, the Owner has not rectified all such
matters and things as are in default after the stipulated time period for rectification,
the Municipality may at the expense of the Owner, through it's agents, employees
and/or servants enter upon the lands and do all such matters and things required to
rectify the default. Actual cost incurred by the Municipality in carrying out such
remedial work plus fifteen (15%) per cent of such cost as a charge for overhead
(and to be construed as a liquidated amount, not as a penalty) shall be paid by the
Owner to the Municipality within thirty (30) days of the mailing of or presentation of
an invoice to the Owner.

8.3.

The Municipality may utilize any securities deposited by or on behalf of the Owner
in full or partial satisfaction of the costs associated with any default. Money owing
by the Owner may be collected by the Municipality in like manner as municipal
taxes, or pursuant to provisions of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chapter P.13 the
Municipal Act, R.S.O., 1990 Chapter M.45 or by any other means legally available
to the Municipality.

8.4.

Whenever the Municipality is authorized or permitted to enter onto the lands for
purposes of inspecting or completing works or facilities, maintaining same or
otherwise, the Municipality, it's agents, servants or employees shall not be
considered to be trespassers, nor liable in any way for acts or omissions unless
occasioned by gross negligence. It shall be the Municipality's sole discretion, acting
reasonably, to determine when it should intervene with respect to the lands and it is
hereby understood and agreed that any failure to intervene or delay in so doing
shall not be grounds to condone or excuse the Owner from any default, the
Municipality's remedies being cumulative.

LIGHTING
No flood lights or other lighting shall be permitted unless it is so constructed, located and
directed so as not to cause annoyance from direct or indirect glare to persons on any street
or on other adjoining properties (as per Site Plan).

10.

SIGNS
Notwithstanding conformity to any relevant municipal sign by-law, no new sign(s) shall be
erected on the said lands unless it is so located and has lighting content, colour and design
only of a nature as will prevent the creation of any hazard, obstruction or confusion to any
driver of a motor vehicle or to any pedestrian (as per Site Plan).

11.

FENCING & BUFFERING
Notwithstanding conformity to any relevant municipal fence/buffering by-law,
fencing/buffering is to be constructed or maintained in accordance with this agreement (as
per Site Plan) at the satisfaction of the Municipality.

12.

PARKING
The Owner shall not permit motor vehicles to be parked on any part of the lands unless all
areas for which parking is permitted are surfaced with a hot mix asphalt and/or graded
gravel surface with dust inhibitor, or another form of hard surfacing acceptable to the
Municipality. Notwithstanding this provision, parking is temporarily permitted in such areas
with the written permission of the Municipality (for example, where hot mix asphalt is
recommended for application in the spring of the following year, it may be appropriate to
permit parking to occur over winter months as a matter of convenience and to ensure
proper "packing"). The Owner shall adhere to such reasonable time constraints as the
Municipality may impose, (as per Site Plan).

13.

DRAINAGE AND GRADING
The Owner shall show on Schedule "B" all elevations and contours of the lands subject to
development at this time and the same shall be finally developed and further indicating and
setting out the disposal systems on the lands for the disposal of storm, surface and waste
water. All such plans shall be to the satisfaction of the Municipality or Saugeen Valley
Conservation Authority, if deemed applicable.
The Municipality in consultation with its engineer may require the Owner to furnish detailed
plans and/or information, depending upon the nature of the development, of the site and of
adjoining lands. The Owner agrees to furnish such plans and/or information and
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shall not permit the lands to drain otherwise than into a properly installed drainage system
and where they exist, with proper catch-basins connected to a Municipal storm sewer. The
grades and drainage facilities shall be so established so as to provide for drainage of any
surface water including roof water, only into the internal system of drainage connected to
the Municipality's storm sewers where they exist (as per Site Plan).
14.

GARBAGE DISPOSAL AND ORDERLY APPEARANCE OF PROPERTY
The Owner hereby agrees that environmentally acceptable garbage disposal shall be
arranged by the Owner for all refuse or waste materials. The Owner further agrees to
maintain the "paved areas", "landscaped areas" and "planting" and the exterior of all
buildings and structures in a neat and orderly appearance and to remove all papers, debris,
refuse and discarded material of any sort, on a continuous basis, all to the satisfaction of
the Municipality.

15.

SERVICES
It is understood and agreed that the Owner shall arrange with the Municipality, Hanover
Public Works, Westario Power, Bell Canada and any other appropriate authorities for the
installation of such services and works (sanitary, water, storm, roads, entrances, hydro,
telephone, cable, gas, etc.) as are considered necessary in accordance with the terms,
conditions and specifications required by the said authority. All fire hydrants are to be
painted RED, with the exception to the cap colour which may arrive black in colour and
shall remain black, or as required by the Hanover Fire Department. If requested, the
Owner shall provide the Municipality with a letter from the Hanover Public Works, Westario
Power, Bell Canada and any other appropriate authority where applicable stating that a
satisfactory agreement has been made with respect to the cost of installing their facilities
and outlining the financial arrangements concluded in this regard.

16.

NO NUISANCE
The Owner agrees that the performance of all works and procedures during development,
whether by the Owner, his contractor, sub-contractor, agents or employees, shall be
performed so as not to constitute an undue nuisance or disturbance to abutting or other
property owners.

17.

DAMAGE TO EXISTING PLANT
The Owner shall be responsible for any damages caused to any existing road, road
allowance or existing structure or plant located in the road allowance as a result of the
development or re-development and shall pay for any costs involved in re-location of
existing services such as hydrants, telephone poles, etc. which may be necessary by
reason of the development or re-development.

18.

RIGHT TO INSPECTION
The Owner agrees that duly authorized inspectors, servants, and agents of the Municipality
shall have the right to enter upon said lands of the Owner at all reasonable times to make
such inspections as the Municipality shall deem necessary. No entry or inspection shall be
deemed to be an acceptance of any of the works by the Municipality, nor an assumption by
the Municipality of any liability in connection therewith nor a release to the Owner from any
obligation under this Agreement.

19.

AGREEMENT TO BE COMPLIED WITH
It is understood and agreed that the issuance of a building permit by the Municipality, and
any other works undertaken by the Owner, shall be contingent upon compliance with this
Agreement in addition to all other relevant municipal by-laws, and Provincial or Federal
statutes and regulations. It is further understood and agreed that all development or works
shall be restricted to those uses permitted under the Municipality's Zoning By-law.
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ACCURACY OF PLANS AND OTHER MATTERS
All plans and diagrams attached to this Agreement as a Schedule or referred to in this
Agreement, the Owner warrants are accurate as to all dimensions and other matters shown
thereon. The Municipality reserves the right to request plans and other matters to be done
by a professional engineering or architectural firm approved by the Municipality. In the
event that any material misrepresentation, whether accidental or otherwise is found to exist
and which on reasonable grounds has prejudiced or compromised the Municipality's
position, then the Owner shall be required, at its expense, to resolve all matters. Failing
this, the Municipality may rectify the situation at the Owner's expense. For the above
reasons, the Owner acknowledges the importance of having reliable and accurate plans
and that the Municipality is relying upon them and is entering into this Agreement on that
basis.

21.

NOTICE
Any notice required or permitted to be given pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement
may be given personally or shall be mailed to each party at the address hereinafter set out.
If mailed by ordinary, prepaid first class post, it shall be deemed to have been received on
the fourth day after it is postmarked.

22.

To the Owners at:

Heritage Senior's Communities Inc.
222 2nd Avenue
Hanover Ontario
N4N 3S2

To the Municipality at:

C.A.O./Clerk
Town of Hanover
341 10th Street
Hanover, Ontario
N4N 1P5

ENFORCEABILITY OF AGREEMENT
It is understood and agreed that the Owner shall not call into question, directly or indirectly,
in any proceeding whatsoever, in law or in equity, or before any administrative tribunal, the
right of the Municipality to enter into this Agreement and to enforce each and every term,
covenant and condition herein contained, and this Agreement may be pleaded as an
estoppel against the Owner by the Municipality in any such proceeding.

23.

REGISTRATION
The Owner hereby agrees that this Agreement shall be registered on the title of the lands
described in Schedule "A" attached hereto at the expense of the Owner and shall be
binding on the heirs and assigns of the Owner. The Owner agrees to pay the Municipality's
reasonable legal costs incurred by it in connection with the preparation and registration of
this Agreement. Any minor modifications to this Agreement authorized under paragraph
four (4) shall also be binding upon the lands and any and all persons associated therewith.
It shall be the responsibility of anyone seeking particularization of minor modifications to
determine same from the Municipality.

24.

GENDER
This agreement shall be read with all changes in gender or number required by the context.

25.

ENUREMENT
This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their successors and
assigns.

-6IN WITNESS WHEREOF the corporate parties have executed this Agreement by affixing thereto
their corporate seals, as attested by the hand of their proper signing officers duly authorized in that
behalf.
AND IN WITNESS WHEREOF the natural parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals.
SIGNED, SEALED AND
DELIVERED
in the presence of:

Witness

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

HERITAGE SENIOR'S COMMUNITIES INC.

Per:

Per:

Owner - Greg Williams

Owner-

1have authority to bind the Corporation
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
Per:

Per:

Susan Paterson - Mayor

Brian Tocheri - C.A.O./Clerk

-7Schedule "A"

THE LAND

All and singular that certain parcel or tract of land and premises situate, lying and being in the
Town of Hanover, in the County of Grey and Province of Ontario, and being composed of Part Lot
7, Concession 1, Part 1 & Part of Part 2, Reference Plan 16R-7190, and also known as 414 18th
Avenue/640 8th Street, Hanover, Ontario.

-8Schedule "B"
SITE PLAN

HERITAGE SENIOR'S COMMUNITIES INC.
Part Lot 7, Concession 1
Part 1 & Part of Part 2, Reference Plan 16R-7190
414 18th Avenue/640 8th Street

PROPOSED
TOWNHOUSE
DEVELOPMENT

EXISTING TOWNHOUSE DEVELOPMENT

10.6

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HANOVER
BY-LAW NO. 3070-19

BEING a By-law to adopt the estimates of the sums required for the Town of Hanover,
Downtown Improvement Area, Upper Tier County of Grey, and for Education, for the year
and to strike the rates of taxation for same and to further provide for penalty and interest in
default of payment thereof for 2019.
WHEREAS the Municipal Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover has, in
accordance with section 290 of The Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, as amended,
considered the estimates of the Town of Hanover, and the requisition from the Upper Tier
County of Grey, and for Education, and it is necessary that the following sum be raised by
means of taxation for the year 2019.
Town of Hanover (Schedule ‘A’ attached)
Downtown Improvement Area
County of Grey
Education

$6,702,700.00
$46,200.00
$2,853,806.00
$2,461,726.00

TOTAL ESTIMATES

$12,064,432.00

AND WHEREAS section 312 of The Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, as amended,
provides that the Council of a local municipality shall, after the adoption of estimates for
the year, pass a by-law to levy a separate tax rate on the assessment in each property
class;
AND WHEREAS sections 307 and 308 of the said Act require tax rates to be established
in the same proportion to tax ratios;
AND WHEREAS certain regulations require reductions in certain tax rates for certain
classes or subclasses of property;
AND WHEREAS the following is a correct statement of the taxable assessment for the
Town of Hanover, based on the roll returned October 31, 2018.
CLASS OF ASSESSMENT
Residential
Multi-Residential
Commercial
Occupied
Unoccupied/Excess Land
Vacant Land
New Construction
Commercial
Commercial Unoccupied
Parking Lot
Industrial
Occupied
Unoccupied/Excess Land
Vacant Land
New Construction
Industrial
Pipelines
Farmlands
Managed Forests
TOTAL ASSESSMENT
Residential – Education Only
Downtown Improvement Area

ASSESSMENT
$568,374,265
$48,391,299
$91,814,533
$470,900
$1,484,900
$12,663,200
$114,900
$87,000
$7,866,205
$26,700
$250,824
$925,000
$2,541,901
$2,931,399
0
737,943,026
751,000
19,880,747

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Hanover enacts as
follows:
1. THAT there shall be levied and collected upon the assessable real property within the
Corporation of the Town of Hanover based on the assessments per the Assessment
Roll dated October 31, 2018 for taxation in the year 2019;

(a) applicable tax ratios as set by the County of Grey By-law Number 5051-19.
(b) applicable County tax rates as set by County of Grey By-law Number 5053-19.
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(c) applicable education tax rates for residential and business property classes for
2019 per Ministry of Finance Letter dated April 9, 2019.

(d) and local tax rates as set out in this by-law.
2. THAT the summary of tax rates for 2019, set out on Schedule 'B' attached hereto shall
form part of this by-law.
3. THAT the estimates be adopted and the following amounts be levied therefore in the
manner as set out hereinafter:
Town of Hanover (Schedule ‘A’ attached)
Downtown Improvement Area
County of Grey
Education

$6,702,700.00
$46,200.00
$2,853,806.00
$2,461,726.00

TOTAL ESTIMATES

$12,064,432.00

4. THAT the following local municipal tax rates are hereby adopted to be applied against
the whole of the assessment for real property in the following classes (Schedule B
attached):
TAX CLASS
Residential
Multi-Residential
New Construction
Commercial
Occupied
Unoccupied
Vacant
New Construction
Commercial
Unoccupied
Shopping Centre
Occupied
Unoccupied
Parking Lot
Industrial
Occupied
Unoccupied
Vacant
New Construction
Industrial
Large Industrial
- Occupied
- Unoccupied
Pipelines
Farmlands
Managed Forests
D.I.A.

TOWN OF HANOVER
0.00841678
0.01213024
0.00841678
0.01100023
0.00770016
0.00770016
0.01100023
0.00770016
0.01100023
0.00770016
0.01100023
0.01563996
0.01016597
0.01016597
0.01563996
0.01563996
0.01016597
0.00763274
0.00202003
0.00210420
0.00232386

5. THAT every owner shall be taxed according to the tax rates in this by-law and such tax
shall become due and payable as indicated below.
(a) That the interim taxes levied shall be shown as a reduction on the final tax levy.
(b) That the net amount of taxes levied by this by-law for residential, pipelines and
managed forests tax classes shall become due and payable on the 30th day of
August, 2019; and the balance of the final levy shall become due and payable on
the 29th day of November, 2019 and non-payment of the amount, as noted, on the
dates stated in accordance with this section shall constitute default.
(c) That the net amount of taxes levied by this by-law for capped tax classes,
commercial, industrial and multi-residential, shall become due and payable on the
30th day of August, 2019; and the balance of the final levy shall become due and
payable on the 29th day of November, 2019; and non-payment of the amount, as
noted, on the date stated in accordance with this section shall constitute default.
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6. On all taxes of the levy, which are in default on the 1st day after the due date, a
penalty of 1 1/4 percent shall be added and thereafter a penalty of 1 1/4 percent per
month will be added on the 1st day of each and every month the default continues,
until December 31st, 2019.
7. On all taxes in default on January 1st, 2019, interest shall be added at the rate of 1 1/4
percent per month for each month or fraction thereof in which the default continues.
8. Penalties and interest added in default shall become due and payable and shall be
collected as if the same had originally been imposed and formed part of such unpaid
tax levy.
9. The Tax Collector is empowered to accept part payment from time to time on account
of any taxes due.
10. The Tax Collector may mail or cause the same to be mailed or delivered to the
residence or place of business of such person indicated on the last revised
assessment roll, a written or printed notice specifying the amount of taxes payable.
11. That taxes are payable at the Town of Hanover Municipal Office, 341 10th Street,
Hanover, Ontario, N4N 1P5.
READ A FIRST, SECOND and THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 21st, day of
May, 2019.

___________________________________
Susan Paterson, Mayor

___________________________________
Brian Tocheri, CAO/Clerk

2018 AND 2019 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET ANALYSIS
Schedule A to By-Law #3070-19
at May 21, 2019
TAX LEVY ANALYSIS:

Unallocated Revenues/Taxes
General Government
Protection to Persons & Property
Transportation
Garbage Collection / Recycling
Health Services
Recreation & Culture
Planning & Development
Expenditures Less Revenues

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
(3,517,565) (3,637,900)
(120,335)
3.42%
1,376,200
1,389,700
13,500
0.98%
3,431,565
3,406,300
(25,265)
-0.74%
1,034,800
1,128,900
94,100
9.09%
244,300
239,000
(5,300)
-2.17%
316,200
250,600
(65,600)
-20.75%
2,163,100
2,396,700
233,600
10.80%
318,400
342,800
24,400
7.66%
5,367,000
5,516,100
149,100
2.78%

NET TAX LEVY

5,367,000

NET DEPARTMENT

5,516,100

149,100

2.78%

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
0
0
0
0.00% (3,517,565) (3,637,900)
(120,335)
3.42%
108,600
312,000
203,400
187.29%
1,484,800
1,701,700
216,900
14.61%
115,000
45,000
(70,000)
-60.87%
3,546,565
3,451,300
(95,265)
-2.69%
648,900
523,600
(125,300)
-19.31%
1,683,700
1,652,500
(31,200)
-1.85%
0
0
0
0.00%
244,300
239,000
(5,300)
-2.17%
0
0
0
0.00%
316,200
250,600
(65,600)
-20.75%
223,800
286,000
62,200
27.79%
2,386,900
2,682,700
295,800
12.39%
0
20,000
20,000
#DIV/0!
318,400
362,800
44,400
13.94%
1,096,300
1,186,600
90,300
8.24%
6,463,300
6,702,700
239,400
3.70%

1,096,300

1,186,600

90,300

8.24%

6,463,300

6,702,700

239,400

3.70%

NET LEVY

USER CHARGE BUDGETS (NO TAX LEVY REQUIRED)
DEPARTMENT
EXPENDITURES
Landfill (Hanover / Brockton)
Waterworks
Sanitary Sewer System
Total Expenditures

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
805,400
873,900
68,500
8.51%
1,377,300
1,498,900
121,600
8.83%
1,510,500
1,572,400
61,900
4.10%
3,693,200
3,945,200
252,000
6.82%

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
40,000
0
(40,000)
0.00%
845,400
873,900
28,500
3.37%
1,154,000
191,300
(962,700)
-83.42%
2,531,300
1,690,200
(841,100)
-33.23%
2,410,000
259,000
(2,151,000)
-89.25%
3,920,500
1,831,400
(2,089,100)
-53.29%
3,604,000
450,300
(3,153,700)
-87.51%
7,297,200
4,395,500
(2,901,700)
-39.76%

DEPARTMENT
REVENUES
Landfill (Hanover/Brockton)
Waterworks
Sanitary Sewer System
Total Revenue

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
(845,400)
(873,900)
(28,500)
3.37%
(1,377,300) (1,498,900)
(121,600)
8.83%
(1,510,500) (1,830,400)
(319,900)
21.18%
(3,733,200) (4,203,200)
(470,000)
12.59%

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
0
0
0
0.00%
(845,400)
(873,900)
(28,500)
3.37%
(1,154,000)
(191,300)
962,700
0.00% (2,531,300) (1,690,200)
841,100
-33.23%
(2,410,000)
(1,000)
2,409,000
0.00% (3,920,500) (1,831,400)
2,089,100
-53.29%
(3,564,000)
(192,300)
3,371,700
-94.60% (7,297,200) (4,395,500)
2,901,700
-39.76%

Schedule "A" to By-law #3070-19

Summary

LIBRARY AND DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA
2018 AND 2019 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET ANALYSIS
Schedule A to By-Law #3070-19
HANOVER PUBLIC LIBRARY
EXPENDITURES:
Library
Total Expenditures

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
559,200
567,200
8,000
1.43%
559,200
567,200
8,000
1.43%

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
44,300
44,300
0
100.00%
603,500
611,500
8,000
1.33%
44,300
44,300
0
100.00%
603,500
611,500
8,000
1.33%

REVENUE:

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE

Other Revenues
Previous Year (Surplus) Deficit
Total Revenue
TOTAL LEVY(FROM TOWN)

(59,000)
0
(59,000)
500,200

(56,100)
(56,100)
511,100

2,900
0
2,900
10,900

-4.92%
-4.92%
2.18%

0
0
0
44,300

0
0
0
44,300

0
0
0
0

0.00%
0.00%
0%
100.00%

(59,000)
(56,100)
2,900
-4.92%
0
0
0
0.00%
(59,000)
(56,100)
2,900
-4.92%
544,500
555,400
10,900
2.00%
LIBRARY NET TAX LEVY (FROM TOWN)

DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA
EXPENDITURES
D.I.A.
Total Expenditures

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
57,094
50,000
(7,094)
-12.43%
57,094
50,000
(7,094)
-12.43%

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
0
0
0
0.00%
57,094
50,000
(7,094)
-12.43%
0
0
0
0.00%
57,094
50,000
(7,094)
-12.43%

REVENUE

---------------- Operating Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE

---------------- Capital Budget ----------------------------- Total Operating and Capital Budget --------------2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE
2018
2019
VARIANCE % CHANGE

Other Revenues
Previous Year (Surplus) Deficit
Total Revenue
TOTAL DIA TAX LEVY

Schedule "A" to By-law #3070-19

(4,100)
(7,681)
(11,781)
45,313

(3,800)
0
(3,800)
46,200

300
7,681
7,981
887

-2.55%
-65.20%
-67.74%
1.96%

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0.00%
0.00%
0%
0.00%

(4,100)
(3,800)
(7,681)
0
(11,781)
(3,800)
45,313
46,200
DIA TAX LEVY
Taxable Assessment
2019 tax rate
2018 tax rate

300
7,681
7,981
887

-2.55%
-65.20%
-67.74%
1.96%

19,880,747
0.00232386
0.00236667

46,200

Summary

2018-2019 OPERATING and CAPITAL BUDGET ANALYSIS
NET LEVY TAX DOLLARS @ May 21, 2019
Schedule A to By-Law #3070-19

COMMITTEE
UNALLOCABLE REVENUES
GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Council
Municipal Administration
Civic Centre
140 7th Ave
Hanover Family Centre
BWR
Sub-Total
PROTECTION TO PERSONS & PROPERTY
Fire
Emergency Plan
Hanover Police Service
SVCA
Building
Canine Control
Sub-Total
TRANSPORTATION
Roadside Mtce
Roads-Equip
Roads-Admin
Roads-Workshop
Parking
Street Lighting
Saugeen Municipal Airport
SMART- Disability Transit
Sub-Total
GARBAGE COLL/RECYCLING
HEALTH SERVICES
Medical Clinic
Cemetery
Sub-Total
RECREATION & CULTURE
Parks/Outdoor Facilities
Aquatic Facility
General Administration
Programs
Facilities
Library Services
Hall/Theatre
Sub-Total
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
Planning & Development
Economic Development
Industrial Park
Sub-Total
PREV. YR SURPLUS/DEFICIT
TOTAL NET LEVY

Schedule "A" to By-law #3070-19

2018
OPERATING
BUDGET
($3,517,565)

2018
CAPITAL
BUDGET
$0

$326,400
$884,800
$180,400
($12,500)
($21,800)
$18,900
1,376,200

$0
$0
$90,000
$18,600
$0
$0
108,600

326,400
884,800
270,400
6,100
(21,800)
18,900
1,484,800

$115,000
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
115,000

580,540
3,000
2,802,025
113,100
38,500
9,400
3,546,565

$0
$444,600
$204,300
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
648,900
$0

403,600
(54,000)
917,100
67,300
60,400
113,000
45,300
131,000
1,683,700
244,300

$441,100
($98,100)
$343,500
$70,700
$66,600
$121,800
$46,200
$137,100
1,128,900
$239,000

$465,540
$3,000
$2,802,025
$113,100
$38,500
$9,400
3,431,565
$403,600
($498,600)
$712,800
$67,300
$60,400
$113,000
$45,300
$131,000
1,034,800
$244,300

2018
2019
TOTAL
OPERATING
BUDGET
BUDGET
(3,517,565) ($3,637,900)
$326,700
$925,100
$175,500
($18,200)
($17,200)
($2,200)
1,389,700
$486,100
$3,000
$2,756,800
$112,600
$38,300
$9,500
3,406,300

2019
CAPITAL
BUDGET
$0

2019
TOTAL
BUDGET
(3,637,900)

$0
$53,000
$235,000
$0
$24,000
$0
312,000

326,700
978,100
410,500
(18,200)
6,800
(2,200)
1,701,700

$0
$0
$45,000
$0
$0
$0
45,000

486,100
3,000
2,801,800
112,600
38,300
9,500
3,451,300

$0
$27,500
$496,100
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
523,600
$0

441,100
(70,600)
839,600
70,700
66,600
121,800
46,200
137,100
1,652,500
239,000

$288,900
$27,300
316,200

$0
$0
-

288,900
27,300
316,200

$192,900
$57,700
250,600

$0
$0
-

192,900
57,700
250,600

$285,700
$531,900
$232,600
$72,900
$462,600
$544,500
$32,900
2,163,100

$190,300
$0
$0
$0
$33,500
$0
$0
223,800

476,000
531,900
232,600
72,900
496,100
544,500
32,900
2,386,900

$304,200
$553,400
$241,300
$90,300
$605,900
$555,400
$46,200
2,396,700

$270,000
$0
$11,000
$0
$0
$0
$5,000
286,000

574,200
553,400
252,300
90,300
605,900
555,400
51,200
2,682,700

600
325,300
(7,500)
318,400
6,463,300

($100)
$292,500
$50,400
342,800
5,516,100

$0
$20,000
$0
20,000

(100)
312,500
50,400
362,800
6,702,700

$600
$325,300
($7,500)
318,400
5,367,000

$0
$0
$0
1,096,300

1,186,600

Net

SCHEDULE 'B' TO BYLAW #3070-19
1. DETAILS OF 2019 TAX RATE - TOWN OF HANOVER
TAX CLASS

TOWN

COUNTY

EDUCATION TOTAL TAX RATE

Residential
Multi-Residential
Commercial:
-Occupied
-Unoccupied
-Vacant
Shopping Center:
-Occupied
-Unoccupied
Parking Lot
Industrial:
-Occupied
-Unoccupied
-Vacant
Large Industrial:
-Occupied
-Unoccupied
Pipelines
Farmlands
Managed Forests
D.I.A.

0.00841678 0.00357933
0.01213024 0.00515852

0.00161000
0.00161000

0.01360611
0.01889876

0.01100023 0.00467797
0.00770016 0.00327458
0.00770016 0.00327458

0.01290000
0.01096500
0.01096500

0.02857820
0.02193974
0.02193974

0.01100023 0.00467797
0.00770016 0.00327458
0.01100023 0.00467797

0.01290000
0.01096500
0.01290000

0.02857820
0.02193974
0.02857820

0.01563996 0.00665106
0.01016597 0.00432319
0.01016597 0.00432319

0.01290000
0.01064250
0.01064250

0.03519102
0.02513166
0.02513166

0.01563996
0.01016597
0.00763274
0.00202003
0.00210420
0.00232386

0.00665106
0.00432319
0.00324591
0.00085904
0.00089483

0.01290000
0.01064250
0.01030000
0.00040250
0.00040250

0.03519102
0.02513166
0.02117865
0.00328157
0.00340153

New Construction - Commercial
New Construction -- Commercial Unoccupied

0.01100023 0.00467797
0.00770016 0.00327458

0.01030000
0.00875500

0.02597820
0.01972974

New Construction - Industrial
New Construction - Industrial Unoccupied

0.01563996 0.00665106
0.01016597 0.00432319

0.01030000
0.00849750

0.03259102
0.02298666

New Construction - Multi-Residential

0.00841678 0.00357933

0.00161000

0.01360611
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12.1
STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL
FROM

Ron Cooper, Director of Public Works

DATE

May 21, 2019,

REPORT

PW-10-19

SUBJECT

Annual Environmental Monitoring and Reporting for the Hanover/Walkerton Landfill Site

BACKGROUND
Throughout the landfill expansion dating back to 2003, environmental monitoring and related
studies have been completed by Pryde Schropp McCombe Inc. (now WSP Canada Inc.). In
2018, the Waste Management Committee discussed the need to tender for the Environmental
Monitoring Program in 2019.
DISCUSSION
A request for proposal (RFP) document for annual environmental monitoring and reporting for the
period of May 1, 2019 to April 30, 2022 was prepared and issued to four engineering firms that
provide such consulting services.
All four engineering firms submitted bids as of the closing date and time of April 30, 2019 at
2:00pm. These prices include all labour, materials and disbursements for the services required
for a three year term and are attached for council’s information.
The RFP results were discussed at the Waste Management Committee meeting on May 9. The
committee recommended that the proposal from Cobide Engineering Inc. be accepted.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
In 2018, the cost for environmental services was $140,697 plus HST. Based on 2018 and
previous pricing, the cost for environmental monitoring and reporting was estimated at $363,809
plus HST for the next 3 year term (2019, 2010 & 2021). Note that different reporting and
monitoring would be required over this period so the cost would not be exactly $140,697 each
year.
The proposal from Cobide Engineering Inc. in the amount of $238,540 plus HST represents a
potential reduction in landfill environmental monitoring and reporting costs of $125,000 over the
three year term.
Respectfully submitted,

Concurrence,

Ron Cooper
Director of Public Works

Brian Tocheri
CAO/Clerk

Environmental Monitoring and Reporting
For the Hanover/Walkerton Landfill Site
Period of May 1st, 2019 to April 30th, 2022
Item
Environmental Monitoring and
Reporting for 2019, 2020 and
2021
Provide 8 additional stormwater
1.1a sampling events for 2019, 2020
and 2021
Annual Topographical survey for
1.2
2019, 2020 and 2021
Grade Stakes to determine fill
1.3
limites for 2019, 2020 and 2021
Saugeen River Berthic
Invertebrate Sampling and
1.4
Reporting for 2019, 2020 and
2021
Floodplain and Ponds
1.5
Emergent Insects Sampling and
Reporting in 2020
Total
1.1

Stantec
Consulting
Ltd.

WSP Canada
Inc.

GM BluePlan
Engineering
Limited

Cobide
Engineering
Inc.

$288,207.00

$239,200.00

$208,770.00

$177,450.00

$ 22,824.00

$ 18,888.00

$ 12,984.00

$ 9,840.00

$ 20,981.00

$ 6,400.00

$ 5,100.00

$ 5,175.00

$ 13,659.00

$ 5,400.00

$ 3,600.00

$ 5,160.00

$ 60,157.00

$ 51,000.00

$ 15,750.00

$ 29,150.00

$ 31,782.00

$ 30,000.00

$ 12,250.00

$ 11,765.00

$437,610.00
+HST

$350,888.00
+HST

$258,454.00
+HST

$238,540.00
+HST

Hanover Downtown Improvement Area
M I N U T E S

2 0 1 9

8am

│
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Wednesday March 20, 2019

Meeting Location: 214 10th Street Boardroom
Board Members present: Jennifer Heerema, Peggy Sickel, Julie Whitehead, Linda Fidler, Taryn Hagan,
Harold Fleet, Council Rep.
C.I.P.: Kendra Mantler, Coordinator
Absent with regrets:

Ryan Enright

Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest: none noted.

[Quorum 4]

Jennifer convened and brought the meeting to order.

Minutes: Each board member received a draft copy of the February 20, 2019 Board Meeting Minutes for
their reference.
MOTION by Linda to approve the D.I.A. Board Minutes of February 20, 2019 Board Meeting Minutes as
presented, seconded by Peggy, … carried.

Discussion held to ask J.D. to assist the D.I.A. Board on an on-going basis, to which he has agreed.
MOTION by Julie to have J.D. Lyons remain in a Volunteer Capacity with the D.I.A. Board to oversee
projects such as Flowers, Banners, Flags and Christmas Lighting, along with providing assistance with the
Annual Budget, seconded by Taryn, … carried.

Note – no accounts for payment this month.

C.I.P. Update - Kendra:
Business Profile sales – three completed for the next issue of Atmosphere, and looking forward to growth in
this promo. (Note: confirmation has been received - Atmosphere will be mailed dropped to Hanover
businesses as well as residents)
Tourism Brochure: in the final stage of edits, with copies ready for April 13th & 14th Home Show. Kendra
will be in Hanover’s booth Saturday promoting the S&S Festival and making introductions to the community.
Attended the 3-day Festival & Events Ontario Conference, bringing back ideas for tourism, volunteers, digital
presence 12 months of the year, and handed out a summary of ideas gathered from the conference.
Digital Main Street – C.I.P. and the Town of Hanover will pursue this OBIAA initiative, which includes grants
for both the municipality and D.I.A. businesses.
D.I.A. Businesses: $2,500 grant is available to grow their digital footprint, beginning with a 40 question
report, followed by 8 hours of informative and educational videos. Following the videos, businesses file a
report and apply for the grant. These videos will be beneficial to all businesses, even if they do not apply for
the grant. The link will be forwarded to Cindy to send to members, with 2,000 grants available in Ontario
(on a first come basis).
Municipality: $10,000 grant is available to provide a Digital Service Squad to assist or to run group training.
Our Sights & Sounds Heritage Grant application was successful, with a grant received for the 2019 Festival.
Sights & Sounds Committee met March 5th, with new faces and new initiatives. Sponsorship is underway.
A Water Wagon will be onsite to refill bottles, and we will add the sale of branded refillable water bottles (no
vendors will sell bottled water).
Next S&S Meeting: Tues April 9th at 7pm.
EDC Update: Cultural Plan review.

Next EDC meeting: 9am this morning.
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COMMITTEE UPDATES:
 Community Improvement Partnership –Julie & Taryn (noted above)
 Sights & Sounds Committee – Julie

(noted above)

 Downtown Promotion – 1st Centerspread Promo:

(recent meeting: March 14)
(recent meeting: March 5)

Spring/Easter April 11

Ads due April 4th

The 2019 D.I.A. Member Letter was sent, outlining 2019 events, promotions, C.I.P. promotions, Festival
information, etc. Three sales reps at The Post are aware of the centerspread dates and timelines and
notified that their ‘foot is in the door’. They were also given contacts for new businesses to the downtown
core, and the area comprising businesses in the D.I.A.

Gateway Discussion:
Downtown Gateway, corner of 10th Street & 7th Avenue
There are two benches and 5 flower containers,
but the set-up is poor. As there is no immediate movement on the sale of this corner lot, Harold will bring a
rough sketch for review, suggesting a better set-up as a focal point.
Tabled to our next meeting.

Other Business:
1. Harold noted approval was confirmed to receive $6,000 in 2020 towards flowers in the Downtown Core.
2. Harold presented ’20 Ingredients of an Outstanding Downtown’ for review. It was noted that although
these items are great ideas, they relate more to a city than to our downtown. Discussions moved to the
doggy do-do issue on the main street and side streets, which continues despite free bag access.
3. Parking by employees continues to be an issue in the downtown. We will send out another reminder to
our businesses, and Harold will bring this issue back to the Town.
Tabled to our next meeting.
It was also discussed that businesses should ask their employees to leave the prime spots in the public
parking lots for use by their shoppers and clients, which will also be sent out as a friendly suggestion.
4. Harold noted that Brian Tocheri is following up with Grey County on their smoking bylaws (smoking,
vaping and cannabis) prior to updating Hanover’s bylaws.
Tabled to our next meeting.

Shop & Win unredeemed cash: 2014 $40. of $2,000 │ then to $3,000: 2015 $20. / 2016 $60. / 2017 $0! / 2018 $660.

Co-Chairs – Jennifer & Peggy

D.I.A. Committee Reps:
C.I.P. – Julie + Taryn
S&S – Julie

Motion to Adjourn: Peggy & Linda (8:40am)

Promo –

EDC – Kendra

Next Meeting Date: Wednesday May 15, 2019

12.3

Community Improvement Partnership of Hanover 2019
MINUTES

Thursday April 11, 2019

Committee Present:
Absent with Regrets:

12.4

8am │ P&H Centre, Boardroom

Sherri Hagan, Dave Hocking, Norma Graham, Taryn Hagan,
April Marshall, Julie Whitehead,
Kendra Mantler, C.I.P. Coordinator
Adam Ward
Sherri convened

Notice of Pecuniary Interest: none.

Correspondence: n/a

MOTION by Dave to adopt the March 14, 2019 C.I.P. Minutes, seconded by April, ... carried.
Financial Reports & Operations:
 March 2019 Financials for both S&S and CIP were emailed to the Committee for review on April 4th.
We will ask for financials to show columns for ‘Period, Actual, Budget’ for the all accounts.
 Accounts Receivable / Payable

S&S and C.I.P. (update). Kendra is following on a few.

Coordinators Report - Kendra:
• Atmosphere 2nd Quarter comes out in 2 weeks, with 2 Business Profiles (1 in the fall). This will go to
residents and now to businesses which should help to build participation. Offering full and 1/2 pages.
• Tourism/Visitor Guide/Map: 2,500 being printed today, handing out this weekend at the Town booth
at the Home & Garden Show. Following feedback, more will be printed as needed. Also handing out
on Wednesday May 8th at the Brochure Swap.
• Celebrate Ontario / Summer Student Grant: still waiting for replies, but hopeful.
• RT07 Grant application submitted, which will enhance Tourism. Note: we will be eligible to receive
one or the other but not both of the Celebrate Ontario or RT07 grants.
• Digital Main Street OBIAA: Application has been completed for the Municipality’s $10,000 Grant.
• Summer Radio Promo: have contacted the Dock, Blackburn and Bayshore (waiting to hear from
Bluewater). Discussion options to include a digital aspect to help with the appeal of tag sales.
Working on the addition of a leader board with participant’s logos to link to the business website or
Facebook page, featured on the radio stations websites. Perhaps add a page to Hanover’s website?
Hoping to have ads will start in mid-June. Discussion on Staycation packages, approaching last
year’s participants. Couples Getaway room options discussed.
• Sponsorships: working on previous Bronze sponsors.
Levels as follows: Platinum $5,000; Gold $1,000; Silver $500; Bronze $300; Friends $100.
• New events: BBQ Rib Cook-Off. Discussion on Public Health requirements, locations, to hold on
Caesar Sunday, celebrity judges and one to vend food for Caesar Sunday. Cooking starts 7-8am.
• Helicopter Rides are good to go, but not able to bring a plane downtown. Costs and details discussed,
ticket sales on-line, book times, perhaps arrange a shuttle, help promote the airport.
• Sights & Sounds Committee met on April 9th. Discussion on entertainment options. Lots of great
additions to the festival. Events for every age group, financially successful events noted.
Sub-Committees are being organized. Discussing volunteer groups confirmed and to be approached.
Many events are booked with their own manpower.
• Kidz Zone: note in advertising to state ‘rain or shine event’ and locations plus ways to notify.
Arena on hold. Attractions for all ages, discussion on pricing.
• Additional local musical buskers were discussed, their locations, and who to contact.
• Soap Box: the first registration has been received!
New Business:
- Bar Toppers: originally purchased through Homecoming, they need to be replaced. Discussion on
making new ones, cost, storage, who will pay for them, who will rent them out.
MOTION to Adjourn: Taryn and Julie
Next Meeting: Thursday May 9, 2019
2019 Dates: 15th Annual S&S Festival

(9:15am)

8am

P&H Centre │ Boardroom

Thursday July 25th to Sunday July 28th

(reserved  )

4th Saturday in July

12.5
DRAFT

Hanover Library Board Meeting Minutes
April 25th 2019, at 6 p.m.
Winkler Room, Hanover Civic Centre

Members:
(X = present, A = absent, R = regrets, L = Expected late)
X Andrew Edgcumbe
X Edwin Haas
X Susan Sakal
X Steve Fitzsimmons
R Dianne Joyce
X Mike Schierz
X Francis-Joseph Gross
X Kathi Maskell
X Agnes Rivers-Moore (CEO)
X Emma Shaw (staff)

1.

Kathi Maskell called the meeting to order at 6:10 p.m.

2.

Agenda:
Moved by Steve Fitzsimmons and seconded by Edwin Haas that the agenda be
accepted as circulated.
CARRIED

3.

Declaration of conflict of interest - None.

4.

Board Education:
SOLS 50%budget cut – Actions were discussed including: a letter to the editor of The
Post; public petition; approach to Hanover council requesting support. Francis-Joseph
Gross to draft a letter to use for several communications. Send as ‘letter to the editor’ to
The Post and Owen Sound Hub.

5.
A.
B.
C.

Consent Agenda:
Librarian’s report - March- April 2019
Receive and File
Statistical Report - March 2019
Receive and File
Accounts Payable - March 2019
For Approval
Moved by Mike Schierz and seconded by Susan Sakal THAT Items A to C on the
consent agenda be adopted.
CARRIED

6.

Minutes of Meeting - March 28th 2019
Moved by Andrew Edgcumbe and seconded by Steve Fitzsimmons THAT the minutes
be approved with amendments.
CARRIED

7.

Matters Arising from the minutes - None

8.

Correspondence
Dianne Joyce’s letter of resignation Moved by Francis-Joseph Gross and seconded by Susan Sakal THAT the letter of
resignation from Dianne Joyce be accepted with regrets.
CARRIED

9.

Report from the Chair Kathi Maskell would like the board to learn about the process behind accreditation later

this year. To be added to the Work Plan for September.
10.

Council Feedback Council members have contacted Steve Fitzsimmons about the SOLS budget cuts,
showing their concern and support with the current situation.

11.

Committee Reports:
Personnel Committee
Staff and Volunteer appreciation Moved by Susan Sakal and seconded by Francis-Joseph Gross THAT the Board
approve the Personnel Committee’s recommendation to give each library staff member
a gift certificate for $25 and a thank you card. In addition, there will be a come and go
appreciation event for all the library volunteers.
CARRIED
2018 Annual Report Moved by Susan Sakal and seconded by Steve Fitzsimmons THAT board accept the
2018 Annual Report with amendments.
CARRIED
Evaluation of CEO –
The Personnel Committee will be meeting in June to discuss revising the CEO
evaluation form.
Policy and Procedure Committee
Bylaw revision is almost complete. Waiting on Integrity Commissioner training in case
changes are needed from that. Circulate final draft to the board , for approval at the
June board meeting.
Finance Committee
The Finance reports were reviewed.
Moved by Mike Schierz and seconded by Francis-Joseph Gross THAT the Financial
Report and Balance sheet for the month of March 2019 be received for information.
CARRIED

12.

Other Business
Susan Sakal left the meeting at 7:16 p.m.
New committee and shuffle Moved by Andrew Edgcumbe and seconded by Steve Fitzsimmons THAT the Hanover
Public Library Board establish a Fund Raising Committee.
CARRIED
Susan Sakal returned to the meeting at 7:23 p. m.
The members of each committee will be:
Policy and Procedure Committee - Francis-Joseph Gross, as chair, Edwin Haas,
Andrew Edgcumbe and Kathi Maskell.
Personnel Committee - Susan Sakal, as chair, Steve Fitzsimmons and Kathi Maskell.
Finance Committee - Mike Schierz, as chair, Edwin Haas and Francis-Joseph Gross

Fundraising Committee - Steve Fitzsimmons, Mike Schierz, Susan Sakal and Andrew
Edgcumbe. Chair to be elected and terms of reference drafted at the first meeting.
Agnes Rivers-Moore to provide example fundraising committee terms of reference.
Review regular meeting reports, content and format – one large pdf board package is
preferred, except Andrew Edgcumbe needs agenda with links or attachments.
Date of summer meeting – The summer board meeting will be Thursday, July 25th
2019.
10.

Review of Board Work Plan
Kathi Maskell expressed an interest in hearing from the library staff as part of the Board
Education. To be added to the Work Plan. Agnes Rivers-Moore to ask staff and set
dates

12.

Adjournment
Next scheduled meeting is: Thursday, May 23rd 2019 at 6:00 p.m. in the Winkler Room
of the Hanover Civic Centre.
Moved by Mike Schierz THAT this meeting be adjourned at 7:42 p.m.

Signed:
Secretary ________________________

Chair ___________________________

CARRIED

MESSAGE FROM THE
LIBRARY BOARD

2018 BOARD MEMBERS

The Hanover Public Library has been in
existence in our community since 1906.
Over the years, the library has experienced
many changes. In fact, there are a lot of new
faces on the board for the new term and
there is a renewed enthusiasm for the
library. The new board especially looks
forward to implementing the Strategic Plan
that was recently published.
We would like to take this opportunity to
thank our many loyal patrons, volunteers
and community supporters, as well as our
capable staff. The library is a safe place
where people can feel comfortable and
welcomed each and every day.
In closing, if you do not have a library
card in your wallet yet, what are you waiting
for? Consider these words by author Libba
Bray:
“The library card is a passport to wonders
and miracles, glimpses into other lives,
religions, experiences, the hopes and
dreams and strivings of ALL human
beings, and it is this passport that opens
our eyes and hearts to the world beyond
our front doors, that is one of our best
hopes against tyranny, xenophobia,
hopelessness, despair, anarchy, and
ignorance.”
2019 Board members: Andrew Edgcumbe,
Steve Fitzsimmons, Francis-Joseph Gross,
Edwin Haas, Kathi Maskell, Susan Sakal,
Mike Schierz.

Brenda Booth, Agnes Rivers-Moore, Debera Flynn,
Francis-Joseph Gross, Edwin Haas, Susan Sakal,
Terry Leis, Jenn Hillier, Steve Fitzsimmons

Hot Happenings in 2018:
 New Children’s Librarian, Stephanie
Perkins
 Hanging Basket Sale fundraiser – best
ever!
 New 5-year Strategic Plan
 First “Grey County Reads” contest
 Legalizing Cannabis - public info event
 Coding 4 Kids summer workshops
 Author events with Debra Komar &
Jennifer Robson
 Regular drop-in computer help by William
 2nd Art Gala fundraiser – a huge success!
 2nd Guest for a night at Hanover Raceway

You can Help!
Donate, or leave a bequest
to Hanover Public Library.
We are a registered charity.

Mission:
To be a welcoming, upbeat community hub,
embracing the quality of life for all,
empowering everyone to reach their
potential through access to resources and
activities for relaxation and lifelong learning.

Financial Highlights

In 2018 at the Library ...

Where The Money Came From
Town of Hanover (taxes)
Fees & fundraising
Reserve funds
Donations & bequests
Grants

$ 544,500
$ 36,078
$
0
$ 15,047
$ 28,908

76,140 Facebook,
1,546 Twitter

6,745
Online Items
Borrowed

19% Increase ~
5,691 in 2017

27,246

Where The Money Goes
Building lease (to Town)
Consumables & Admin
Service Development
Saving/donation to Reserve
Materials & assets
Direct user service

Social Media
reach:

$ 117,850
$ 154,511
$
8,302
$ 26,182
$ 60,737
$ 262,750

5,358

Website
Views

People came to
Programmes

25,763
in 2017

6,201 in
2017

69,988
Impact:
Comment from a student: Before, I used
the library a lot for the computer and a
meeting place. I now use the library twice a
week for a school program. We usually use
the Knechtel Room which is a nice, serene
place to focus on school work and of course
the staff is very helpful.
A school tutor told us: This has to be
her favourite library of all the ones she
travels between. She loves the varied
programmes we run, the diversity of
people that visit, the "reading" spaces
that we have created and the "awesome
decoration."

How you can help – Donate!

2,815
Library
Open Hours

Items
Borrowed
77,469
in 2017

2,820 in 2017

Funding and costs:
Town grant to supply library services:
Federal and Provincial grants:
Library generated fees & fundraising:
Total revenues:
Local tax cost per resident

$
$
$
$

2017
524,400
35,546
43,032
602,978
$ 68.21

$
$
$
$

2018
544,500
28,908
51,125
624,532
$ 70.82

+
+
+

Change
3.8 %
18.7 %
27.2 %
3.6 %

+ $2.61 / 3.8 %

Notes:
Fewer grants were available. Local tax funding increased by more than inflation.
Wage budget increase because of minimum wage increase was offset due to staff departures.
The Art Gala fundraiser raised $8,100; a 77% increase over the 2016 gala.

DECORATION DAY
HANOVER CEMETERY
681'$<-81(230
Please bring a lawn chair. In the event of rain service will
be held in the Chapel.
Everyone welcome.

38%/,&:25.6
341 10th St. Hanover, ON N4N 1P5
519.364.2780 | hanover.ca
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Subject: Mulmur Library Motion
Hello,
The Township of Mulmur passed the following motion at the Council meeting on May 1, 2019.
Motion #83-19 Boxem-Cufaro: WHEREAS, Mulmur Township Council considers
public libraries as a vital service to community well-being especially in a rural
community such as ours;
AND WHEREAS, public libraries offer much needed support to the very vulnerable
members of our society - the children, the seniors, recent immigrants, and the lowincome citizens;
AND WHEREAS, the Provincial Government has cut the budget for Ontario Library
Services by 50%;
AND WHEREAS, this funding will end the Interlibrary Loan Service to libraries;
AND WHEREAS, due to limited resources available to some libraries, the Interlibrary
Loan Service is of great importance to its patrons;
NOW THEREFORE, Mulmur Township Council respectfully requests that the Province
reconsiders the 50% budget cut for Ontario Library Services and finds some other
means to fund necessary library services.
Carried.
Have a nice day,
Adam Hicks | Administrative Assistant
Township of Mulmur | 758070 2nd Line East | Mulmur, Ontario L9V 0G8
Phone 705-466-3341 ext. 234 | Fax 705-466-2922 | ahicks@mulmur.ca

This message (including attachments, if any) is intended to be confidential and solely for the addressee. If you received this e-mail in error,
please delete it and advise me immediately. E-mail transmission cannot be guaranteed to be secure or error-free and the sender does not
accept liability for errors or omissions.

